Transition to Practice in Radiation Oncology: Mind the Gap

By

Dr. Lara R. Best, MD, FRCPC

Thesis

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for

the Degree of Master of Education (Curriculum Studies)

Acadia University

Fall Graduation 2018

Supervisors: Dr. Joan Sargeant, Dalhousie University

Dr. René J. L. Murphy, Acadia University

© by Lara R. Best, 2018

This thesis by Dr. Lara R. Best was defended successfully in an oral examination on August 20th, 2018.

The examining committee for the thesis was:

Chair:	Dr. Robert Raeside, Acadia University
Director:	Dr. John Chiney Yallop, Acadia University
External Reader:	Dr. Laura McEwan, Queen's University
Internal Reader:	Dr. Anna MacLeod, Dalhousie University
Supervisors:	Dr. Joan Sargeant, Dalhousie University

Dr. René J. L. Murphy, Acadia University

This thesis is accepted in its present form by the Division of Research and Graduate Studies as satisfying the thesis requirements for the degree Master of Education (Curriculum Studies). I, Dr. Lara R. Best, grant permission to the University Librarian at Acadia University to archive, preserve, reproduce, loan or distribute copies of my thesis in microform, paper, or electronic formats on a non-profit basis. I undertake to submit my thesis, through my University, to Library and Archives Canada and to allow them to archive, preserve, reproduce, convert into any format, and to make available in print or online to the public for non-profit purposes. I, however, retain the copyright in my thesis



Dr. Lara R. Best, Author



Dr. Joan Sargeant, Supervisor

Date: August 20th, 2018

Acknowledgements

Statistical consulting services: None used

Transcribing: Transcription of all focus groups was completed by Mary A. Martell, through Dalhousie University, in Halifax, Nova Scotia. All transcripts were double checked by the primary investigator.

Steering committee: A steering committee that included national leaders in medical education within the specialty of Radiation Oncology was struck at the beginning of this project. Their input included aid in providing contacts to facilitate the focus groups occurring at the Canadian Association of Radiation Oncology (CARO) annual scientific meeting, and the Annual National Canadian Preparatory Course in Clinical and Radiation Oncology. They also provided input and guidance in the creation and amendment of the focus group questions, the initial analysis of the focus group data, and provided feedback on the initial thesis manuscript. However, the writing of the manuscript was completed by the primary investigator.

The members of the steering committee are:

Dr. Catherine de Metz, MD, FRCPC

Program Director, Radiation Oncology Residency Training Program, Kingston, ON

Associate Professor, Queen's University

Member of the Radiation Oncology specialty committee Competence By Design working group (Royal College)

Dr. Paris-Ann Ingledew, MD, FRCPC, MHPE

Department of Radiation Oncology, BC Cancer, Vancouver, BC Clinical Associate Professor, University of British Columbia

Dr. Shaun K. Loewen, PhD, MD, FRCPC, DABR

Division of Radiation Oncology, Tom Baker Cancer Centre, Calgary, AB

Dr. Arpita Sengupta, MD, PhD

Resident, Department of Radiation Oncology, Nova Scotia Cancer Centre, Halifax, NS

Dr. Theresa Trotter, BSc, MSc, MD, FRCPC

Honorary Clinical Associate Professor, University of Calgary

Past chair, Royal College specialty committee in Radiation Oncology and Competence by Design working group

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to the teachers both formal and informal that have supported and pushed me to be a better teacher, doctor and person. I also want to dedicate this to my family, who have been unerringly supportive of my pursuit of a Masters of Education. Thank-you to my fellow Masters of Education classmates, and teachers, whose insights and dialogue provided many transformative moments. Finally, I would not be here without the guidance and probing questions provided by my supervisors Dr. R. J. L. Murphy and Dr. J. Sargeant.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Statement of the problem	1
1.2 Perceptions of the Transition to Practice	4
1.3 Purpose of the Study	7
1.4 Significance of the Study	7
1.6 Reasoning for Examining TtP in Radiation Oncology	9
1.5 Summary	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
2.1 General Transition to Practice Studies	
2.2 Studies Addressing the Leadership domain in TtP	
2.3 Studies Suggesting Methods to Improve the TtP	
2.4 Transition to Practice Curricula	
2.5 Radiation Oncology and TtP	
2.6 Summary	
2.7 Research Aims	
Chapter 3: Method & Methodology	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Research Population: Selection Criteria	40

3.3 Focus Group Question Development	41
3.4 Focus Group Process	42
3.5 Data Analysis	44
3.6 Role of the Investigator and Methods to Ensure Trustworthiness	46
3.7 Ethical Considerations	48
Chapter 4: Results	50
4.1 Participants	50
4.2 Current Transition to Practice Curricula	51
4.3 Perceived Gaps in the Transition to Practice	53
4.3.1 Leader	53
4.3.2 Medical Expert	57
4.3.3 Collaborator	59
4.3.4 Communicator	60
4.3.5 Professional	60
4.3.6 Scholar	60
4.3.7 Mentorship	61
4.3.8 Summary	61
4.4 Suggestions to Address the Gaps during the TtP	63
4.4.1 Leader	64
4.4.2 Medical Expert	66

4.4.3 Scholar	68
4.4.4 Collaborator	69
4.4.5 Other	69
4.4.6 Teaching strategies	72
4.4.7 Summary	73
4.5 Emergent Data	78
4.5.1 Roadblocks to the Implementation of TtP Curricula	78
4.5.2 The Culture of Medicine	82
4.5.3 National Collaboration	85
4.6 Summary	85
Chapter 5: Discussion	87
5.1 Inter-Group Comparison	87
5.2 Understanding the Study Results in Comparison to the Literature	91
5.2.1 The Most Significant Finding	93
5.3 Socio-Materiality and the Impact on the TtP	97
5.3.1 Socio-Materiality	97
5.3.2 Socio-Materiality: a lens to examine perceived gaps in the radiation thera	ару
planning process	99
5.4 Results Not Explained by Socio-Materiality	105
5.5 Suggestions to Address Perceived Gaps in the TtP Process	108

5.6 Roadblocks to TtP Curricula – The Way Forward	111
5.7 The Culture of Medicine	113
5.8 Limitations of the Study	116
Chapter 6: Conclusions	118
References	120
Appendix A: CanMEDS core competencies	130
Appendix B: ACGME: 6 core competencies	133
Appendix C: Participant Information Sheet – Focus Groups	135
Appendix D: Study Consent Form	141
Appendix E: TtP Curricular Details	143
Appendix F: Perceived gaps in TtP	147
Appendix G: Suggestions to fill gaps in TtP	165
Appendix H: Emergent Data	186

List of Tables

Table 1: Summary of reported deficiencies in CanMEDS core competencies	13
Table 2: Reported deficiencies in CanMEDS core competencies	15
Table 3: Current Transition to Practice Curricula	52
Table 4: Most discussed perceived gaps in the TtP	62
Table 5: Most discussed suggestions to address the perceived gaps in the TtP	75

List of Figures

Figure	1: Radiation	Therapy	Planning	Process 9	6
Inguit	I. Ruulullon	incrupy	1 mining		v

List of Appendices

Appendix A: CanMEDS core competencies	
Appendix B: ACGME: 6 core competencies	
Appendix C: Participant Information Sheet – Focus Groups	135
Appendix D: Study Consent Form	141
Appendix E: TtP Curricular Details	
Appendix F: Perceived gaps in TtP	147
Appendix G: Suggestions to fill gaps in TtP	
Appendix H: Emergent Data	

Abstract

Introduction: Physicians entering independent practice often express apprehension in managing the non-clinical aspects of practice. Thus, this study examined the perceived preparedness for independent practice of Radiation Oncology (RO) residents and attempted to determine how any deficiencies could be addressed.

Methods: Focus groups with senior RO residents, RO fellows, new ROs, RO residency program directors and the RO specialty committee Competence by Design (CBD) working group were conducted. Data was coded using the Canadian Medical Education Directives for Specialists (CanMEDS) competencies, and thematic analysis.

Results: Commonly reported gaps in the TtP for ROs were lack of experience with: practice management, understanding the health care system, financial planning, effective collaboration and communication, career planning, and the totality of the radiation therapy planning process. Suggestions to address these challenges included use of: mentorship, educational resources, courses, simulation, improved graded responsibility, resident longitudinal clinics and curricular blocks for radiation therapy planning. Emergent data demonstrated that there are perceived roadblocks to the implementation of TtP curricula.

Conclusions: There are gaps in the TtP for RO residents, with opportunities for enrichment with CBD. A socio-materiality perspective suggests that the limitations of the radiotherapy planning software may be causing exclusion of residents at social, cognitive and pedagogical levels. The data is informative for the development of a TtP curricula.

Abbreviations

AAMC: Association of American Medical Colleges

ACGME: Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education, 6 competency domains (2016):

ACMPE: American College of Medical Practice Executives

ACS: American College of Surgery

AFC: Area of Focused Competence

AFP: Area of Focused Competence

AMAC: Australian Medical Assessment Collaboration

AMEE: Association for Medical Education in Europe

ARRO: Association of Residents in Radiation Oncology

ASTRO: American Society for Radiation Oncology

CanMEDS: Canadian Medical Education Directives for Specialists

CaRMS: Canadian Residency Matching Service

CBD: Competence by Design

CBME: Competency Based Medical Education

CIHR: Canadian Institutes of Health Research

CMA: Canadian Medical Association

CME: Continuing Medical Education

CPD: Continuing Professional Development

CILPs: Critically Intensive Learning Periods

CT scan: Computed Tomography scan

CV: Curriculum Vitae

EPAs: Entrustable Professional Activities

ESTRO: European Society for Radiotherapy & Oncology

GP: General Practitioner (family doctor)

MGMA: Medical Group Management Association (USA)

NHS: National Health Service

NSERC: Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada

PBSGL: Practice-Based Small Group Learning

PGME: Post-Graduate Medical Education

PGY: Post-Graduate Year

Refers to the post-graduate year of study of residents. Ie: a resident in their first year of post-graduate training is considered PGY1

PMC: Practice Management Curriculum

Royal College: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada

REB: Research Ethics Board

RLC: Resident Longitudinal Clinic

RO: Radiation Oncology

ROs: Radiation Oncologists

- SSHRC: Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada
- TCPS: Tri-Council Policy Statement: ethical conduct for research involving humans
- TPS: Treatment Planning System
- XRT: radiation therapy / radiotherapy

Definitions

CaRMS: Organization that is responsible for matching medical students to residency training programs in Canada.

Contouring (in Radiation therapy treatment planning): the process of defining the volume to be treated with radiation therapy, and outlining the normal anatomical structures for which one wants to limit the radiation dose received.

EPAs: Entrustable professional activities

Within the context of CBME, an EPA is a 'task in the clinical setting that a supervisor can delegate to a resident who has demonstrated sufficient competence. Typically, an EPA integrates multiple milestones. EPAs are used for overall assessment. They are tasks that must be accomplished, whereas milestones refer to an individual's abilities.' (Royal College 2017c).

Exploratory sequential mixed methods research: The research begins with a qualitative phase to explore the views of participants. The data is analyzed and then informs the development of the second quantitative phase. Often, the qualitative phase is used to build an instrument (i.e.: survey) that is then used in the quantitative phase. (Creswell 2014).

Fellow: Medical doctor who has successfully completed their specialty certification, who is pursuing additional focused specialized post-residency training, prior to working as an independent specialist.

Focus group: A qualitative method for gathering data, in which several participants discuss topics selected and facilitated by a researcher (Morgan 1984).

Locum: A physician who has successfully completed residency training, and is working as an independent practitioner, usually on a short-term, contractual basis.

Members of the Royal College RO specialty committee CBD working group: group of RO physicians who work with the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada to devise the curriculum for CBD. Members include both RO residency program directors, and experts in the field of medical education, who are also ROs.

Milestone: Within the context of CBME, a milestone is an observable marker of someone's ability along a developmental continuum. Milestones are used for planning and teaching (Royal College 2017c).

Mentorship (in medicine): 'the process whereby an experienced, highly regarded, empathetic person (the mentor), guides another individual (the mentee) in the development and re-examination of their own ideas, learning, and personal and professional development' (SCOPME, 1998).

Mixed methods research: Involves the combination of elements from both qualitative and quantitative research approaches. This includes the use of viewpoints, data collection and analysis and inference techniques. It is employed to increase the breadth and depth of understanding and corroboration (Johnson 2007).

Reliability: The extent to which the scores produced by a particular measurement procedure or instrument are consistent and reproducible (Artino 2014).

xix

Validity: The degree to which an instrument measures what it purports to measure

(McKenzie 1999).

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Statement of the problem

The process of becoming an independent medical specialist is long, incorporating multiple years of medical school followed by 2 - 7 further years of specialty or residency training, culminating in a certification examination. The process should lead one to be able to function independently in all aspects of one's specialty. During this process, there are times of significant stress due to change in responsibility, which correspond to the transition from medical school into residency, and from residency into independent practice (Shiner 2013, Teunissen 2011, Westerman 2010, Yardley 2018). These transitions also tend to occur over both time and geography which adds further stress (Westerman 2010).

Given the increasing complexity of patient care requiring more collaboration and communication amongst health care providers and the need to provide cost effective care, there is concern not just about new specialists' clinical acumen, but also other competencies which were previously not included in residency specialty training. In Canada, the Royal College is the professional body which sets the standards for resident education and assessment of competence and certification within each specialty. The Royal College developed, through a public consultation process the Canadian Medical Education Directives for Specialists (CanMEDS) core competencies to help address the breadth of competencies a successful medical specialist must demonstrate, with the most recent revision being released in 2015 (Frank 2015, Appendix A). The six different competency domains outside of the Medical Expert core competency (clinical skill set), include Communicator, Collaborator, Leader, Health Advocate, Scholar and Professional (Appendix A). Since its introduction, other countries around the world have either adopted CanMEDS or formulated similar frameworks that incorporate non-clinical skills as competencies that specialist physicians must acquire, and hence are incorporated into their post-graduate medical programs (AGCME 2016, AMAC 2012, Hamad Al Bu Ali 2013, NHS 2010).

The Royal College has since developed milestones for the CanMEDS core competencies, which are applicable to all specialties (Frank 2015). A milestone is 'an observable marker of someone's ability along a developmental continuum... they are used for planning and teaching' (Royal College 2017c). The introduction of milestones corresponds to a movement towards Competency Based Medical Education (CBME) which in the Canadian context is called Competence by Design (CBD). This framework represents a movement from the previous time-based residency curriculum to one that requires demonstration of competence to progress. A new concept in CBD is the introduction of phases of training. The CBD phases include entry to residency, transition to discipline, foundations of discipline, core discipline and transition to practice (Royal College 2015a). Each phase requires demonstration of competency of the phase specific entrustable professional activities (EPAs) prior to moving to the next phase. An EPA is a task in the clinical setting that a supervisor can delegate to a resident who has demonstrated sufficient competence. Typically, an EPA integrates multiple milestones. They are tasks that must be accomplished, whereas milestones refer to an individual's abilities (Royal College 2017c).

2

In addition to demonstrating competence of all EPAs for a specific discipline, candidates must also pass a certification examination in order to receive a license to practice in their specialty. One of the most notable changes with CBD and the associated milestone/EPA framework is the addition of the transition to practice (TtP) phase. This has not historically been incorporated in Canadian residency training, and is in its infancy in other locales.

The TtP phase has the potential to improve the transition of senior residents to independent specialists, which is currently fraught with feelings of fear of failure and/or incompetence, isolation and emotive stress (Brown 2009, Dijkstra 2015, Griffin 2010, Teunissen 2011, Westerman 2010, Yardley 2018). These stressors, among others, have led to a high level of burnout, approximately 10% in the first 3 years of practice, with another 20% demonstrating symptoms of burnout in at least one domain (Westerman 2013a). This raises a significant concern as burnout can negatively impact not just the new specialist, but also the quality of patient care administered (Westerman 2013a). Thus, there is a need to improve the TtP phase, however how to do this remains unclear.

Since TtP is a new phase of residency training being introduced with the CBD framework, there is currently limited literature available to guide what skills or competencies should be included. There is even less information regarding how a TtP curriculum should be integrated into the current curricula, how it should be evaluated, or how much time should be devoted to it. Thus, the first step to creating an effective TtP curriculum is understanding what skills/competencies are needed for a new specialist to feel optimally prepared for independent practice, but are currently not adequately

developed by the end of residency. This would then be followed by steps to develop and evaluate curricula to include in this phase of training.

1.2 Perceptions of the Transition to Practice

The word 'preparedness' is often used to describe the result of transitioning from resident to independent specialist, however it is not well defined. A qualitative interpretive study from Scotland using semi-structured interviews of senior general practitioner (GP) trainees and new to practice GPs was used to examine this construct (Wiener-Ogilvie 2014). They found that both confidence and adaptability were used to help define preparedness. Specifically, preparedness incorporates the 'ability to carry out particular skills and adapt to future work' (Wiener-Ogilvie 2014). Many factors that were found to affect adaptability and confidence could be combined under the concept of an inclusive and supportive working environment. These included: the ability to manage workload; teaching effective consultation skills; availability of diverse, complex patients; positive feedback from the trainer and other doctors; trainer providing balance between support and challenge, and respect for trainees values; trainer-trainee relationship based on honesty, trust and conflict management; appropriate supervision allowing independent work with guided decision making; support with errors; inclusive training environments; active involvement in business and management; and exposure to various approaches to clinical management (Wiener-Ogilvie 2014).

Westerman (2010) used a qualitative grounded theory approach involving interviews of new to practice obstetrician/gynecologists to develop a framework to better understand the TtP. Their conceptual framework involved three themes (novel disruptive elements, perceptions and coping, and personal development and outcome). These themes were further categorized by 3 recurring categories (task, role, context). Participants reiterated the challenges of the TtP including the significant difference in the level of work and responsibility between a senior resident and new specialist. These were associated with feelings of both achievement for completing their training, and apprehension especially around non-clinical skills which respondents reported were often not included in residency training. These non-clinical skills included supervision of learners, management tasks, financial and business management. Many of the challenges dissipated over time as mastery in each of the competency domains increased. This work adds to the concept of preparedness being multi-factorial as it was non-clinical skills (supervision, final responsibility of patients and learners) that provided the most concern. It also supports the concept that interventions like peer support and mentoring are seen as helpful, and that transitions do not occur at a specific moment in time but are progressive and protracted.

A UK group focused specifically on how new specialists (GPs) experience professional learning in the post-TtP period (Shiner 2013). The findings mirrored those of Westerman in that support that emphasized inclusion, validation and effective feedback were perceived as beneficial during the transitional period.

Griffin (2010) completed a similar qualitative study in the UK looking specifically at the educational support of new to practice GPs. The findings are similar to Shiner in that the most commonly reported concerns were isolation, and difficulty accessing educational opportunities. There was also alignment with the Westerman (2010) study in that respondents reported a sense of isolation and emotive stress associated with the TtP. The respondents voiced a need for an environment of support, with mentorship or peer groups being highly regarded. This study also demonstrated some of the themes that are noted in much of the quantitative research in the field of TtP, specifically how new specialists feel less prepared in the non-clinical competencies such as practice management (finances, administration, information technology) and negotiation skills.

Taken together, these studies suggest there is a need for a specific curriculum within residency training, to address the perceived areas of lack of preparedness for the TtP of physicians. They also suggest that one needs to consider the context in which learning occurs (i.e. workplace, culture and support). To achieve this, one must consider factors outside of curriculum and assessment development, including the context in which the learning will occur, the conditions for learning (content, instructional materials, faculty involvement, system involvement), and the individual competencies and roles of the involved residents (Bordage 2011).

Another consideration is to maintain the awareness that the TtP does not occur in a moment, but over a period of time (Yardley 2018). Providing optimal preparation prior to the transition, can aid in coping with the transition, recognizing learning opportunities inherent in the process and taking responsibility for one's own outcomes (Teunissen 2011). Likewise, numerous studies have demonstrated the benefit of providing support to new specialists, which could include mentorship, peer support, onboarding programs, or

6

courses related to practice management, administration and/or leadership (Brown 2009, Griffen 2010, Harrison 2014, Kite 2006, MacMillan 2016, Sachdeva 2014, Shiner 2013, Westerman 2010, Yardley 2018).

1.3 Purpose of the Study

The overall goal of this study is to define an evidence-based curriculum to address the current void in the Radiation Oncology (RO) residency curriculum, the TtP phase, within Canada. To achieve this, the current study examined the perceived preparedness for independent practice that the current residency training programs provide RO residents and attempted to understand the competencies perceived as lacking in new ROs. These results will guide the future development of a pan-Canadian questionnaire by the primary investigator, to gain a broader understanding of the TtP, and finally lead to an informed curriculum available to all RO residency training programs to address these concerns.

1.4 Significance of the Study

This study is the first to examine the TtP for ROs. It is also the first to use multiple stakeholders to comprehensively examine all the CanMEDS competencies for perceived gaps in practice by physicians who are transitioning to independent practice. Previous studies that examined the TtP for medical doctors either did not include all seven CanMEDS core competencies in their study or only covered them in a broad overview (Brouns 2010, Card 2006, Haji 2014, Lister 2010). Thus, this study will fill a void in the current literature by providing a more comprehensive view of the concerns surrounding the TtP from the perspective of the CanMEDS core competencies. This is important as the CanMEDS competencies play a central role in the intended teaching and development of physicians in Canada.

This is also the first study that will simultaneously examine the TtP from the perspectives of multiple stakeholders including senior RO residents, RO fellows, new to practice ROs, Canadian RO residency program directors and members of the RO specialty committee CBD working group. Previous papers that examined TtP included only one or two of these groups (Beckett 2006, Brouns 2010, Brown 2009, Card 2006, Crosson 2011, Dahn 2018, Dijkstra 2015, Fakhry 2007, Haji 2014, Kite 2006, Lynch 2003, McDonnell 2007, McKinstry 2005, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Wichman 2009). Thus, this study will provide the opportunity to obtain a more comprehensive perspective on the process.

This study also discusses participants' suggestions and perceptions regarding interventions to address competencies perceived as lacking in residency training. Given the inclusion of Canadian RO residency program directors and members of the RO specialty committee CBD working group, we are able to incorporate a unique perspective on how to best develop a TtP curriculum from those with the greatest influence and insight into the politics and conundrums associated with the development, introduction and proper implementation of new curricula. The gathered data will be to used to develop a pan-Canadian questionnaire to gain a broader understanding of the TtP, and then devise

8

a curriculum to address the perceived competency gaps for transitioning ROs and meet the requirements of the Royal College CBD TtP phase.

1.6 Reasoning for Examining TtP in Radiation Oncology

The upcoming implementation of CBD across Canada has caused a significant amount of apprehension, as competency-based education is a new concept to many physicians. It lies in contrast to the time-based model in which many have participated over years to decades. On top of this, the concept of incorporating a TtP phase is novel, and even more challenging as there are few programs that have already engaged in this practice and minimal data is available on how to implement a TtP curriculum.

Given this backdrop, and the other issues described above, the RO residency committee at Dalhousie University, of which I am a member, decided to start a TtP curriculum ahead of the implementation of CBD, however we were unsure how to go about this. Given my own experiences as a new to practice RO, this topic resonated with me. Further, the idea of completing a needs assessment was fully supported at the national level by the members of the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada RO specialty committee CBD working group. Thus, given my own interest in this topic, a perceived need to examine this topic and the support at the national level, this project was borne.

1.5 Summary

The transition from residency to a full specialist role is associated with a sense of achievement, but also increased stress and negative emotions. Most new graduates report a high feeling of competency in the clinical domains, but cite concern in other areas of practice. These include a sense of being inadequately prepared for the Medical Expert (non-clinical) demands of being a specialist physician, including practice management skills, financial management, supervising learners and having a teaching role (Beckett 2006, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010). These concerns have been recognized by the Royal College (2015a) who as part of the mandated CBD framework, have included a TtP phase as the last stage of residency. However, there has been minimal guidance as to what should be included in this phase, beyond higher-order CanMEDS milestones and EPAs. Thus, the goal of this project is to examine the perceived preparedness for independent practice that the current residency training programs have provided for RO residents and attempt to determine the competencies perceived as lacking in new ROs.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The literature review was used as the starting point to identify perceived deficiencies in competence during the TtP for new specialists. The literature search was conducted using PubMed, Google Scholar, PsycINFO and EMBASE. Articles that included data on perceived competence, gaps in competence or areas of perceived need for successful TtP of new physicians were included. Similar document suggestions and article reference lists were examined to find pertinent articles. The CanMEDS Royal College website was examined to determine essential competencies expected of residency program graduates (Frank 2015). A list of competencies that are either expected of new graduates, or felt to be under-developed in new graduates was generated from the articles gathered. These were subdivided under the CanMEDS seven core competencies (Royal College 2015a, Appendix A) to provide a general overview of what CanMEDS competences have been reported as deficient in new medical specialists.

2.1 General Transition to Practice Studies

Most articles examining preparedness for independent practice agree that new specialists feel prepared with respect to clinical competencies (Beckett 2006, Brown 2009, Card 2006, Crosson 2011, Dijkstra 2015, Griffin 2010, Li 2017, Lynch 2003, McDonnel 2007, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010). This is not surprising, as the end result of residency training is a certification examination focused almost exclusively on clinical competencies, and thus the main focus of residency training is preparation to meet the clinical demands of independent practice. The corollary is that there tends to be a lack of perceived preparedness for the non-clinical competencies commonly encountered in independent practice.

Eleven articles examined the perceptions of either senior residents and/or new to practice specialists, of which seven involved a survey, one used data from the results of milestone reporting, and three involved semi-structured qualitative interviews (Beckett 2006, Card 2006, Crosson 2011, Dijkstra 2015, Kite 2006, Li 2017, Lynch 2003, McDonnell 2007, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010). Only one study used the CanMEDS domains to assess preparedness in their respondents (Card 2006). The results were categorized under the CanMEDS 2015 domain headings (Medical Expert, Communicator, Collaborator, Leader, Health Advocate, Scholar, Professional) as accurately as possible for ease of comparison (Royal College 2015a). The commonly reported deficiencies with respect to non-clinical competences, fall within the CanMEDS Leader, Scholar and Professional domains (Table 1).

Article	Method	Med Exp	Comm	Collab	Lead	Health Adv	Schol	Profess
Beckett 2006	Survey	Y		Y	Y		Y	Y
Card 2006	Survey	N	N	N	Y	Y	Y	Y
Crosson 2011	Quali	N	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Dijkstra 2015	Survey	Ν	Y	Ν	Y		Y	Y
Kite 2006	Survey	Y		Y				
Li 2017	Mile	Ν	N	N	Ν	N	Ν	Y^
Lynch 2003	Survey	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y
McDonnell 2007	Survey	N		N	Y			
Morrow 2009	Quali	N			Y		Y	Y
Morrow 2012	Survey	N	N	N	Y		Y	Y
Westerman 2010	Quali	Y			Y		Y	n/a
Studies with deficiencies		3	1	3	9	3	8	8

Table 1: Summary of reported deficiencies in CanMEDS core competencies (from11 studies)

[^]Competency to have the lowest average score at graduation, but still meeting a minimum level of competence

Y: reported deficiency	N: no significant deficiency reported
blank: data not available	Quali: Qualitative (semi-structured interviews)
Med Exp: Medical Expert	Comm: Communicator
Collab: Collaborator	Lead: Leader
Health Adv: Health Advocate	Schol: Sholar

Profess: Professional

Mile (milestone): study involving a cohort of pediatric residents that used milestone assessments to determine reasonable expectations at time of graduation from residency

Not all of the CanMEDS domains were represented in each study, with Medical Expert, Collaborator, Leader, Scholar and Professional being well represented, while there was a paucity of data for the competencies associated with the Communicator and Health Advocate domains (Table 1). This may be partly due to not being raised as a concern in two of the three qualitative studies and being under-represented in the survey-based studies. The reported deficiencies in preparedness for transition to independent practice and their frequency, are presented in Table 2, categorized by the associated CanMEDS competency domain. The most commonly reported deficiencies are found within the Leader domain, however this domain is over-represented in the literature (Brown 2009, Brouns 2010, Busari 2011, Blumenthal 2012, Fakhry 2007, Gill 2007, Jones 2008). It is difficult to ascertain the denominator for Table 2 to determine a percentage of studies that found deficiencies in each competency, as a lack of mention of a specific competency may reflect no perceived deficit, or that it was not adequately addressed within that study.

Table 2: I	Reported	deficiencies	in Ca	anMEDS	core com	petencies	(from 1	9 studies)
							(·

	Total #
CanMEDS Domain	studies
Medical Export (11 general studies)	mentioned
Medical Expert (11 general studies)	
Final medical responsibility is a major novel experience	4
No/minimal experience meeting set targets	2
Concern around having the final medical responsibility on call	1
Collaborator (9 general studies)	
No/minimal experience with specialist partnerships	3
No/minimal experience with conflict resolution with other health care	
workers	3
Communicator (6 general studies)	
No/minimal experience with negotiation skills	3
No/minimal experience with discussing ethics, or compliance issues	1
No/minimal experience discussing medical errors	1
No/minimal experience discussing end of life care	2
Health Advocate (4 general studies)	
No/minimal experience in health advocacy	2
Leader (10 general studies)	
No/minimal managerial experience	11
No/minimal financial experience	9
No/minimal experience writing business plans	5
No/minimal leadership experience	7
No/minimal administrative experience	7
No/minimal experience navigating the health care system	5
No/minimal experience with managing care in a cost effective way	
and/or managing resources	4
No/minimal experience in quality assurance	4
No/minimal experience with billing/coding	3
No/minimal experience with maintaining a program of quality	2

improvement in one's own practice	
Professional (8 general studies)	
No/minimal experience leading change in department/ward	3
No/minimal experience meeting a work/life balance	2
No/minimal experience dealing with difficult ethical issues	1
No/minimal receptivity to using information technology	1
Scholar (9 general studies)	
No/minimal experience supervising learners	4
No/minimal experience supervising learners No/minimal experience in critical appraisal	4
No/minimal experience supervising learners No/minimal experience in critical appraisal No/minimal experience in research (grants, writing, participating)	4 2 1
No/minimal experience supervising learners No/minimal experience in critical appraisal No/minimal experience in research (grants, writing, participating) No/minimal experience giving feedback	4 2 1 3

*Beckett 2006, **Brouns 2010, **Brown 2009, **Busari 2011, **Blumenthal 2012, *Card 2006, *Crosson 2011, *Dijkstra 2015, ^Fakhry 2007, ^Gill 2007, *Griffin 2010, ~Higgins 2005, *Kite 20067, *Li 2017, *Lynch 2003, *McDonnell 2007, *Morrow 2009, *Morrow 2012, *Westerman 2010. (*general competency papers, ^ documentation and billing papers, **leadership/management papers, ~literature review)

All studies reported that their respondents felt prepared to fulfill their clinical duties after their TtP. The studies that reported a lack of preparedness in the Medical Expert (clinical competencies) domain identified specific areas of concern. Beckett (2006) completed a questionnaire study of new to practice emergency room physicians, who overall reported adequate preparedness for clinical practice, but 26% reported challenges dealing with psychiatric patients or other specific clinical issues. A survey of senior residents and new specialists in palliative care reported that knowledge of specific processes and skills caused stress (Kite 2006). Finally, a qualitative study involving new
specialists, aimed at developing a framework for TtP, found that the TtP was associated with stress around assuming the final responsibility for patient care (Westerman 2010).

The other well reported area where there is concern surrounding clinical acumen of new specialists is with surgeons and procedural skills. This issue has been raised more recently given the changes in duty hours and curtailed autonomy with respect to completion of procedures independent of supervision (Hashimoto 2016, Mattar 2013, McDonnell 2007, McKinstry 2005, Nadler 2015, Odell 2015, Patel 2015, Richardson 2013). Given that RO is a medical speciality with few procedural skills, this consideration is outside the scope of the current project. However, it should be noted that brachytherapy shares similarities with surgery. It involves the placement of radioactive seeds or catheters into a patient using surgical technique. It has been recognized that there is a need for additional training post-residency for those pursuing brachytherapy as part of their RO practice. As such, an Area of Focused Competence (AFP) diploma program (post-residency training), has been developed to ensure acquisition of specialist level competence in this procedural skill (Royal College 2015b).

Many studies do not provide enough specificity about the competencies for which they are asking respondents about preparedness for TtP. Card (2006) adminstered a survey for new to practice internal medicine physicians between 1993 and 2001. The study asked about preparedness and perceived importance of 31 competencies that were categorized under the 7 CanMEDS domains. These competencies were vague including 'communication skills' and 'consultation skills' under the Communicator domain. Thus, it is difficult to interpret the result that these were ranked highly for importance and perceived level of preparedness during the TtP. This is in contrast to the survey developed by Dijkstra (2013, 2015) for which skills under communication included 'discussing medical errors with patients and their family members', 'being actively involved in end-of-life decisions...' and 'discussing palliative care...' and all of which respondents reported feeling less prepared for during the TtP. There was also an over representation of Medical Expert questions (12/31) in the Card (2006) survey. Despite these limitations, the authors found the largest gaps in perceived importance and level of preparedness were in the manager (Leader) domain (administration skills and setting up an office), Health Advocate (choose cost-effective treatments, counsel regarding: smoking, exercise, HIV testing, domestic violence and substance abuse), Scholar (critical appraisal and participating in quality assurance) and Professional (end-of-life issues, ethics, and compliance issues).

Beckett (2006) examined preparedness for independent practice utilizing a questionnaire sent to new emergency medicine physicians in the United Kingdom (UK). The salient findings align with the literature in that the areas associated with the highest stress and least confidence in new specialists were managing conflict resolution, meeting treatment targets, and handling management issues. The article did not provide information on all possible responses, thus it is unclear for the questions 'in which area do you feel least confident' and 'what do you find most stressful at work?' what the answer options were. In particular it is unclear whether the competency domains of Communicator, Collaborator, and Health Advocate were included. There was also a lack of information on the method for survey development, and steps taken to ensure validity and reliability. Similar to the article by Card (2006), the competencies listed are very

18

broad and could incorporate numerous competencies or interpretations by respondents. For example, 'handling management issues' can encompass personal practice, departmental practice, systems, and/or dealing with colleagues, learners or other health care professionals.

The article by Kite (2006) was a letter to the editor, thus much of the methodological process and details were not provided, nor was the publication peer reviewed. It is an important addition to the literature as it supports the findings of Beckett (2006) that new specialists experience a significant level of stress related to communication and the relationships with other health professionals, especially conflict resolution. The study population in this case was new palliative care physicians and senior residents. This report also raised concerns about the current lack of support for new specialists.

An ophthalmology group from the United States used a 4-page questionnaire of new to practice physicians to gauge perceived preparedness for different skills used in independent practice (McDonnell 2007). The methodology for the survey development was not provided, thus the steps to ensure reliability and validity were not included. There was an over-representation of questions regarding clinical and business management skills. There was no mention of competencies in health advocacy, scholarship, or professionalism, thus it is unclear whether these were included. The areas for which respondents felt the least prepared were in financial management (practice and personal), practice management and coding and reimbursement which all fit into the Leader CanMEDS competency domain. These findings align with other studies, especially those from the United States where there is significant concern amongst new graduates about practice and money management. This may reflect their healthcare system which is only partially government sponsored, thus requiring significant business acumen to run an effective medical practice that supports both public and private practice. However, deficiencies in business related competencies were also noted in studies from the United Kingdom, and Europe (Beckett 2006, Brown 2009, Busari 2011, Crosson 2011, Dijkstra 2015, Griffin 2010, Higgins 2005).

An American group reported on a national survey of GPs assessing their perceived preparation for independent practice (Lynch 2003). The article included a literature review, medical specialty input, and a three phase field test prior to its implementation. The questionnaire was organized according to the 6 Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) competencies (Appendix B), which are similar to CanMEDS competencies (Appendix A). The questions asked were clear and well written. The results support the previous and subsequent literature with the highest level of preparedness being associated with interpersonal and communication competencies and professionalism, while the lowest scores were found in practice-based learning and improvement, and systems-based practice. Interestingly, this is one of the first studies to examine systems based practice which has an emphasis on working within, and having knowledge of, the functions and nuances of a healthcare system.

The development of a 91 task inventory survey for new to practice physicians by Dijkstra (2013) followed a rigorous research protocol, to ensure validity. It was also used on a large population both in its initial phase of task inventory development (Dijkstra

20

2013), and in testing for preparedness in the study population (Dijkstra 2015). The reported preparedness was lowest for: emailing with patients; negotiating with a health care insurance provider; improving one's competence in organization and management; preparing and submitting grant applications; and all tasks under the management cluster or Leader CanMEDS domain. Those with slightly higher levels of preparedness, but still sub-optimal, included: administration, leadership, research, end of life care and patient safety communication. In general, respondents felt well prepared for Medical Expert/clinical tasks. These findings are in line with other studies, demonstrating the largest deficits in management, and to a lesser extent leadership, and professionalism. This study is strengthened through the use of a validated tool, and having a list of tasks that are specific. Thus, the results are more useable when deciding exactly which competencies would provide the most benefit when incorporated into a TtP curriculum. One concern was the lack of representation from RO, thus one cannot with certainty comment on the applicability to this specialty. Also, the inventory was not validated on a medical population outside of the Netherlands, where both the medical education program and healthcare system are different from Canada.

A group from the United Kingdom also reported on a rigorously developed crossspecialty survey study (Morrow 2009). The first paper outlined the constructivist qualitative study, the purpose of which was to determine the extent to which residency training prepared physicians for independent practice. The study population included senior residents, new specialists and medical mangers across numerous specialties. The results lead to the development of a questionnaire that was distributed to new specialists (Morrow 2012). Similar to the Dijkstra task inventory study, the survey included more questions across a larger range of competencies, with only Health Advocate not being represented. The results are exceedingly similar to the Dijkstra study, and the other studies listed above, in that the areas in which new specialists felt the least well prepared could be categorized into Leader (designing new services, managing resources effectively, making decisions about allocating resources, inputting a business plan), Scholar (role of clinical and educational supervisor, providing feedback) and Professional (managing National Health Service (NSH) targets competency domains, understanding the NHS management structure, implementing change, raising concerns about performance, managing concerns about performance, supporting a poorly performing physician).

A unique qualitative, single open-ended question study was completed by a group from California to identify what department chiefs felt was the single characteristic missing from the average newly hired physician with respect to knowledge, skills and professionalism (Crosson 2011). 50% of respondents felt that new physicians were lacking in management of routine conditions or simple procedural skills. This is in contrast to most new specialists feeling secure in their medical knowledge. This discrepancy may be based on a difference in perspective, one being of self (the new specialist) versus an outside perspective (departmental leader), or the difference between the in-training versus real-life environment. Areas that were aligned with other research included perceived deficiencies in leadership and management competencies.

2.2 Studies Addressing the Leadership domain in TtP

Leadership is the most commonly reported competency domain within the TtP literature. Four studies dealt with this domain alone, two of which discussed leadership and management broadly, while the other two focused on documentation and coding. Documentation and coding refers to the ability to accurately bill for a patient interaction to ensure the specialist receives the proper payment. A patient interaction could include a consultation, a follow-up visit, a telephone call, or can be related to a procedure including the steps related to planning, quality assurance, and management of side effects. Each of these tasks is associated with a specific 'code' for which a monetary value is assigned. Thus, the process of documentation and coding includes choosing the correct code for an interaction, completing the correct paperwork associated with that interaction, and sending the documentation to the correct paying party (patient, insurance company and/or government).

Two studies published results specifically analyzing new specialists' preparedness in the leader/management domain. A United Kingdom group completed a 3 phase study investigating how to best prepare senior residents for the specialist role (Brown 2009). The second study by Brouns (2010) involved distributing a questionnaire to residents of all specialties, except family medicine, in the Netherlands to determine if there was a perceived need for training in management skills, and the preferred form of intervention to improve these competencies. For both studies, the majority of respondents reported a lack of preparedness for leadership/management roles, and a need for more training. In the Brouns study the specific skills that senior residents felt would be the most beneficial if taught were negotiation skills, development of specialist partnerships, career opportunities and working within the health care system. The Brouns (2010) study also examined the preferred methods of training to meet these needs. They found that the preferred method of training was a workshop; however, interactive, case-based, webbased sessions and lectures were also reported. Most preferred instructors to be a medical specialist or an external expert, and the vast majority preferred the teaching to occur at the workplace.

Both documentation and coding/billing specific studies were completed within the United States. These focused specifically on the need for better documentation and coding training during residency. The first by Fakhry (2007) examined new surgical specialists' knowledge of documentation and coding for professional services. The population included 60 surgical residents and 46 specialists, who were asked to complete a survey regarding knowledge, attitudes and learning. They reported that 82% of residents, and 89% of specialists felt that they had not received adequate training on documentation and coding. This corresponded to 85% of residents and 87% of specialists feeling that teaching around this topic should be included in residency. The authors also provided documentation and coding questions as part of the survey to determine true knowledge. This is a unique paper as it allows comparison of perceived preparedness and measurable ability. This would suggest that documentation and coding could be objectively tested. The article reports that the instrument was reviewed for content validity, although the details of this and the questions asked were not provided. Also, the response rate is not reported, thus there is the potential for response bias.

24

The second article reviewed trends in practice management training during residency, with a focus on coding and billing in orthopaedic surgery in Texas (Gill 2007). The authors distributed an informal survey, based on a literature review. More than 90% felt that training in this area during residency was essential and only 13% reported confidence in this area. This is in line with the results of Fakhry (2007), suggesting a high perceived need for increased documentation and billing training prior to the TtP. However, further comment is limited as this article provided a paucity of information about methods or statistical analyses used. While the response rate was provided, the number of participants is unknown. Also, the American healthcare system is a mixture of private and public, while in Canada there is only a public system. Also, within Canada, the method of reimbursement varies by province, and can include salary or fee for service. To my knowledge, there are no studies specifically targeting the need for documentation and billing prior to independent practice within a public healthcare system.

2.3 Studies Suggesting Methods to Improve the TtP

Since it has been shown that there are perceived competency gaps in residents as they transition to practice, and that these are associated with emotive stress and a higher rate of burnout, the next step should be to determine how to optimally prepare learners for this transition (Brown 2009, Dijkstra 2015, Griffin 2010, Teunissen 2011, Westerman 2010, Westerman 2013a, Yardley 2018). Numerous suggestions have been put forth, which can be divided into interventions prior to, and after, graduation from residency. Suggestions for additional teaching during residency included increased responsibility to senior residents to more closely mirror a specialist's workload (including more administrative and managerial duties and attending meetings), increased managerial experience, provision of leadership training, increased health advocacy experience and provision of mentoring (Beckett 2006, Blumenthal 2012, Brouns 2010, Busari 2011, Card 2006, Fakhry 2007, Higgins 2005, Sachdeva 2014, Westerman 2010, Wichman 2009, Yardley 2018). However, there is no consensus as to optimal timing, length, methodology or which competencies should be prioritized. The most prevalent suggestion for method is a workshop or a similar interactive environment (Blumenthal 2012, Brouns 2010, Busari 2011). The most favored location was the workplace, although off-site professional courses are available especially for leadership and managerial training (Blumenthal 2012, Brouns 2010, Higgins 2005). Another common theme is increased graduated responsibility within an authentic workplace environment (Croke 2012, Lister 2010, Sachdeva 2014, Wiener-Ogilvie 2014, Westerman 2010, Yardley 2018).

For post-TtP, mentorship is the most documented method to improve the transitional process, and is linked to improved care quality, patient safety, and increased confidence, job satisfaction and working relationships, while decreasing stress and burnout (Brown 2009, Griffin 2010, Harrison 2014, Higgins 2005, Sachdeva 2014). Other suggestions included provision of time for continuing professional development (CPD) courses, development of peer groups for discussion and provision of feedback, a handbook outlining processes within the new working environment, as well as having an onboarding program for new specialists (Brown 2009, Griffin 2010, Harrison 2014, Higgins 2005, Sachdeva 2014, Wilkie 2005).

2.4 Transition to Practice Curricula

There are a few groups that have implemented a variety of programs to improve the TtP. Three programs involved the development of peer groups for new specialists, all of which used the groups for both peer mentorship and journal reviewing (MacMillan 2016, Rial 2013, Wilkie 2005). One group enrolled two groups of seven participants who met twice prior to, and twice after, graduation from residency and TtP (Rial 2013). The groups continued to meet after the completion of the study. Rial (2013) examined the use of a journal club in which new internal medicine specialists met ten times over a 14 month period to discuss an article and a TtP topic. It was found that TtP topics dominated the discussion, suggesting that participants found the peer support helpful. Wilkie (2005) included 12 psychiatry senior residents and new specialists with 2 facilitators forming a peer support group that met once a month. This article focused on how the TtP effected their perception of professional identity, authority and leadership. Unfortunately, all three articles provided minimal information on the impact of the program on the participants perceived level of preparedness for practice, nor whether they helped to alleviate any of the negative emotions associated with the transition (MacMillan 2016, Rial 2013, Wilkie 2005). MacMillan and Rial both reported that the participants continued to meet regularly after each study period ended, which is the only data to overtly suggest benefit.

There is more data on the implementation of practice management curriculums to improve preparedness for TtP. Three American studies introduced practice management specific teaching, of which the first involved a series of monthly billing and coding teaching sessions for surgical residents and real-time practice of management of clinical coding (Jones 2008). The second study involved a 32 week practice management curriculum for senior psychiatry residents based on financial management, human resources management, planning and marketing, information management, risk management, governance and organizational dynamics, business and clinical operations and professional responsibility (Wichman 2009). The curriculum involved a mix of seminars, small group discussion and hands-on projects. The last study from Florida reported on the implementation of a practice clinic managed by final year neurosurgery residents who were responsible for the successful management of the clinic including patient care, and management of resources and personnel (Lister 2010). All three studies used surveys (Wichman also used interviews) of participants at the end of the curriculum, for which there was positive feedback. Topics that were most highly regarded included negotiating contracts, and risk management.

Jones (2008) demonstrated an increase in coding compliance after participation in the program. Interestingly, this is an area that participants in the Lister trial (final year neurosurgery residents who were responsible for the independent management of a clinic) listed as insufficiently addressed in the curriculum (Lister 2010). In both the Lister and Wichman studies participants reported an increase in confidence in managing an independent practice. Taken together, these three trials support the available literature that demonstrates a significant need for adequate training in practice management. However, there remains a lack of consensus on how to best teach these competencies. It would be compelling to acquire long-term data on each curriculum to determine if they led to changes in perceived preparedness for independent practice, and decreased medical errors, and/or what specific topics were the most beneficial.

28

A group from the Netherlands completed a literature review examining how the role of manager (Leader under CanMEDS) had been incorporated into residency curricula and the results of such initiatives (Busari 2011). Most of the included 40 articles were from North America and were limited to family medicine. The most commonly taught topics were financial management, management concepts, quality assurance (cost benefit, quality improvement), legal issues, organizational skills, and leadership. The overall findings were that management education should be considered essential in residency training, especially since there is currently a perceived knowledge gap in new specialists. However there continues to be a lack of consensus on the length, duration and timing of management training.

In Canada, the Canadian Medical Association (CMA) developed a Practice Management Curriculum (PMC) which is available online and involves 15 modules ranging from eight to twenty-eight pages (Cummings 2012a-c, Faloon 2012a-k, Larsen 2012). It is aimed at residents transitioning to independent practice. These cover a variety of topics including getting started as a professional, financial planning, personal and professional insurance, personal and professional accounting and taxation, legal issues for physicians, medical records management, electronic medical records, physician remuneration options, principles of negotiation, evaluating practice opportunities for family physicians and specialists, negotiating a mutually beneficial locum (physician who has successfully completed residency training, and is working as an independent practitioner, usually on a short-term basis) contract, starting your practice off on the right foot, setting up your medical or clinical office, and staffing and human resources. The uptake and perceived usefulness of these by senior residents and/or new specialists has not been evaluated. Also, they are not mandatory reading for residents.

A literature review completed by Blumenthal (2012) included a clarification of the difference between management and leadership. The purpose was to provide evidence to support the inclusion of formal leadership training in residency. This paper is unique as it provided information regarding the best currently available corporate leadership development programs, and a framework for leadership development within healthcare which included the common barriers to leadership training. The areas that they felt were most important to include were self-reflection, self-awareness, capacity for selfregulation, leading teams, practicing 'followership', leading change, negotiating with colleagues and patients, and managing professional networks. Overall, it provides an excellent starting point for implementing a leadership specific program, with the flexibility to adapt to most medical environments. A level of program development experience and multi-disciplinary buy-in would be required to use this tool effectively.

A multi-national group reported on a modified Delphi consensus study looking specifically at creating a Leader competency profile for ROs entering independent practice that fits within the CanMEDS framework (Turner 2017). There were a total of 72 respondents from 11 countries who participated in the two rounds of online surveys. The end result was a set of 20 final RO specific Leader competencies that could be broadly categorized into three core areas; contribution to the improvement of cancer care delivery in teams and wider health system, engagement in stewardship of cancer care resources, and demonstration of elements of leadership in practice. While this provides insight into what should be included in a leadership curriculum, the specific details on how to

30

incorporate these into a curriculum is unclear. Interestingly, the researchers included many of the associated oncology specialties in the survey (Medical Oncology, Radiation Medical Physics, nursing, patients and educators), but focused only on leaders in the field. Thus, senior residents and new staff who are closest to the TtP were not included. The need for improved leadership competency in RO is becoming more recognized globally. The European Society for Radiotherapy & Oncology (ESTRO) started offering a course this year titled management and leadership skills for Radiation Oncology (ESTRO 2017).

2.5 Radiation Oncology and TtP

There is a paucity of literature examining the TtP for RO as the majority of the multi-specialty papers did not include respondents from this specialty. The only available literature, of which we are aware apart from the Turner (2017) article mentioned above, are: surveys of RO residents from Canada and the United States respectively, a report on outcomes from a senior RO resident continuity clinic in the United States, a Canadian survey regarding resident continuity clinics in Oncology, and a regional survey regarding the TtP in RO.

The American survey reports on the 2004 Association of Residents in Radiation Oncology (ARRO) survey which consisted of 20 questions regarding demographics, satisfaction with training and future career plans (Patel 2006). This was identical to previous, similar surveys to allow for comparison. Most (78%) respondents felt their residency program adequately prepared them for independent practice. Factors that were felt to need the most improvement were the quality of residency education including having more lectures given by specialists (84%), more time to read during the workday (77%) and a greater availability of specialists (63%).

The most recent Canadian survey involved a 60 question survey of all Canadian RO residents in 2009 (Debenham 2012). The aim was to compare the residents' experiences and perspectives of training to those previously reported in a similar study conducted in 2003 (Yee 2005), and to similar studies in the United States (ARRO). The focus was on resident well-being, career plans and finances. Thus, it did not focus on TtP, although some of the data reported is applicable. The most commonly expressed weaknesses of the training programs were a lack of adequate preparation for the competitive job market and poor service-to-education ratio. Similar to TtP research papers, 80% of respondents felt their training adequately prepared them for independent practice.

Unfortunately, neither series of surveys in RO provide specific data on perceived adequacy of the competencies required of a new RO specialist. Even competencies associated with the Medical Expert core competency were not addressed in these studies. Neither series of surveys provided clear data on the development of the original survey nor whether they were validated or checked for reliability.

Yoo (2018) reported on the outcomes following the introduction of a resident continuity/ longitudinal clinic for 6 senior RO residents in California. The longitudinal clinic enabled the residents to complete consultations, most of the treatment planning process and follow-up appointments independently. A survey of the residents

32

demonstrated satisfaction in areas such as better management of treatment toxicities and evaluation of treatment outcomes. Respondents also reported increased satisfaction with patient relationships, personal well-being and confidence. An informal survey of RO specialists working with these residents reported observing more efficient workflow by the residents, fewer documentation issues and increased enthusiasm for follow-ups.

Croke (2012) completed a survey of Canadian residency program directors, residents within Medical and Radiation Oncology, and patients seen in Oncology clinics at the Ottawa hospital to determine the perceived utility of a resident driven continuity clinic. This included 17 program directors, 69 residents and 90 patients. 47% of program directors, and 36% of residents reported having a continuity clinic as part of their residency program. However, this was not sub-divided into Medical versus Radiation Oncology, so it is unclear as to the representativeness of each specialty. The perceived benefits reported by participants included improved management of complex cases, time management, graded responsibility and development of patient relationships. The main challenge encountered was related to clinic space availability. The patient survey provides new insight in the patient perspective, by demonstrating that a lower percentage of patients (37%) versus staff and residents (58%) thought it was acceptable to review a case only if the resident had concerns. The main concerns with a continuity clinic brought forth by patients were discontinuity of care, and perceived lack of experience or competence of the resident. This study highlights the need to include patients in the decision making process of curriculum development when there is a potential for impact on patient care and concern around patient acceptance of resident autonomy of practice.

Dahn (2018) conducted a regional online survey of relevant RO stakeholders to gauge what learning objectives are perceived to be the most important for inclusion in a 3-month TtP rotation. Of the 43 respondents, 30 were ROs. Objectives that were ranked as being perceived as the most important included independently assessing and managing patients seen in consultation, developing and demonstrating communication skills with patients at an advanced leve,l and independently assessing and managing follow up of patients. Those deemed least important included completing a research, administrative, educational or clinical project, health advocacy topics and working with departmental and hospital administration. Qualitative feedback included suggestions to increase exposure to managerial roles, clinical autonomy, work-life balance, professional development and communication.

2.6 Summary

In summary, most new specialists feel prepared with respect to clinical acumen, but feel less confident in other competency domains encountered in independent practice. Only one study used the CanMEDS core competencies to assess preparedness, but this study only asked in very broad terms (Card 2006). The remaining ten general studies did not examine all seven of the CanMEDS core competencies, with Medical Expert, Collaborator, Leader, Scholar and Professional being the most represented (Beckett 2006, Crosson 2011, Dijkstra 2015, Kite 2006, Li 2017, Lynch 2003, McDonnell 2007, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010). The most commonly reported perceived deficiencies noted in transitioning doctors were found within the Leader domain – however this areas is over represented in the lierature.

While the literature supports that there are deficiencies in core competencies in transitioning doctors, there is minimal data on how this can be best addressed. Suggestions include interventions during residency training and after transitioning to practice. A few groups have implemented and reported on, programs devised to improve the TtP for residents however, each reported program dealt with a single CanMEDS domain. For example, three papers discussed the use of peer groups for mentorship and journal reviewing, three on practice management in America with a focus of coding and billing and a literature review supporting the need for leadership training during residency (Busari 2011, Jones 2008, Lister 2010, MacMillan 2016, Rial 2013, Wichman 2009). The most prevalent suggestions for method and location were an interactive environment and the workplace respectively. Another common theme is increased graduated responsibility within an authentic workplace environment (Croke 2012, Lister 2010, Sachdeva 2014, Wiener-Ogilvie 2014, Westerman 2010, Yardley 2018).

All curricula that have been introduced were well received by senior residents and have a reported positive impact. However, the question remains as to what specific topics should be included. Also, there is a paucity of information on curricula addressing communication skills, inter-professional collaboration, scholarship, health advocacy, and professionalism. Even the above data on the competencies associated with leadership/management demonstrate benefit, but do not provide a consensus on 'how long', 'what methods', 'what topics', 'who should teach' and 'where should the learning occur'?

Radiation Oncology tends to be under-represented in the literature given its relatively small size. The studies that included multiple specialties tended to exclude RO. For the literature dedicated to RO, none specifically dealt with concerns with the current TtP (Croke 2012, Dahn 2018, Debenham 2009, Patel 2006, Yoo 2018).Taken together, there is an information gap for how ROs experience and perceive the TtP, and what the perceived deficiencies are in new RO specialists.

2.7 Research Aims

Using the CanMEDS framework, and the results of this literature review, this study examined the perceived preparedness for independent practice that the current residency training programs provide for RO residents. It also attempted to describe the competencies perceived as lacking in new ROs. This will guide the future development of a curriculum to address the needs of transitioning RO residents and requirements of a TtP phase in the CBD curriculum. This study is unique in that it will provide specific information on perceived preparedness in all CanMEDS domains.

The study population includes stakeholders involved in the transition of RO residents to independent practice including; senior RO residents, RO fellows, new to practice ROs, RO residency program directors and members of the Royal College RO specialty committee CBD working group. No previous studies have included all of these

36

groups, which will provide a unique opportunity to clarify if preparedness is perceived differently amongst these groups and to identify common themes.

Chapter 3: Method & Methodology

3.1 Introduction

The purpose of this study was to examine the perceived preparedness for independent practice that the current residency training programs have on RO residents and attempt to identify the competencies perceived as lacking in new ROs. The data gleaned from this study will inform the development of a curriculum for the TtP phase of RO residency training.

Given the paucity of data specific for ROs during the TtP, qualitative research will be beneficial in exploring the perceptions of the various stakeholders involved in this process. Four stakeholder groups are particularly involved in the TtP: senior residents, fellows, new specialists, and residency program directors and members of the Royal College RO specialty committee CBD working group. Qualitative approaches will enable exploration of the perceptions of each group, and then enable comparisons across groups.

For these reasons a qualitative approach is being employed following the philosophies of Merriam (1998). Under her philosophy 'the primary interest of qualitative researchers is to understand the meaning or knowledge constructed by people... the way people make sense of their world and their experiences in this world' (Yazan 2015). This supports a study that is particularistic (i.e.: focused on a specific group or event), descriptive and heuristic (a practical method to problem solving, i.e.: rule of thumb, or educated guess). This aligns well with the examination of the TtP of RO residents, as different groups are involved and affected by the same process.

The philosophical underpinnings for this study are based upon the pragmatic worldview (Johnson 2007). This purports an examination of "practical consequences and empirical findings to help in understanding... [and] to help in deciding which action to take next as one attempts to better understand real-world phenomena." (Burke Johnson 2004). Pragmatism is also based on the assumption that the collection of both qualitative and quantitative data leads to a better understanding of the target construct – the TtP for RO residents (Creswell 2014, Johnson 2007). While this study represents the initial qualitative research phase, the planned next step is to use the results to inform a second, quantitative phase which will be the development of a questionnaire following the process outlined in the Association for Medical Education in Europe (AMEE) guide 87 – development of questionnaires for educational research (Artino 2014, Creswell 2014) to enable sampling of a much larger population of stakeholder groups. Taken together, the totality of this project will involve an exploratory sequential mixed methods approach; i.e., a qualitative phase followed by a quantitative phase. This would then be followed by the development and evaluation of a TtP curriculum to meet the requirements of the CBD curriculum.

To ensure the development of a construct is representative of the concerns around the TtP for RO residents, focus groups will be conducted. Focus groups were used to understand how stakeholders perceive the TtP and how it can be improved, and to determine how this is similar or different to what is reported in the literature (Gehlbach 2011, Sim 1998). The qualitative data will also help elucidate how the study population discusses TtP to ensure the questions developed for a future questionnaire are in a format familiar to participants (Morgan 1984). A focus group involves 3 to 12 participants exploring a topic selected and facilitated by a researcher (Morgan 1984, Massey 2011, Sim 1998, Stalmeijer 2014). Each focus group will contain a single stakeholder group (i.e.: senior RO residents, RO fellows, new to practice (< 3 years) ROs, and a fourth comprised of RO residency program directors and members of the Royal College RO specialty committee CBD working group). This is to avoid ethical concerns and provide peer support (Barbour 2005, DiCicco-Bloom 2006, Stalmeijer 2014). Keeping the stakeholder groups separate also provides the opportunity to compare and contrast the responses between the groups.

A focus group will be conducted with each stakeholder group to capture their unique perspectives on the TtP. One of the key benefits is it allows for triangulation between participants. Also, it allows for simultaneous gathering of data from multiple sources which is endorsed by Merriam (1998) as it aids in capturing the complexity and entirety of the entity being studied. Focus groups also allow for investigation of both what participants think and why they think as they do (Barbour 2005).

3.2 Research Population: Selection Criteria

The stakeholders for this project are diverse and spread across Canada, thus a representative group was chosen for each stakeholder group.

Inclusion criteria

• Canadian trained Post-Graduate year (PGY) 4-5 RO residents

- Canadian RO fellows
- New to practice in the last 3 years ROs who trained and are practicing in Canada
- Canadian RO residency program directors or members of the RO specialty committee CBD working group

Exclusion criteria

- Any RO, who completed residency outside of Canada
- Any RO practicing outside of Canada
- Any RO who has been practicing independently for more than 3 years, and is not a Canadian RO residency program director or member of the RO specialty committee CBD working group

3.3 Focus Group Question Development

Based on the literature reviewed, questions were devised to attain the goal of the project; to examine the perceived preparedness for independent practice that the current residency training program has on RO residents and specifically determine the competencies perceived as lacking in new ROs. A pilot test of the original questions was conducted with two professors in Medical Education and a Master of Education student. The questions were also discussed with the thesis supervisors and steering committee. From this, 6 questions were selected:

1. Describe the current transition to practice for Radiation Oncology.

- 2. What are the current gaps in the transition to practice in Radiation Oncology?
- 3. Define a complete Radiation Oncologist.
- 4. How are these competencies best learned or acquired?
- 5. How could you address gaps in transition to practice, if you have identified gaps?
- 6. How can a resident acquire these competencies?

3.4 Focus Group Process

For logistical reasons, focus groups were conducted by both tele-conference and face-to-face. The first focus group occurred via tele-conference with members of the RO Specialty Committee on CBD working group. One week prior to the tele-conference, members of the working group were provided with the focus group participant information sheet and consent form (Appendices C, D). Twelve members of the working group participated, of which 10 were residency program directors, one was a regent for a program and another was from a department without a residency program. Thus, there was representation from ten of the thirteen RO residency programs in Canada.

Following this focus group, recordings were transcribed and verified, data was analyzed to determine themes, and the focus group questions were revised for clarity and to ensure the underlying study outcomes were being adequately addressed. These results were reviewed by myself, the two thesis supervisors and two external reviewers to ensure lack of bias in the original analysis of the data. Two changes occurred as a result of the initial transcript analysis. The first, was the use of an observer to record field notes for subsequent focus groups. This task was completed by a member of the steering committee. The second was revision of the focus group questions, which then remained consistent for the remaining three stakeholder group focus groups:

- 1. Describe the current transition to practice for Radiation Oncology.
- 2. What are the current gaps in the transition to practice in Radiation Oncology?
- 3. How could you address gaps in transition to practice, if you have identified gaps?
- 4. What competencies, skills, knowledge and attitudes do you think, if any, should be taught/focused on during a TtP curriculum?
- 5. How can a resident acquire these competencies?

The second focus group occurred at the Canadian Association of Radiation Oncology (CARO) annual scientific meeting with new to practice ROs, in a face-to-face format. A flyer explaining the study was emailed to those who had enrolled in the CARO annual scientific meeting, inviting interested participants who met the study criteria to contact the principle investigator. Those that met the study criteria (new to practice ROs with three or less years of independent practice) were emailed an information package including the focus group participant information sheet and consent form (Appendices C,D). There were five participants of which two had completed a fellowship and one a locum.

The third focus group involved fourth (3 participants) and fifth (3 participants) year RO residents. This was a face-to-face focus group that occurred at the Annual National Canadian Preparatory Course in Clinical and Radiation Oncology. A general announcement to the group occurred at the end of a lecture inviting interested residents to approach the primary investigator if interested. Thus, this group was not provided with the participant information sheet and consent form prior to the focus group. In this case I

provided time for the residents to read the information sheet and consent documents, and to ask questions prior to starting the focus group interview.

The final focus group occurred via tele-conference with three RO fellows. A fellow is a physician who has successfully completed their specialty certification and who is pursuing additional focused specialized post-residency training prior to working as an independent specialist. RO program directors across Canada were asked to invite fellows currently enrolled at their center to consider participation. They were provided with a flyer outlining the study, and were asked to contact the primary investigator if interested in participating. Interested participants were provided with the participant information sheet and the consent form approximately one week prior to the tele-conference (Appendices C,D).

3.5 Data Analysis

All focus groups were audio recorded and transcribed. Following the transcription of the focus group discussions and field notes, the data were analyzed for key themes following the concepts of thematic analysis put forth by Massey (2011). Massey proposes three categories of qualitative data: articulated, attributional and emergent. Articulated data are the data that specifically address the questions posed during an interview. Attributional data are those discussion points that are related to *a priori* theories or research hypotheses, and thus arise from assigning meaning based on interpretation of relevance to issues of interest. This is most commonly used when direct questions are unlikely to provide enlightening responses, i.e.: asking workers about a manager's leadership style. Lastly, emergent data includes the unanticipated comments, and are often linked to unspoken cultural perspectives, and group values. This type of data can contribute to new insights and hypothesis generation. For this study, articulated data was grouped as: details about current TtP practices, perceived gaps in the TtP, suggestions to address the gaps in the TtP. There were no attributional data as there were no *a priori* hypotheses examined. Data that did not fit into one of the above categories was analyzed separately as emergent data.

A coding system to facilitate placement of reported ideas under the appropriate CanMEDS core competencies based on the Objectives of Training in RO (Royal College, 2017d) was employed. The data was collected in table form with each stakeholder group in a separate column to allow for ease of comparison of comments for each heading, and to ensure consistency of sub-headings and coding across groups (Appendices E, F, G). Emergent data was also collected in table form with each stakeholder group in a separate column to allow for inter-group comparisons and consistency of coding (Appendix H). The coding was initially completed by me. The coding was checked by the two thesis supervisors and two members of the steering committee (Dr. T. Trotter, Dr. S. Loewen).

After each focus group was transcribed, it was reviewed by me, and coded as per the above thematic analysis. After this was completed, I left the data alone for a couple of days to allow me to reflect on the data and themes, and to allow an opportunity to reflect on how my position as both a researcher and newly transitioned RO might impact on the interpretation of results. Following the first focus group, the data was reviewed with the two thesis supervisors (Dr. R.J.L. Murphy, Dr. J. Sargeant) and two external reviewers (Dr. T. Trotter, Dr. S. Loewen) to ensure accuracy of coding and to verify the first round of thematic analysis. This also allowed for clarification of the original focus group questions. This process was repeated after each subsequent focus group. After all focus group data was tabulated together, I noticed key themes under four larger categories: current TtP practices, perceived gaps in the current TtP, suggestions to address the gaps in the TtP and emergent data. These were reviewed by both the two thesis supervisors (Dr. R.J.L. Murphy, Dr. J. Sargeant) and two external reviewers (Dr. T. Trotter, Dr. S. Loewen).

The emergent data was collected in a separate table and discussed with the two thesis supervisors, from which the theme of roadblocks to the implementation of TtP curricula emerged. I also had the opportunity to discuss the data with two leaders in the field of medical education (Dr. Glenn Regehr and Dr. Kevin Eva). From these discussions, the idea to examine the unexpected/emergent finding of a perceived gap to exposure to the totality of the radiation planning process emerged. This was also discussed with the two thesis supervisors and external reviewers who agreed with this suggestion.

3.6 Role of the Investigator and Methods to Ensure

Trustworthiness

The data analysis was carried out by me, in consultation with the others as noted above. Given the proximity to my own TtP, one could consider that I am situated within the TtP process. Also, I had progressed through being a member of each of the stakeholder groups that were recruited for this study including being a senior resident, and RO fellow for two years, and new to practice RO. While I have not been a program director, I am a member of the RO residency program committee at Dalhousie University. Given this, my experiences, both positive and negative impact on how I responded to, and interpreted the data gleaned in the study. It could also have impacted how I responded to comments made during the focus groups, as those that resonated with my own experiences may have elicited a stronger response.

I used a few processes to help address these concerns, and to ensure that novel findings were not missed. I took time between each focus group to reflect on the data and how certain responses elicited different personal responses. All coding was also reviewed by and discussed with the thesis supervisors and members of the steering committee for which two were more involved (Dr. T. Trotter, Dr. S. Loewen). The review with the thesis supervisors allowed for discussion of the findings from a perspective outside of the RO TtP process, and allowed me to reflect on how my personal experiences affected my interpretation of the data.

The use of the CanMEDS framework to categorize themes, and the thematic analysis suggested by Massey (2011) was also decided upon prior to the initiation of the study. This allowed for a consistent framework from which to organize the data, and complete the first round of data analysis. Given this process, all responses were included in table form, in an attempt to ensure no comments or themes were lost, especially those that were unexpected.

3.7 Ethical Considerations

Research that involves human subjects needs to consider the impact it may have on human dignity and rights. In Canada the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS) provides standards for the ethical conduct of research (CIHR, NSERC, SSHRC 2014). Research within Canada is expected to adhere to this policy and it is used by research ethics boards (REBs) to assess for ethical flaws in the design, implementation, conduct and oversight of research. To ensure compliance with the highest ethical standards, this study obtained REB approval prior to initiating any step involving participants.

The TCPS is based on three core principles: respect for persons, concern for welfare, and justice (CIHR, NSERC, SSHRC 2014). Respect for persons encompasses the obligation to protect the autonomy of all research participants. This includes the requirement of full and informed consent prior to enrolment and on an ongoing basis. This was established through the provision of information sheets and consent forms to all prospective participants prior to involvement in the study (Appendices C,D). These included the ability to withdraw from the study at any point without punitive consequences. Participants were not enrolled prior to full informed consent and signing the consent form.

The second core principle within the TCPS is concern for welfare which encompasses the impact on individuals' physical, emotional, mental, social, and economic domains of health and wellbeing. This includes concerns about the maintenance of confidentiality of information gleaned from participants. This was addressed through all steps of data collection, analysis, synthesis and reporting through the de-identification of records. Likewise, any comments that were reported were done in a manner that prevents identification of the individual. All data is stored on a secure computer under password protection to aid in maintenance of confidentiality.

There was a concern that involving multiple different stakeholders in a single group could produce an unintentional power structure that interferes or causes limitations on discussion (DiCicco-Bloom 2006). For example, senior residents who have not yet secured a specialist role, may be hesitant to discuss their perceived competency shortcomings in the presence of RO residency program directors. Thus, each stakeholder group was represented in a single focus group to prevent this from occurring.

The final core principle within the TCPS is justice, which refers to the equitable treatment of all people. This includes equal representation of all stakeholder groups within the research. Thus, the steering committee, and focus groups were populated by representation of all stakeholder groups and all major geographical regions within Canada. All participants of each stakeholder group were presented with the same questions.

The last concern is potential conflicts of interest. This study has not received funding, thus the issue of constraints placed on reporting are not present. The results will lead to a Master of Education for the primary investigator, which may support academic promotion. There was no monetary gain associated with this project.

Chapter 4: Results

The results will be presented in a manner consistent with the sequencing of questions used during the focus groups. Thus, a brief overview of the participants, including the representation of Canadian RO residency programs will be provided. Next, articulated data, the data that directly answers the focus group questions, and thus the main research aim will be presented. These are separated under the headings of perceived gaps in the TtP and suggestions to address the gaps during the TtP. Within these two sections, the data will be categorized by CanMEDS core competency. Results in each section will identify the stakeholder group(s) addressing each CanMEDS core competency, with direct quotes which provide insight into the topic being discussed. Summaries are provided at the end of each section, with an associated table outlining the most frequently discussed topics and associated CanMEDS core competencies, by stakeholder group. The most commonly discussed areas were decided both by the number of comments and length of time the group spent discussing each point. The final section presents the emergent data, which is grouped by theme.

4.1 Participants

There were a total of twenty-six participants in the study. This included 12 program directors and members of the Royal College CBD committee, 5 new ROs, 6 senior RO residents and 3 RO fellows (Table 3). Overall, this allowed for representation of 11 of the 13 RO residency programs in Canada, as listed on the Canadian Resident

Matching Service (CaRMS) site (CaRMS 2018). The programs that were not represented were both within Quebec, and primarily French-speaking. Given that this study was conducted solely in English, language may have been a barrier to their participation.

4.2 Current Transition to Practice Curricula

The current curricula for TtP across Canada are heterogeneous and limited in scope. The RO residency program directors or members of the RO specialty committee CBD working group included 12 participants, representing 11 of the 13 (84.6%) post-graduate RO residency programs in Canada (CaRMS 2018). One participant was from a RO department that did not have a RO residency program. Thus, this group provided the best comprehensive information regarding the current use of a TtP curriculum. Five programs (45.4%) reported having a TtP curriculum, four (36.4%) did not, and the data was unknown for the remaining four programs (Table 3). For the other three stakeholder groups, less than 50% of participants reported having a formal TtP curriculum. The majority of TtP curricula occurred after the licensing examination, with a length ranging from one month to one year (resident longitudinal clinic).

	Number	Presence of TtP	Timing TtP	Length
		curriculum		
Program	12 (84.6%)	Yes: 5 (45.4%)	After exam: 3	Unknown: 1
directors &		No: 4 (36.4%)	1yr prior to	2mo: 1
CBD		Unknown: 3	exam (RLC*):	3mo: 1
committee			1	12mos: 1
			Unknown/no:	24 patients:
			9	1
New ROs	5	Yes: 1		
		No: 1		
		Unknown: 3		
Senior	6	Yes: 2		
residents		No: 3		
		Unknown: 1		
Fellows	3	Yes: 1	After exam: 1	2mo: 1
		Unknown: 2		

Table 3: Current Transition to Practice Curricula

*RLC: resident longitudinal clinic

Blank: data not acquired

Amongst the stakeholder groups there were a few common themes with respect to the drivers and content of TtP curricular content. All groups had at least one participant mention that the level of supervision depended upon the staff with whom the resident was assigned. Related to this there was also the comment that "the amount of autonomy you have really depends on the preceptor that you're working with. So I could potentially have more responsibility as a R2 [second year resident]..." However, resident driven content was also discussed within the program directors and resident focus groups. Both groups had at least one participant at whose department the content of the TtP phase was
driven by the needs of the resident. This could manifest as a research project, teaching exposure, increased patient related responsibility or outside electives. As one program director commented: "we've just been winging it from person to person, depending what their needs are."

For programs with a formal curriculum (5), the most common activities were a resident longitudinal clinic (RLC), managing a staff practice with minimal supervision, and graduated responsibility for patient and radiation planning related tasks. For some, the graduated responsibility was reflected in formal policy and procedures for specific tasks during TtP, while for others there was a gradual increase in responsibility throughout residency.

4.3 Perceived Gaps in the Transition to Practice

The majority of the discussion around gaps in the current TtP for all groups revolved around the Leader and Medical Expert core competencies within the CanMEDS framework. Health Advocacy was not discussed, the Collaborator role received some discussion, and there were few comments within the Communicator, Professional, or Scholar domains.

4.3.1 Leader

The most commonly discussed CanMEDS core competency was Leader, although many of the comments had themes that also tied into the Medical Expert core competency. Within this domain, the most discussed topic was practice management, which included setting up and effectively running a practice, administrative duties required of staff physicians and time management skills. The program directors succinctly suggested that "senior residents don't always have an appreciation for dealing with the administrative aspects of practice." Although, the senior residents commented that this may be due to a lack of exposure, as one participant commented "what extra work the staff is doing other than the clinical service, I have no idea about that." Both program directors, and new ROs identified, that new physicians struggle with time management as "in the first few months, they suffer quite a bit in terms of everything taking longer and their day taking longer, and all their activities taking longer." This was associated with a feeling of discouragement, at least initially in the new RO group.

For effectively managing a full practice, all groups commented on the lack of exposure on how to set-up a practice, patient flow, how to manage information (charts, ordering tests), and how to effectively delegate work to other members of the healthcare team. One program director summarized the issue well: "I think residents don't appreciate how there is already organization to the clinic and the nursing staff and the clerical staff when they're working with somebody ... Once it's established, it's sort of organized, things are in place, things happen without you really having to do much. And then when they get into practice, none of that's there." The other groups echoed this, and commented on limited exposure on how to set-up a practice, with most of the exposure being in small teachable moments. A fellow commented that "as far as like the day-to-day sort of how to structure a

practice, how to organize things, I am sort of getting teachable moments here and there. But not anything sort of overt or structured or anything like that."

Another area identified by all groups was the challenge of being prepared for the transition, when there are significant institutional differences with respect to how one is paid, the role of incorporation, expectations of physicians, culture and how clinics are set-up and run. As one program director stated that the TtP is especially difficult "if you go to a different centre, you're going to have orientation because you don't know how they do things." This may be compounded by challenges with respect to finding some of this information, as one new RO commented that the challenges associated with practice management was "not so much actually in the clinical work but in the expectations of what it means to be an attending at an institution, and all of the departmental policies. I'm sure they're written somewhere but no one even told me like where to find them." This issue was echoed by other participants in all the stakeholder groups.

Another large area of discussion was around business management (including billing and income) and the corollary of contract negotiation and career planning. All groups stated a lack of exposure to how to bill for services, or how to manage income. A senior resident commented that "because we don't know enough about it [billing] to know when we should start learning about it." The new ROs also brought up many related themes around the discussion of billing and pay: "I always found that it was very hush-hush thing where I trained," and "you're almost afraid to ask anybody because like money is like really bad to talk about supposedly." The program directors echoed this as one said "how we're paid and the business management, and incorporation versus salaried, and is there a pension, and all that kind of stuff, that information is not really disclosed."

For contract negotiation, all groups reported having a lack of exposure to developing skills to negotiate a contract. Fellows and new ROs comment that part of this is related to the current poor job market in which residents and fellows will take any available job without negotiating or asking questions. Fellows and new ROs suggested that part of this gap is related to underdeveloped skills "for finding a job and navigating through the system and trying to understand where our goal is." One fellow suggested that part of this is understanding how to make one's self marketable in a tough job environment.

Less discussed themes within the Leader core competency included exposure to leadership roles, and enacting change. Both program directors and senior residents noted a lack of exposure to chairing tumor site groups or departmental committees. Senior residents felt that part of this was due to staff taking over the discussion around patients after a resident presented the initial details. The new RO group also commented on the challenges enacting change in a department. This was related to a feeling that "I wanted to conform but also, you know, gradually bring in some ideas that maybe I picked up during fellowship." This group commented however, that "it's a delicate art. And it's not something that of course is ever addressed in residency."

4.3.2 Medical Expert

The second most discussed CanMEDS competency was the Medical Expert. Within this domain, the majority of comments specifically dealt with insufficient exposure to the radiation therapy planning process. Some participants cited no, or very limited exposure to the final quality assurance of radiation therapy plans, and the verification of images taken during radiation therapy. The program directors also reported receiving feedback from residents that training regarding assessment of images taking during radiation therapy was poor. New ROs also brought forth that some of the challenges are related to institutional differences, and whether there are protocols in place for standardization of the planning process steps. One fellow suggested another barrier to gaining experience in this domain was the presence of fellows when they were a resident, which lead to questions regarding the treatment planning process being directed to the fellows instead of to residents, resulting in a feeling "that I'm not a part of the whole process. And that really affects your comfort level."

This theme led into a few other minor themes, including the sense of ultimate responsibility for patient care, and the continuity of care. Both program directors and fellows commented on the stress of having ultimate responsibility for patient care as a new staff physician. One fellow said "you don't necessarily get quite that same experience in residency unless you have a staff who is very comfortable with letting you drive." The program directors had many thoughts on this including: that "they [new ROs] are new at being responsible for everything, they tend to check and second-guess things" and "I think the most overwhelming thing was to learn how to take charge of a patient from A to Z, knowing that it's your patient."

The new RO group focused more on the long-term management of patients. Specifically, "it's what happens after you do the contours that you don't really get a lot of experience with as a resident because you're seeing so many new patients," and "it's the continuity that often gets lost." The fellows had similar comments, with respect to insufficient exposure to not just reviewing and approving radiation therapy plans, but also the longitudinal follow-up of patients including symptom management.

Two other topics that were discussed by the new RO group as being gaps in the current resident curriculum were triaging new consults and completing forms. New ROs suggested that triaging patients was "a whole new clinical skill that I didn't have," and that "it took a lot of time initially to try and figure out. Like everything seemed urgent right away. And then you kind of start to realize, okay, what actually is, and what is a safe time to see them in." The other skill discussed by the new RO group was the accurate completion of medical forms. This group described frustration around not knowing how to complete forms such as patient insurance forms, or forms to order radiation therapy or even who to ask for help. One new RO commented that "I don't understand how to order tests, I don't know what forms to fill out to get patients treated. I don't even know who to ask when I don't know the answer to a question. So that's certainly very frustrating."

4.3.3 Collaborator

Within the Collaboration domain, two main themes emerged and were congruent within the groups that were on the same side of the TtP at the time of the focus group. Specifically, program directors and new ROs (post-TtP process) focused on lack of experience with collaboration with other members on the radiation therapy treatment team, while fellows and residents (pre-completion of the TtP process) focused on the challenges of being involved in radiation therapy decisions. For the post-TtP groups, there were comments about "When I came, I said let's start doing this. And then sometimes it is misinterpreted as, oh look, this person is just going to waltz on in and take over," and a realization that senior residents were not involved enough in discussions regarding radiation planning. The new RO group also reported not having experience with ensuring proper communication with other health care providers over the telephone. Fellows and residents echoed each other with the sentiment that residents are often excluded in discussions around patient management by other health care team members because "they don't sometimes know which rotation we're on" or "it's easier for them to just call the staff because sometimes we'll have to call the staff anyway." A fellow summarized the impact of this behaviour with the comment that "unwantedly, sometimes a resident gets excluded from the process of longitudinal care. And I think that's something that is very important."

4.3.4 Communicator

Only the program director and new RO groups discussed perceived gaps in communication. In both stakeholder groups the main theme was lack of clarity and teaching around effective documentation especially for technical documents such as radiation therapy completion notes, and insurance forms. One program director summarized this concern by saying "The radiation, the completion notes that we do, and documentation that we do. Nobody is actually talking about what to do." The program director group also commented that there is a lack of training and exposure around how to have a meaningful conversation with your chair and/or head of the department.

4.3.5 Professional

Both the program directors and new ROs focused on physician wellness within the Professional domain; specifically, how to manage a work-life balance and who can help when you are struggling. There were no comments from fellows or residents within this domain.

4.3.6 Scholar

Program directors also discussed professional development, in specific ensuring maintenance of certification through the Royal College, and documentation for future applications for academic promotion. With the impending implementation of CBD, there was also a comment by a program director that there is a gap from the faculty perspective on "observing residents or figuring out how to interact with them." The sole resident comment was about an interest in gaining experience with mentoring and teaching.

4.3.7 Mentorship

In addition to perceived gaps in specific CanMEDS core competencies, both the new RO and RO fellows groups felt that availability of explicit mentorship was a gap in the current TtP process. One fellow commented that "I guess that's [mentorship] the part that might be missing from some of the residency programs." All groups discussed how mentors could be employed as a resource to address the gaps discussed above and topics not covered in the formal curriculum.

4.3.8 Summary

There is a breadth of perceived gaps in the current TtP for RO residents. The most commonly discussed issues that were brought up by all stakeholder groups, included lack of exposure to practice management and the nuances of the radiation treatment planning process (Table 4). The most commonly discussed gaps were decided both by the number of comments and length of time the group spent discussing each point. For each stakeholder group, the most discussed perceived gaps are listed in descending order of discussion. Thus, the topic that most the most discussed is listed first. These were included within the Leader and Medical Expert CanMEDS domains respectively. Other concerns that were brought forth by three groups included lack of knowledge and exposure to billing and financial management, and recognizing and having exposure to how practices are run at various institutions. Both of these are within the CanMEDS Leader domain. Contract negotiation and career planning were discussed in detail by both the RO fellows and senior RO residents groups. Competencies within the CanMEDS Professional, Scholar, Collaborator and Communicator domains were infrequently discussed. Health Advocator was not discussed at all.

	CanMEDS core	5 most commonly discussed competencies	
	competency		
Program	Communicator	Creation/provision of clear, precise, appropriate	
directors		records of clinical encounters and treatment plans	
and CBD	Leader	Practice management – setting up & efficiently	
committee		running a clinical practice	
	Medical Expert	Ultimate responsibility – providing independent care	
		for patients, time management	
	Leader	Understanding physician remuneration, budgeting	
		and financial planning	
	Medical Expert	Radiation planning process	
New ROs	Leader	Understanding physician remuneration, budgeting	
		and financial planning	
	Leader	Institutional differences – understanding the structure	
		and function of the health care system, and how it varies by jurisdiction	
	Leader	Practice management – setting up & efficiently	

 Table 4: Most discussed perceived gaps in the TtP

		running a clinical practice, time management	
	Collaboration	Working with other health professionals to work as	
		part of an effective team	
	Medical Expert	Radiation planning process	
RO fellows	Medical Expert	Radiation planning process	
	Leader	Practice management – setting up & efficiently	
		running a clinical practice	
	Leader	Contract negotiation and career planning	
	Leader	Institutional differences – understanding the structure	
		and function of the health care system, and how it	
		varies by jurisdiction	
Senior RO	Leader	Practice management – setting up & efficiently	
residents		running a clinical practice	
	Leader	Understanding physician remuneration, budgeting	
		and financial planning	
	Leader	Contract negotiation and career planning	
	Leader	Institutional differences – understanding the structure	
		and function of the health care system, and how it	
		varies by jurisdiction	
	Medical Expert	Radiation planning process	

4.4 Suggestions to Address the Gaps during the TtP

For suggestions to improve the TtP in RO, there were no comments with respect to Communicator, Collaborator, Health Advocator or Professional competencies. The majority of suggestions were to address perceived gaps within the Leader and Medical Expert domains. There were also, numerous suggestions that did not directly fit within a specific CanMEDS core competency, which are presented at the end of this section.

4.4.1 Leader

Most of the discussions around suggestions to address gaps during the TtP curriculum within the Leader domain focused on improving practice and business management. The program director group suggested that teaching around practice and business management should begin during the junior residency years. A senior resident echoed this, with the suggestion of early introduction of discussion around practice and business management with scaffolding of knowledge over time. The new RO group had numerous suggestions for integration of practice management during a residency TtP curriculum including running a staff physician clinic independently, or covering a staff physician's practice including the pager with minimal oversight. They also suggested that new specialists may consider shorter clinics or longer appointments to account for inefficiencies associated with starting a new position. Fellows and senior residents suggested teaching from staff regarding how to structure a practice and the decisions around why they are structured thus. Senior residents suggested mandatory teaching sessions around practice management, or incorporation of this topic at the annual RO refresher course. However, fellows also posit that "it's not [just] about teaching, it's about self-learning that comes with the volume."

For hands-on practice management experience, all groups brought forth the idea of a senior resident longitudinal clinic (RLC). Program directors suggested that

the benefit of a RLC would be that "residents can figure out how they want to manage a practice and how they want to do their follow-up, and have more kind of responsibility that's in a longer time period." This sentiment was echoed within the other groups. The other groups also suggested that a RLC would also provide a protected environment for longitudinal learning, exposure to ultimate patient responsibility and increased experience with the radiation planning process (including plan assessment). A senior resident who participated in a RLC reported that "I think that's been a really helpful exercise. It was a lot of extra work but it was also a helpful exercise in learning how to manage [a practice]."

All stakeholder groups discussed methods to improve business management skills and knowledge. Formal teaching courses through a known physician entity such as the Canadian Medical Association (CMA), at the annual national Canadian preparatory course in clinical and RO, or during the resident refresher course at the Canadian Association of Radiation Oncology (CARO) annual scientific meeting were suggested. Other suggestions included a formal workshop around career and financial planning through the local post-graduate medical education department at the associated universities. A senior resident also suggested "open and honest discussions about things like salaries, benefits, and modes of reimbursement. Things that don't always come up on a day to day basis and a lot of people aren't comfortable talking about." This sentiment was also brought forth in the new RO and fellow groups.

Contract negotiation and career planning was discussed within all groups except the program directors. One senior resident reported that there was a course

offered through the post-graduate medical education office regarding this topic that was useful. Other suggestions included formal teaching on contract negotiation, or discussion with staff physicians. All three groups (except the program directors) suggested a need for improved information about interviewing skills, how to organize a fellowship to align with long-term career goals and negotiating a contract, but did not cite how these could be best introduced into a TtP curriculum.

Improving leadership opportunities was discussed within the new RO and resident groups. Both groups commented that it was not just about participating in tumor board discussions, but also "establishing your role in the tumor board environment, and having other specialties listen to you, and actually you being an active contributor." Thus, they suggested active participation in discussions instead of merely attending meetings.

4.4.2 Medical Expert

The majority of the discussion around methods to address the perceived gaps in the Medical Expert domain involved increasing participation and exposure to the radiation therapy planning process, and increased responsibility for patient care. All groups cited that the use of a senior RLC would be of benefit for exposing residents to the radiation planning process. The fellows and senior residents suggested that having the opportunity to sit down with radiation therapy planning specialties (physics and dosimetry) to discuss the nuances of treatment planning would be beneficial. However, the senior resident group also suggested that "being

more attentive, and some of that is self-directed, and following through on the plans we do" is also part of the learning process. The senior residents suggested that the more technical aspects of radiation therapy planning would be best taught in the senior years as the residents would have better foundational knowledge.

A teaching strategy that was discussed in detail in the senior resident group was the creation of a radiation planning process block. This block would be completed by a transitioning senior resident. During it, the resident would be the first person contacted to resolve any technical issues related to the radiation planning process, including at CT simulation, challenges with patient set-up on the treatment units, or with radiation therapy plans. One senior resident commented that the benefits of such a block would be exposure to "what questions the dosimetrists are asking staff, or the radiation therapists are asking…those, you know, clinical real live things I need to learn how to answer."

The other common discussion point within the Medical Expert domain was exposure to ultimate patient responsibility. Beyond the introduction of a RLC, there were not many suggestions. As one new RO commented "I don't know what the best way to impart that knowledge... We've talked a lot about like a gap being like how does that process work? And maybe it is just kind of getting more experience and being put in that position." Other suggestions were having staff delegate more tasks to transitioning residents with less oversight, or ensuring all staff involved in RO patient care are aware to call the transitioning resident first. One new RO suggested that the resident has to be proactive by "going down to see simulations, going down to see treatment, [and] approving plans." The fellow group also suggested that being exposed to ongoing patient care would be helpful. Suggestions put forth included keeping track of patients and their tests to ensure you continue to follow them post-treatment, or asking the staff specialist to call/page you to see patients when they return. This group commented that the continuity of care issue is part of the ultimate responsibility of patient care over their entire oncologic journey. The other suggestion put forth by the fellow group was exposure to triaging new patient referrals. However, specific suggestions on how to incorporate this within aTtP curriculum was not addressed.

4.4.3 Scholar

Each group discussed at least one aspect of the Scholar competency that could be incorporated into a TtP curriculum. The program directors discussed the need to build a file or curriculum vitae that could be used for documentation for promotion. Suggestions included teaching around what is required for promotion and how to collect the necessary documentation on an ongoing basis. Both new ROs and program directors mentioned research, although the new RO group was clearer on goals of incorporation into a curriculum. They specifically suggested teaching on "how to write a grant, how to write a manuscript, [and] how to apply for ethics [approval]."

Senior residents and new ROs suggested provision of more exposure to teaching. A senior resident commented that "I know a lot of it [teaching] just kind of comes naturally and just with experience. But I think to some degree, it would be nice to see some graduated teaching responsibility." Other group members suggested formal training through the post-graduate medical education office or during academic half-day teaching.

4.4.4 Collaborator

The new RO group was the only group to discuss methods to improve collaboration skills. These suggestions were aimed more for new to practice specialists. Specificially, one new RO commented that "I kind of wish that I would have... said a statement at the very beginning – I understand that in the next few months I'm going to ask for things that are not going to be the way you like to do it. You know, just basically alerting about the problem." Another suggested asking questions of all members of the RO team (physics, dosimetrists, radiation therapists) during the start of a new staff position. There were no suggestions from any group as to how to improve collaborative skills during residency.

4.4.5 Other

Numerous other suggestions to improve the TtP in RO were put forth that could not be categorized into a CanMEDS domain. These include the use of onboarding for new staff physicians, mentorship, peer support, helpful hints, suggestions for teaching strategies, tailoring the TtP curriculum to resident needs, completing outside electives and fostering national collaboration. Mentorship and a list of helpful hints were brought forth by all groups.

All groups felt that mentorship should be an essential part to the TtP. The strength provided by a mentorship program, as described by a program director, is that "those things that aren't directly related to patient care could be done together with a mentor." The new RO group also suggested that the mentorship role should include coaching of a new or transitioning physician, and being someone with whom you feel safe discussing radiation therapy treatment conundrums. Fellows highlighted the role of the mentor in helping the resident build confidence: "I would like to really underline the importance of this mentorship thing. That would be very helpful moving into that spot that you are confident in your abilities as an independent decision-maker." The senior resident group added that "the mentor should know you better as an individual; what your tastes are, what your preferences are, what your restrictions are." However, this group also cautioned that there has to be a good relationship that isn't forced, otherwise the discussion would not be useful. Other topics that were suggested that a mentor could discuss included practice and business management, investment, networking, and negotiating a contract. The new RO group also discussed the role of peer support. They suggested that "even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped."

The other suggestion that was supported by each group was a list of 'helpful hints' that could be provided to transitioning residents. These could include a "top 20 things that you will have to do in the first year of practice," "a list of not

necessarily skill sets but things that would be considered ideal practice," or a list of "the hidden aspects of the transition to practice." Other suggestions were the opportunity to "pick the brain of like some new staff... and just have them say here's what works, here's what doesn't work," and what you need to know to survive in practice.

The new RO group suggested creating a new designation for residents in a TtP curriculum to let staff know they have a new role with increased responsibilities. The senior residents also put forth the idea to create business cards for residents in a TtP curriculum or completing a RLC as it "facilitates them taking ownership... then they're the point of contact when that patient has questions or needs a form completed... I know sometimes it's a hassle but I think overall it really teaches them how to be independent."

All groups, except the RO fellows, suggested that the TtP curriculum should be tailored to resident needs. Specifically it could be tailored to either the sites the resident will be treating in fellowship or as a specialist, or to their personal interests and career aspirations. The senior resident group also suggested that a TtP curriculum may provide the opportunity to "pursue some of those things that kind of get clouded over in training." The new RO group suggested a method of picking one of three topics to focus on. Specifically "you have to do either education or research or administration."

The new RO group suggested sending senior residents to other centers or satellite centers. They reported that this can lead to better exposure to the heterogeneity of practice that exists within Canada and abroad. One of the strengths of this practice is that it forces learners to think through why decisions regarding patient management are made the way they are and what other options are available. It was suggested that a two to three month block would allow the learner a more longitudinal exposure, and a better understanding of how that center operates.

Both groups that have transitioned to independent practice (program directors, new ROs) discussed the role of onboarding programs for new physicians. These programs could help cover some of the practice and business aspects of new positions. Both groups suggested this option is helpful as it is institution specific. The new RO group also commented that having a champion who is willing to create and maintain an orientation package can be of benefit. However, what should be included was not clearly described.

4.4.6 Teaching strategies

There were a few comments about teaching strategies that could be employed during a TtP curriculum that were not skills or knowledge dependent. Specifically, the new RO group suggested that learning during a TtP curriculum is "going to have to be hands-on. Like real workplace-based learning." The senior resident group suggested adding not clinical skills topics, especially practice and business management, negotiating a contract and career planning, to the annual RO pre-examination refresher course. The senior resident group also suggested the use

of simulation. They suggested it could be used to troubleshoot challenges with radiation therapy treatment and planning and multidisciplinary interactions.

4.4.7 Summary

The most commonly discussed suggestions for addressing the perceived gaps in the current TtP for RO residents fell within the Leader and Medical Expert CanMEDS domains (Table 5). The only suggestion brought forth by all groups was the central role of mentorship during the transition process, which incorporates all CanMEDS competencies as it was suggested it could help address any areas of concern not directly addressed by the forma curriculum. The most commonly discussed areas were decided both by the number of comments and length of time the group spent discussing each point. For each stakeholder group, the most discussed perceived suggestions are listed in descending order of discussion. Thus, the topic that most the most discussed is listed first. These included discussion of methods to improve exposure and expertise in financial management, and contract negotiation and career planning. These were discussed in three of the stakeholder groups. Continuity of care and the use of a resident longitudinal clinic (RLC) were also discussed in three stakeholder groups, which has overlap in both the Leader and Medical Expert domains. Methods to improve exposure and expertise to the radiation planning process were discussed in the RO fellows and RO senior residents groups. Specific methods to aid in increasing competencies during residency included use of simulation, a dedicated radiation planning block, lectures

during the regularly scheduled academic learning, and courses (Table 5). For new to practice ROs, both peer support and the use of on-boarding programs were suggested.

5 most commonly discussed areas	Suggestions to address the
(suggestions for curricula)	gap
ors and CBD committee	
Mentorship for senior residents and	Discuss: topics not covered in
new Radiation Oncologists	current curricula
Understanding physician	Educational resources,
remuneration, budgeting and financial	mentorship
planning	
Longitudinal practice and patient	RLC, simulation
management	
Longitudinal documentation for	Creating and managing a CV
planning promotion	
Helpful hints/tricks	List by specialists, and
	previous graduates
Oncologists	
Ultimate responsibility – providing	RLC, graded responsibility
independent care for patients, time	
management	
On-boarding program	Orientation package and
	formal mentoring for new
	specialists
Longitudinal practice and patient	RLC, graded responsibility
management	
^Complete outside electives	Spend time at another
	institution
Understanding physician	Educational resources, course
remuneration, budgeting and financial	(local or national)
planning	
	5 most commonly discussed areas (suggestions for curricula) ors and CBD committee Mentorship for senior residents and new Radiation Oncologists Understanding physician remuneration, budgeting and financial planning Longitudinal practice and patient management Longitudinal documentation for planning promotion Helpful hints/tricks Oncologists Ultimate responsibility – providing independent care for patients, time management On-boarding program Longitudinal practice and patient management On-boarding program

Table 5: Most discussed suggestions to address the perceived gaps in the TtP

Scholar	Implementing strategies to ensure	Course, mentorship
	personal practice improvement:	
	contract negotiation and career	
	planning	
Radiation Onco	logy fellows	
Leader	Practice management – setting up &	Discuss with specialist,
	efficiently running a clinical practice	mentorship
Scholar	Implementing strategies to ensure	Course
	personal practice improvement:	
	contract negotiation and career	
	planning	
Medical Expert	Radiation planning process	More exposure with graded
		responsibility, discussions with
		staff
Medical Expert	Longitudinal practice and patient	RLC, discussions with staff,
/ Leader	management	mentorship, self-directed
All	Mentorship for senior residents and	Discuss/help improve clinical
	new Radiation Oncologists	confidence
Senior Radiatio	n Oncology residents	
Medical Expert	Radiation planning process	More exposure with graded
		responsibility, self-directed
		learning, course (local,
		national), curricular block
All	Mentorship for senior residents and	Career goal setting,
	new Radiation Oncologists	networking, practice
		management, remuneration,
		(topics not covered in
		curricula)
Scholar	Teaching	Graded responsibility, course
Leader	Understanding physician	Course (local, national),

	remuneration, budgeting and financial	workshop, mentorship		
	planning			
Leader	Implementing strategies to ensure	Course (local, national),		
	personal practice improvement:	mentorship		
	contract negotiation and career			
	planning			
Teaching	For senior residents			
methods not	• Simulation, dedicated block: radiation planning processes and			
otherwise	troubleshooting problems			
discussed	Annual pre-examination refresher course: add non-clinical			
	topics (administration, billing and pay, contract negotiation and			
	career planning, practice management, helpful hints/tricks)			
	• Academic courses/half day lectures: documentation,			
	teaching/feedback, research (grant and manuscript writing),			
	billing and pay, practice management			
	• Tailor TtP to individual resident needs			
	For new to practice specialists			
	• Peer support			

^Outside elective: a period of time that a resident spends at a Radiation Oncology

department, other than the one at which they are training.

CV: Curriculum vitae

RLC: Resident longitudinal clinic

4.5 Emergent Data

The final block of data involves emergent data – data that were unexpected and/or did not directly address the predetermined study questions. These data were further categorized into the following categories: roadblocks to an effective TtP curriculum, the culture of medicine, and thoughts regarding the role of national collaboration in devising new curricula under the CBD framework. The majority of the comments within this section addressed the perceived current roadblocks to an effective TtP curriculum.

4.5.1 Roadblocks to the Implementation of TtP Curricula

4.5.1.1 Staff buy-in and perceptions of senior residents

The most discussed barrier to an effective TtP curriculum, as discussed by all groups, involved challenges with staff buy-in and knowledge of expectations of residents who are within the transitional period. Program directors reported that "although we think it is clear that there should be more graduated responsibility and looking after the practice in a more independent way, it's not entirely clear that all the faculty knows that as well." The new RO group suggested that despite requirements from the Royal College around the necessity of a TtP curriculum, it is "the people who are actually on the ground doing the training, the rad one staff, [that] have to be willing to divest themselves of a level of oversight and responsibility." Both the new RO group and senior resident groups suggested that buy-in is essential not just for physicians, but for all specialities with whom the RO residents would interact. The new RO group also brought up the culture of medicine with respect to how senior residents are viewed: "this whole concept of I'm going to book in extra patients because I have a trainee. Like that's the culture." Another new RO supported this concept with the comment "I think though, we have to realize that like the point of having a training program is not to have extra staff to do your work."

4.5.1.2 Historical view of fellows

The fellows group brought forth the thought that there is an "assumption that residents are not supposed to transition into practice right after residency in Canada," and that "there has been this new kind of tradition of people doing multiple fellowships." The program director and new RO group also commented that completing at least one fellowship has become the norm due to the relative job shortage. Both of these groups commented that fellowship, with its increase in responsibility helps with transitioning to practice especially with respect to practice management, and organization.

This discussion led into further comments about how this underlying theme led to a change in how senior residents are perceived. A RO fellow summarized their thoughts by commenting: "I think the programs are kind of capitalizing on that [residents doing fellowships prior to starting a staff physician position]. Saying that, well, as a fellow they would learn how to transition into practice." Thus, this group felt that a lot of the TtP knowledge and skills were not addressed during residency, on the assumption this could be learned during a fellowship.

4.5.1.3 Logistical (Including software), Medico-legal

The program directors, new ROs and senior residents all discussed logistical and medico-legal barriers to an effective TtP curriculum. The program directors commented that "the challenges of logistics – nursing and clerks, and stuff like that – has been a problem." This was also echoed within the senior resident group. However, the senior residents and program directors also discussed the limitations of the treatment planning software in that "being able to review treatment images or sign off on plans and prescriptions, a lot of those things we don't have the privileges to do on the software." This group suggests that the result is that any post-contouring (the process of defining the volume to be treated with radiation therapy, and outlining the normal anatomical structures for which one wants to limit the radiation dose received) treatment decisions are ignored.

The new RO group discussed the medico-legal implications of a TtP curriculum in which the residents have more responsibilities. Specifically, whether the TtP portion will be post-Royal College certification and determining the level of medico-legal responsibility. One new RO commented that "if I had a resident underneath who was in transition to practice but I'm medico-legally responsible, I'm going to be much more hands-on than if they had something more akin to if they were a staff on their own." The group also suggested that this issue may be related to challenges with staff buy-in.

4.5.1.4 Historical exam timing & time allocated for TtP

One of the main issues of the previous residency training model, was that the Royal College certification examination was within 3 months of the end of the program. This led to challenges with a TtP curriculum as many residents would take vacation after the exam. The senior residents also suggested that "there's a tendency, at least at my centre, to 'check out' a little bit after the Royal College [exam]." The new ROs, fellows and senior residents all commented that the certification examination is a big distraction making it difficult to teach or introduce a curriculum in the months leading up to the examination.

All groups supported the placement of a TtP curriculum after the Royal College certification examination. The new RO groups commented that "I like that it's going to be after the exam... in a safer kind of environment where the trainee is not feeling the pressure of the exam" and "I remember the day after I wrote my exam, I felt like I could actually have an opinion." The fellows suggested that "then you can sort of focus on practical – okay, this is how I'm going to structure my practice. Instead of oh my gosh, I have to memorize every single detail of Quantec."

The program directors group suggested that six months should be the minimum length of a TtP curriculum, but the final length was debated between six months up to one year, or being resident dependent. The other three groups did not discuss a numeric length of a TtP curriculum. However, the fellow group also discussed how TtP should be a process through the final two years of training with a gradual increase in responsibility.

4.5.2 The Culture of Medicine

The culture of medicine, and specifically the role of the hidden curriculum and its impact on the transitional process was discussed within all stakeholder groups. The themes that emerged included the perception of staff physicians as the ultimate knowledge holders and decision makers, the implied value of residents, and the presence of topics that are considered taboo for discussion. These are further examined below.

4.5.2.1 Staff as the ultimate knowledge holders and decision makers

Both the new RO and senior resident groups discussed how staff physicians are perceived as infallible with respect to medical knowledge and decision making. A new RO summarized this by commenting that "there are some rigid radiation oncologists that want to do the plan their way, are not willing to accept other perfectly acceptable way of doing things." The senior resident group also commented that they are often excluded from decision making roles. Instead they are relegated to presenting patient stories, and are then expected to listen while specialists discuss the nuances of management.

This theme was also described in how other health professionals, members of the RO care team, interacted with senior residents. One senior resident commented that other health professionals "don't always want to check the schedule because it's an extra step for them. And then it's easier for them to just call the staff." For treatment decision making a RO fellow supported this idea by commenting that "people who are seeing the patient... during radiation direct the patient to staff because they know that it's the staff who has the answers rather than the residents." This suggests that senior residents are perceived as peripheral members of the patient care team. This perception is held not just by physicians but also by other health care providers.

4.5.2.2 Implied value of residents

Both the senior resident and new RO groups discussed how they felt residents were valued. One senior resident reported on a discussion they experienced with a staff physician. When discussing being more involved in treatment planning decisions, they reported that "the staff said, 'I'm sorry, our responsibilities are to, you know, get the list clear as fast as possible.'" This suggests that the need to complete tasks supersedes a resident's learning needs.

A similar topic discussed was the use of senior residents by staff physicians to increase their clinical capacity. On this topic, one new RO raised the question, "will... centre[s] be willing to part with their senior residents who are able to... carry a higher burden of the clinical practice?" Another new RO quipped that "the point of having a training program is not to have extra staff to do your work." This topic was also briefly discussed in the other groups, but more obliquely. The program director group suggested that some staff will require more training and buy-in to ensure there are adequate learning opportunities and appropriate graded responsibility for senior residents. These comments suggest that this is a recognized problem with select physicians, and one that has yet to be addressed. Although one new RO suggested that one way to address this problem was that "if you have someone who's not going to play then I would just say okay, you're not going to get senior [resident]."

4.5.2.3 Hidden curriculum, taboo topics

All stakeholder groups talked about how some topics seemed to be consistently overlooked from inclusion in formal curricula, or were considered a topic not to be discussed. One topic that was brought up in each group was a hesitance to discuss financial issues, especially physician remuneration. As one program director commented, "they [senior residents] don't know anything about how they get paid. And we haven't been very good at educating them on that." This was perceived as a huge problem by a new RO who suggested that "money is a very important thing once you start becoming a staff. And a lot of people get really up in arms about it." Another RO also discussed how this topic was seen to be taboo as she observed that "you're almost afraid to ask anybody because like money is like really bad to talk about supposedly." Taken together, these comments suggest that everyone agrees that the physician remuneration is important to discuss, but no one wants to discuss it. Interestingly, the suggestions to address this gap included formal courses at the national level (i.e. at annual meetings) or through the use of mentorship. Mentorship was brought up by all stakeholder groups as a modality to gain exposure to or discuss the competencies not covered by the formal curriculum.

4.5.3 National Collaboration

A final point that was raised by the new RO group was the role of national collaboration in the creation, implementation and improvement of new curricula within the CBD framework. In specific, one new RO suggested that "we all have national [mandated CBD] curricula... the Royal College subcommittee on rad onc but also CARO is a great avenue to be leveraging a lot of this kind of stuff." This was supported by the other members, in that CBD provides a unique opportunity to work together as a community to create a consistent TtP curriculum across Canada. Other suggestions included working with larger organizations such as the ASTRO education committee to ensure we learn and improve as a community.

4.6 Summary

Approximately half of the Canadian RO residency programs have a TtP curriculum, for which the content and length are highly variable. The most commonly cited gaps during this transitional period were found within the Leader and Medical Expert CanMEDS domains, and specifically included exposure to, and experience in practice management; understanding physician remuneration, budgeting and financial planning; the impact of institutional differences (including structure and function of the health care systems and how it varies by jurisdiction); and lack of experience with all aspects of the radiation therapy planning process. Suggestions to address these gaps were numerous, and included provision of education resources, courses and lectures, improved graded responsibility, participation in a RLC, mentorship, creation of a block specific to radiation treatment planning, use of simulation, increased participation in tumor boards, creating and managing a curriculum vitae, spending time at another institution, peer support, onboarding programs, and creating a list of 'helpful hints'. Each stakeholder group also discussed perceived roadblocks to the implementation of a TtP curriculum. These included: logistical and software limitations, medico-legal concerns, poor staff buy-in, the historical placement of the certification examination (previously within three months of final graduation from residency), and staff perceptions of the role of fellowship (perceived as the period for transitioning). The culture of medicine, and specifically the role of the hidden curriculum and its impact on the transitional process was discussed within all the stakeholder groups. The themes that emerged included the perception of staff physicians as the ultimate knowledge holders and decision makers, the implied value of residents, and the presence of topics that are considered taboo for discussion. There was also support for national collaboration for the creation and improvement of TtP curricula.

Chapter 5: Discussion

5.1 Inter-Group Comparison

While there was significant overlap in the perceived gaps within the current TtP for ROs voiced by the various stakeholder groups, the perspectives on these gaps were different. On closer examination each group had a unique perspective on each perceived gap, with similarities most noted in the groups that were in the 'pre-practice' position versus the 'post-practice' position. Pre-practice for this discussion refers to those who have not yet started a full-time specialist position, and include the RO senior residents and RO fellows. Post-practice refers to the new to practice ROs and members of the RO specialty committee CBD working group who have experience as a specialist.

One example of the difference between the pre- and post-practice group is highlighted within the discussions regarding collaboration with other health care professionals. New ROs discussed this topic from the perspective of the challenges of starting a position and not knowing about the nuances of the institutional culture and existing relationships which could lead to discord. The perspectives of the RO fellows and senior residents were similar, as their discussion focused more on the perception that they were left out of treatment related discussions due to their more junior status. This suggests that while all groups see collaboration as a gap, the cause of this could be exclusion of learners from treatment decision making during residency training, or lack of knowledge of the culture and guidelines within an institution and challenges with relationships between other health care professionals. There are a few studies that also listed collaboration skills as being among the most noted perceived gaps during the TtP (Beckett 2006, Brouns 2010, Card 2006, Kite 2006, Morrow 2009, Sachdeva 2014). Interestingly, Kite (2006) reported that the most significant stressor for new specialists was relationships with other health care providers, while the senior resident group listed knowledge and skills as being a larger source of stress. Morrow (2009) also reported that senior residents felt excluded from meetings and important decisions. There is also literature to support that a feeling of inclusion can enhance learning and improve the transitional process (Shiner 2013, Wiener-Ogilvie 2014, Westerman 2010).

Another area that was widely discussed by all stakeholder groups, that also highlights the differences between the pre- and post-practice groups, was the lack of exposure to practice management. This includes time and resource management, clinic scheduling, paperwork, manpower and appropriate delegation of tasks. Understandably, the post-practice groups were able to discuss the gaps within practice management with more nuances and details. These groups included discussions around organizational challenges, as well as managing departmental expectations of specialists. The comments from the pre-practice group were more general, with recognition that they lack the exposure to understand what managing a practice entails. This suggests that while there is agreement about a lack of exposure to practice management, the scope of that gap may not be appreciated by the pre-practice group, as most specialists with whom they work have an established practice. This is very well supported in the literature, across all specialities (Beckett 2006, Brouns 2010, Brown 2009, Busari 2011, Card 2006, Crosson
2011, Dijkstra 2015, Fakhry 2007, Gill 2007, Griffin 2010, Higgins 2005, Lynch 2003, McDonnell 2007, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010).

A unique area of discussion was the perceived gap in exposure to the totality of the radiation therapy planning process. This was unexpected as the radiation planning process is one of the core roles of a RO, and thus this competency falls within the Medical Expert domain. This is in contrast to the available literature for which most report that new to practice medical specialists feel confident with their clinical competencies (Beckett 2006, Brown 2009, Card 2006, Crosson 2011, Dijkstra 2015, Griffin 2010, Li 2017, Lynch 2003, McDonnel 2007, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010). For this perceived gap all stakeholder groups stated a lack of exposure to all steps of the planning process that occur through interaction with the treatment planning system (TPS). However, when one further examines the suggestions put forth to improve this, the dichotomy between and pre- and post-practice groups is appreciated. The post-practice group provided limited suggestions while the pre-practice stakeholder groups spent a significant amount of their focus group discussing this concern. Both cited a need for more graded responsibility and exposure, and concerns regarding exclusion from this process due to the limitations of the TPS. The pre-practice groups appeared to be much more invested in improving this concern, with provision of novel solutions including a specific block dedicated to radiation treatment planning and trouble-shooting.

Lastly, if one considers the topics that were most discussed in each group, there appear to be differences in what is thought as important (Table 4). Specifically, the pre-practice group spent a longer period discussing perceived gaps linked to concerns

foreseen for the immediacy of transitioning such as understanding physician remuneration, budgeting, financial planning; contract negotiation and career planning; concerns around the nuances of the initial process of setting-up a practice and concerns around institutional differences. In contrast, the post-practice group also discussed more novel perceived gaps, including communication with other health care providers, consideration about physician wellness and sustainable practice, creation and maintenance of a professional curriculum vitae, and maintenance of specialty certification. The differences seen between these two groups reaffirms the need to include all stakeholders in the decision making process when considering a TtP curriculum, as each provides a different perspective and suggestions for improvement that may not otherwise be considered.

Taken together this aligns with adult learning theory, as each stakeholder group discussed gaps from the lens of their current experiences (Kaufman 2014). This is most evident from the discussion of the new ROs who have experienced the spectrum of TtP, and are the closest to the process. Thus, their recollection of the process is the most recent. Many of their comments focused on their current lived-in experiences, instead of the challenges they perceived while a resident. However, this is still helpful as it provides support for the concept of transition as a process, and not a moment in time (Yardley 2018). It also supports the literature which suggests that support for new specialists is often well received and leads to lower levels of emotive stress (Brown 2009, Griffen 2010, Harrison 2014, Kite 2006, MacMillan 2016, Sachdeva 2014 Shiner 2013, Westerman 2010, Yardley 2018).

For other perceived gaps the comments were similar across all groups. For example, all groups suggested there was a lack of exposure to information about physician remuneration, budgeting and financial planning. All groups suggested that this was a topic that was taboo to discuss. This result could be considered as part of the hidden curriculum. That is, the internalized values, attitudes, beliefs and behaviours that are deemed important through latent observation and participation within the culture of medicine, instead of what is formally taught (Hafferty 1994).

5.2 Understanding the Study Results in Comparison to the Literature

Within this study, the most noted gaps were within the Leader and Medical Expert domains, and to a lesser extent the Scholar domain. There was no discussion around Health Advocacy roles, and little in relation to Professionalism, Communication or Collaboration. This is similar to the literature, in that the most commonly discussed gaps in competency could be categorized under the Leader, and to a lesser extent Collaborator, Scholar and Professional domains (Beckett 2006, Card 2006, Crosson 2011, Dijkstra 2015, Kite 2006, Li 2017, Lynch 2003, McDonnell 2007, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010). Our study noted perceived gaps in practice management which includes managerial experience, writing a business plan, administrative experience, and meeting patient consultation targets, all of which are well reported in the literature (Beckett 2006, Brouns 2010, Brown 2009, Busari 2011, Card 2006, Crosson 2011, Kijkstra 2015, Griffin 2010, Higgins 2005, McDonnell 2007, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010). Likewise, the gap in exposure and understanding regarding physician remuneration, budgeting and financial planning, is a topic that is highly reported in the literature (Beckett, 2006, Brown 2009, Busari 2011, Crosson 2011, Dijkstra 2015, Fakhry 2007, Gill 2007, Griffin 2010, Higgins 2005, McDonnell 2007).Of the other Leader gaps previously reported, two were discussed in this study (a lack of leadership experience, managing resources) and one was not (limited experience in monitoring one's own practice for improvement) (Beckett 2006, Busari 2011, Crosson 2011, Dijkstra 2015, Li 2017, Lynch 2003, McDonnell 2007, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010).

From a Communicator perspective, the data was different from that previously reported (Table 2). None of the stakeholder groups discussed ethical issues, or lack of experience in discussing medical errors or end of life care. Given that RO often deals with non-curable cancers that lead to the ultimate demise of patients from cancer, it is posited that RO residents receive adequate exposure in the domain of breaking bad news and discussing end of life care to feel comfortable with these topics.

Given the complex nature of cancer management, RO by necessity works in diverse collaborations with many health care professionals for which clear documentation and discussion is essential. Thus it was surprising that this study reported a perceived gap in written correspondence skills for transitioning RO residents. However this was only discussed by the post-practice stakeholder groups.

For the Collaborator core competency, this study supports the current literature citing gaps in partnerships with other health care professionals, and exposure to conflict resolution (Beckett 2006, Brouns 2010, Crosson 2011, Kite 2006, Morrow 2009). Lastly,

in this study there was minimal discussion of competences found within the Scholar and Professional domains. However, what was discussed including supervision of learners, and physician wellness have previously been reported (Beckett 2006, Crosson 2011, Morrow 2009, Morrow 2012, Westerman 2010).

5.2.1 The Most Significant Finding

The most significant finding in this study that is in stark contrast to the current literature were the Medical Expert, or clinical skills, gaps that were reported. Specifically, all stakeholders reported lack of exposure to many of the aspects related to radiation treatment planning, which is the core competency of a RO. To clarify the issue, one must have a basic understanding of the unique competencies required of a RO, and specifically, how the interaction with a radiation treatment planning system (TPS) is integral to their day-to-day functioning with respect to the radiation therapy planning process (Figure 1).

The radiation TPS is a software package in which all the steps involved in the radiation therapy planning process occur (Figure 1). For any patient for whom radiation therapy is offered, the first interaction between a RO and the TPS involves logging into the TPS and filling-out a request for radiation services. This includes all the important details with respect to how the patient should be positioned and immobilized during treatment, what dose and how many fractions of radiation therapy are to be given, the type of radiation therapy given and the expected complexity of treatment planning that is needed. Next the patient undergoes a radiation planning session, which generates a CT

scan around the area to be treated. From this scan, the treating RO outlines (contours) the areas to be treated, while a dosimetrist (radiation therapist trained in planning radiation therapy) contours the normal tissues for which the dose of radiation therapy it receives should be limited. A second RO peer reviews all these contours to ensure they are correct. The original RO then must finalize these contours, prior to a radiation therapy plan being generated by a dosimetrist or physicist. This plan is reviewed by the RO to ensure that treatment volumes are receiving an adequate dose of radiation, while normal tissues are not receiving too much. This must be approved prior to the patient being treated. Finally, the patient is treated on a radiation therapy unit. If any concerns arise during the course of the treatment, the treating RO is called. These issues can include problems with setting up a patient for treatment, changes in the shape of the patient (due to tumor regression/growth or weight loss/gain), technical problems with the treatment unit, and management of side effects. Also, any interaction with the patient is documented within the TPS, and can include weekly updates on how the patient is tolerating treatment as assessed by radiation therapists, nurses or physicians and a final summary document completed by the RO at the end of the treatment course outlining the details of the treatment given, the side effects experienced, and any plans for future follow-up.

These steps all occur through interaction of RO with the TPS. As one step is completed, the next step is automatically flagged by the TPS for the responsible person (the RO or dosimetrist). Of note, the TPS does not routinely provide for inclusion of a second "responsible person" such as a resident, and hence the resident is excluded from the planning and care process in the TPS. Seen in this light, the TPS emerges as a

significant barrier to the inclusion of residents in the treatment planning and follow-up process. The following section explores this emergent gap in the Medical Expert domain through the perspective of socio-materiality theory. This lens will also be used to consider other gaps expressed within this study.

Figure 1: Radiation Therapy Planning Process



XRT: radiation therapy

5.3 Socio-Materiality and the Impact on the TtP

5.3.1 Socio-Materiality

The current medical education landscape is moving from time or knowledgebased learning to outcome or competence based approaches (Frank 2010). This means a shift to development of learner abilities and skill attainment in a learner-centred environment (Frank 2010). This framework advocates for workplace-based learning, for which many of the current theories within adult learning focus on the individual's interaction with others and the environment (Kaufman 2014). Fenwick suggests that notions of participation are often confined to human interactions, focusing on social relations and cultural forces and the ways in which humans "use" tools or move through "contexts" (Fenwick 2010). These theories fail to recognize that the material and human aspects of an environment interact in a complex and often unrecognized manner (Fenwick 2010, Orlikowski 2007).

Socio-materiality provides a new perspective, which posits that systems include persons, context and material things (i.e. bodies, instruments, technology, desires, politics, settings, protocols) and that they are inseparable and act on each other in a complex adaptive manner (Fenwick 2010, 2014, 2015, MacLeod 2015). It allows one to explore learning from a perspective that recognizes that human and non-human objects interact in complex ways, and how the material affects learning and the work environment (Goldszmidt 2016, MacLeod 2015). It leads to a research perspective that decentres the human subject, and instead focuses on the complex interactions of the human (consciousness, intention, meaning, inter-subjectivity and social relations) and non-human aspects of learning (Hopwood 2016, MacLeod 2015).

Using the socio-materiality lens to explore how materials affect practice, knowing and learning allows for the consideration of how materials are used within the realm of medicine and medical education, and how the authority ascribed to them shape practice and knowledge acquisition (Fenwick 2014). It looks beyond context as a simple container for learning to allow for investigation of the relationships among the many material and human elements within an environment, all of which interact in a dynamic manner (Fenwick 2014). It can also be employed to examine how material things can affect meaning, especially those ubiquitous to the workplace (i.e. technology, internet, medical records) that are often taken for granted or ignored (MacLeod 2015).

Taken together, socio-materiality provides a theoretical perspective to examine the perceived gaps within the Medical Expert domain found in this study, specifically with respect to the radiation therapy planning process. This lens allows one to more closely examine how the electronic TPS and its inherent eccentricities interact within the RO environment and cause a disruption of learning for RO residents. It may also provide insight into some of the other perceived gaps, which fall within the Leader (practice management) core competency.

5.3.2 Socio-Materiality: a lens to examine perceived gaps in the radiation therapy planning process

As described above, and outlined in figure 1, the radiation therapy planning process is complex, and mainly occurs through the radiation therapy TPS software interface. The entire process is highly digitized, with most of the discourse surrounding the radiation planning process including treatment development, peer review, treatment assessment and evaluation occurring electronically. Each task is assigned to a specific person or persons and when complete, the task is signed off and the next person in the flowchart is automatically tasked. The assignment of tasks is determined at the time of the radiation therapy planning session, with all RO tasks being assigned to the original treating RO. Thus, the TPS shapes the discourse surrounding the radiation therapy planning process for each individual patient. Its relationship and effect on the human aspect of RO can be considered from three standpoints (social, pedagogical and cognitive presences) as previously reported through the examination of distributed medical education through a socio-materiality perspective (MacLeod 2015).

5.3.2.1 Radiation therapy planning process and social presence

A learner's social presence can be considered as their ability to contribute and communicate within their community (MacLeod 2015). This includes the ability to participate in treatment and patient management decisions. However, the TPS used for the entire process of radiation therapy creates a significant barrier to this participation by residents. Tasks are assigned to the staff RO only, thus residents do not know when a radiation therapy plan is ready for contouring, peer review, or plan review, without constantly checking a staff RO's task list within the TPS. Compounding this, residents have many demands on their time, thus a staff RO may complete a task without a resident having the opportunity to participate. As one senior resident reported "There are some staff who have said I don't want my list to go over 4 or 5. So you have your own educational responsibilities... by the time you come back, those cases have already been triaged or set-up." The new RO group also suggested that "all the other logistical aspects of the things that you don't realize are even happening as a resident but your staff are doing without even really telling you."

The radiation therapy TPS assigns each user specific allowable responsibilities or rights. Thus, a RO can approve plans, while a resident cannot. The user rights within the TPS are binary with no opportunity for graded responsibility. Thus, the current attitude, as one senior resident reported, is "I think part of it is that some of the more technical radiation things like being able to review treatment images or sign off on plans and prescriptions, a lot of those things we don't have the privileges to do on the software. So I think there's a tendency for us to just ignore that stage after putting the contours on." Even if a resident were to look at plans in the TPS, they are unable to make a treatment decision. So, unless they are sitting with the treating RO, the treatment decision will occur at a discontinuous time and place, which may not allow the resident to have a useful discussion about that part of the treatment planning process. Thus, while the TPS

allows for interaction with radiation therapy treatment plans at any computer it provides a significant barrier to discourse for learners.

Also, since the TPS assigns task roles at the beginning of the radiation therapy planning process, there is a lack of information conveyed to the associated health professionals about learners who should also be involved. A senior resident summarized this phenomenon as "they don't sometimes know which rotation we're on... and then it's easier for them to just call the staff because sometimes we'll have to call the staff anyway." As the new RO group suggested "I actually think that more of the pushback may be from the non-rad onc (RO) staff – from therapy staff and sort of the allied staff... and I think that there needs to be a buy-in from those who are implementing the program to... prevent the "Oh, that's not how we do it. I'm just going to call the staff and go over your head," sort of phenomenon."

This suggests that the TPS creates an environment that inherently excludes learners by not including them in the tasking and discussion of treatment decisions. This problem is perpetuated by a lack of knowledge by associated health professionals as to with whom each resident is working, and whom they should contact with treatment related questions or concerns. As such, the technology itself creates a distinction of the RO resident as *other*, instead of on a trajectory of graded responsibility and ultimately full inclusion in the community of practice. One could also posit, that this social issue not only impacts the Medical Expert domain – the lack of exposure to the radiation planning process – but also the collaborative domain, as is evidenced by the comments of exclusion with respect to collaboration with other health care providers.

5.3.2.2 Radiation therapy planning process and pedagogical/teaching presence

The pedagogical perspective considers how learning occurs, with respect to curricular design and administration, facilitating discourse and direct instruction (Anderson 2001). All stakeholders reported a paucity of exposure to the radiation therapy planning process. The resident group suggested that "we need a little bit of didactic teaching in that we can't just rely on all residents to have all the necessary experiences just by chance by the time they graduate. And right now... we don't have any like lectures that touch on that kind of thing." The fellow group echoed this with the comment that "It's really, really nice if you have a chance to sit down with a physicist and sort of pick their brain of why this and not this..." Even the new RO group supported the provision of more formal teaching. However, the best method to implement these suggestions or introducing graded responsibilities is unclear.

One also has to consider that the radiation therapy planning process occurs within the TPS software, and thus requires internet access, and a computer with this program loaded onto it. For group learning, the need to be able to project the interface onto a larger screen is also required, thus physical space constraints need to be considered.

One must also consider that as each treatment planning process task is approved, in can be opened and viewed, but no further changes can be made. Thus,

for the most realistic workplace-based teaching, in which residents can affect a treatment decision, they need to be involved in the task prior to its approval. This comes with its own limitations, which require the staff RO and the learner to be available at the same time, and in the same place. Or, the planning step to be discussed must be sufficiently non-urgent that the treatment planning task decision can wait until both the learner and staff RO are available simultaneously.

5.3.2.3 Radiation therapy planning process and cognitive presence

The last realm to consider is the cognitive presence, which incorporates how a learner interacts with learning, in specific the ability to "construct and confirm meaning through sustained reflection and discourse" (Garrison 2001). This includes the ability of the learner to ask questions, reflect on their learning, and engage in discourse. As described above under social presence, the current use of the TPS has led to an exclusion of residents from the discourse surrounding the radiation therapy planning process. Limitations with respect to time constraints, and the ability to 'sign-off' tasks remotely also interferes with the development of a meaningful dialogue that includes the resident.

One must consider, how real-time discourse around radiation therapy planning processes can occur. This requires the completion of radiation therapy planning tasks with a resident and RO present together. The discourse that occurs would be subject to the social context in which it occurs. For example, are they rushed? Did the discussion occur at the end of an emotionally charged clinic? Otherwise the discourse would need to occur discontinuously over email. Formal interactive sessions, as suggestrf by the resident group would allow for improved interaction between a teacher and residents and would also provide a dedicated space for learning to occur.

5.3.2.4 Summary: Socio-Materiality and the radiation therapy planning process

The use of socio-materiality provides a lens to examine the perceived gap in competency within the radiation therapy planning process during RO residency. It helps elucidate the multiplicity of the relationships between human and material factors inherent within the user-TPS relationship. A social, pedagogical and cognitive perspective on this entangled relationship reveals that the perceived gap is more complex than social theories would suggest. Specifically the radiation therapy TPS creates an exclusion of residents from the treatment decision making process that perpetuates the exclusion of resident from other treatment decision making steps by other health care professionals. Since the TPS is a software program, the use of it for teaching, and exposure to the radiation therapy treatment planning process is limited by the necessity of having internet access, a computer with the software available and the availability of appropriate teaching resources. Lastly there is currently minimal teaching provided regarding the radiation therapy treatment planning process, thus, there is a lack of opportunity to reflect and engage in meaningful discourse and thus scaffolding of learning.

5.4 Results Not Explained by Socio-Materiality

Socio-materiality provides a lens to examine the complex web of interactions that occurs within a clinical work environment, and specifically includes the impact of the non-material (including technology) with the material (humans). However, this theoretical perspective has its limitations and cannot adequately address all the results herein. This is especially evident for the perceived gaps within the Leader core competency including experience in practice management, understanding physician remuneration, budgeting and financial planning contract negotiation and career planning, as well as understanding the structure and function of local and regional health care systems and how they vary by jurisdiction. Many of these are aspects of practice that are already in place for the specialists with whom residents work. Thus, there is minimal opportunity to participate, or observe the process of setting up a practice and negotiating the nuances of financial management; it is assumed. The reason for this could be lack of exposure to these experiences, due to RO being a small speciality with minimal staff turnover and thus minimal opportunities to participate or observe the decision-making processes regarding practice management. Another consideration is that some topics are traditionally considered taboo for discussion, as was evidenced within this study regarding physician remuneration and billing. For the reported gap in experience or exposure to contract negotiation, this could be partly explained by the current poor job market. Two of the stakeholder groups suggested that the current poor job market impacts their willingness to negotiate a contract, as there is a perception that if you can get a job you should just take it. Thus, the gaps within the Leader domain are multi-factorial, and

are influenced by the culture of RO practice, the inherent characteristics of a small speciality, and the larger health care system as evidenced by the poor job market.

Other gaps that are more challenging to explain using a socio-materiality lens include lack of exposure to creating and maintaining a professional curriculum vitae, and development of a program for maintenance of certification. These skills are not required of residents, as their use is tied to an RO's academic promotion and the maintenance of fellowship status with the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada respectively. As such, they may not be considered by residency programs as essential components of the formal curriculum.

There was also a perceived lack of exposure to leadership and teaching opportunities, but the link to material (technology, settings, protocols) or socio-material concerns would be difficult to argue. The resident group reported that some of the concern from a leadership perspective was exclusion from treatment decision making, pointing to more of a social constraint. Likewise, for teaching, there was a reported lack of graded responsibility, instead of discussion around challenges with technology or teaching settings.

Overall, many of these issues have complex reasons for being perceived as a gap in competency for transitioning RO residents. One commonality to consider is the workplace environment, which may not provide opportunities for learning about specific practice related topics. The culture within the community of practice in RO can also influence what is perceived as an 'allowed' topic for discussion, or the normative role of residents with respect to complex collaborative decision making. These issues are better explained through consideration of the influence of culture and tradition upon practice,

and social theories of learning, especially communities of practice (Kaufman 2014). When people engage in collective learning in a shared domain of human endeavour, the group could be considered a community of practice (Wenger 2015). Within this, three characteristics are necessary: a shared domain of interest and/or shared competence (i.e. the field of RO), a community in which the members engage in joint activities and shared learning and a shared practice that includes a repertoire of experiences, stories, tools and ways of addressing problems (Wenger 2015). One of the primary purposes of a community of practice is knowledge translation, which he defined as "the exchange, synthesis, and ethically sound application of knowledge – within a complex system..." (CIHR 2004). On an individual level, this construct posits that newcomers start as peripheral participants with access to the community's resources and relationships, and slowly progress towards full membership, participation and legitimization of their contributory role.

One could consider residents as having peripheral participation within the RO community of practice, with progressive participation and legitimization through residency, with full participation only granted when a specialist designation is achieved. However, the results suggest that there is not enough progression of participation or legitimization of their role over time within the community especially for senior residents.

5.5 Suggestions to Address Perceived Gaps in the TtP Process

Numerous suggestions were put forth by the participants in the study, of which many have previously been reported. Suggestions that could be implemented during residency include increased responsibility to senior residents to allow for learning conditions that more closely mirror a specialist workload, provision of leadership or teaching training, and mentoring (Beckett 2006, Blumenthal 2012, Brouns 2010, Busari 2011, Card 2006, Croke 2012, Fakhry 2007, Higgins 2005, Lister 2010, Sachdeva 2014, Westerman 2010, Wichman 2009, Wiener-Ogilvie 2014, Yardley 2018). Another commonality is the use of workshops or formal courses, especially for the use of increasing exposure to business management including physician remuneration, budgeting and financial planning (Blumenthal 2012, Brouns 2010, Higgins 2005). Our participants made suggestions that many of these issues could be incorporated into learning opportunities that already exist for senior RO residents including the refresher course at the CARO annual scientific meeting, and the Annual National Canadian Preparatory Course in Clinical and RO that occurs yearly and workshops held by postgraduate medical education departments. These would be practical solutions to providing an environment dedicated to teaching these topics to senior RO residents. However, this will require buy-in from these groups, finding champions and experts to create evidencebased content. Thus while feasible, it may be a challenge to implement. Suggestions about integrating these topics into the current academic teaching schedule could be challenging given that curricula are usually set in advance, with minimal room for extra topics.

To aid in exposure to and experience in the radiation therapy planning process and in having ultimate responsibility for patient care, one suggestion put forth by all focus groups was the incorporation of a resident longitudinal clinic. This intervention has previously been reported and was well received (Croke 2012, Lister 2010). This curricular idea has been incorporated in a few programs within RO. This would suggest that it is possible to implement. Also, it provides an opportunity for experiential learning within an authentic workplace environment, which is supported by the literature (Yardley 2018). However, there are possible roadblocks to implementation including logistical (clinic space, nursing and administrative support), and medico-legal concerns (ensuring there is a most responsible specialist assigned to each patient).

Two other more novel suggestions put forth included a dedicated block on radiation planning, evaluation and trouble-shooting and use of simulation. Both of these suggestions would help negate many of the issues discussed in the section addressing the limitations imposed by the TPS and understood through the lens of socio-materiality. In specific, learners would have a larger social presence and be able to collaborate with other health care professionals regarding treatment decisions. Both could also provide more opportunities for self-reflection and discussion regarding treatment decisions. Simulation would also put the radiation planning process at the centre of a learning experience, thus promoting discourse around the nuances of radiation treatment decision making. This is supported by the literature which has shown simulation to allow learners to practice skills and knowledge in realistic settings, increase exposure to less frequently encountered experiences, as well as enhance feedback, deliberate practice and reflection (Younan 2016). A radiation planning block could be feasible, however much like a RLC, dedicated curricular time and logistical issues need to be considered. Simulation would be the most challenging to implement as this has not been previously considered for radiation treatment planning learning. Thus, one would need to create a new curriculum with considerations for learners, how it will be assessed, what competencies are to be addressed, the conditions for learning and the context in which the learning occurs as well as considerations regarding validity and reliability (Bordage 2011, Palaganas 2015).

More easily implemented suggestions that can occur on an informal basis include discussions with specialists and other health professionals around radiation specific topics, practice management and business management were put forth. Other suggestions that could also be easily implemented include use of business cards for residents to provide patients, and a compilation of 'helpful hints' to provide to transitioning residents. Another consideration is use of elective time to travel to other centers to increase exposure to different methods, and techniques. Current residency programs allow for this, although the uptake amongst residents may be variable. Another concern would be lack of familiarity of the resident at the visiting institution.

Suggestions to aid new to practice specialists were also discussed. Most of them have been reported in the literature and are perceived as having a positive impact. These include the use of onboarding programs, peer support and mentorship (Brown 2009, Griffin 2010, Harrison 2014, Higgins 2005, Sachdeva 2014, Wilkie 2005). Mentorship was discussed in this study as a perceived benefit throughout the transition process. Our participants suggested that mentors could provide insight and help for all areas not adequately covered by the current curricula, and specifically practice and business

management, career planning, contract negotiation and a sounding board for challenging cases. Mentorship is linked to improved care quality, patient safety, and increased confidence, job satisfaction, working relationships, while decreasing stress and burnout (Brown 2009, Griffin 2010, Harrison 2014, Higgins 2005, Sachdeva 2014, Yardley 2018). The questions that remain are: how to choose mentors – should they be assigned or sought by the learners? Should it be mandatory, especially during times of greatest perceived turmoil?

5.6 Roadblocks to TtP Curricula – The Way Forward

Some of the emergent issues included perceived roadblocks to the implementation of a TtP curriculum. The most discussed were staff buy-in and their current perceptions of senior residents, specifically not allowing for appropriate graded responsibility for senior residents and the view of using senior residents, who have acquired increased clinical acumen, as a means to increase the number of patients they book and thus bill for in a clinic. Part of this requires staff education, with inclusion of all specialities that interact with residents, with clear guidelines of expected level of graded responsibility. One suggestion was to stop assigning senior residents to staff that use them to increase their patient load without providing meaningful learning opportunities. One also has to consider that this is part of the hidden curriculum or culture of medicine. Thus, the issue would need to be addressed with clear guidelines and possibly consequences for nonadherence. Along this same theme is the historical view of fellowship as an extension of training for all RO residents. Due to a relative staff specialist position shortage in RO, most residents by necessity complete one or more fellowships prior to successfully starting an independent practice. Given this climate, there was a voiced concern that staff may not see the need for a TtP curriculum during residency, as a fellowship could provide this experience. The problem here is that not all residents complete a fellowship, and the job climate is starting to change. Also, a TtP phase is part of the new CBD curriculum, and thus must be included. Thus, while this is currently an ongoing issue, the implementation of CBD will in many ways force the creation of a TtP phase for senior residents.

The implementation of CBD will also lead to the board certification examinations occuring earlier. Thus, while historically the examination could occur within the last three months of residency, it will now occur further away (approximately 6 months). This will address the concerns about inadequate time for a TtP curriculum and lack of participation by senior residents who are focused on their examinations or their plans post-residency.

A last roadblock raised was regarding the logistics and medico-legal concerns of implementing a new TtP curriculum. These include the support and space for a resident longitudinal clinic, how to provide the necessary privileges within the radiation therapy TPS and how to navigate the medico-legal aspects of a learner who has successfully completed their certification examinations but still holds a learning medical license. The logistical concern is one that is a constant in many cancer centers, and will require individual solutions based on the space and resource availability at each centre. It will

require buy-in of entire care teams, and likely creating solutions that work within each environment. CBD will provide some impetus and momentum but a solid leadership team will be necessary. It may be that what is available is centre specific, with some able to complete simulation and radiation planning blocks, but due to lack of space no on-site resident longitudinal clinics. Creative solutions such as blocks at a peripheral or nonacademic centre, where there is the potential for increased responsibility may need to be considered.

As to the medico-legal concern, it is valid, with no clear solution. This is a systemic issue that will need to be addressed at the national level with collaboration between many groups including the Royal College, provincial licensing bodies and the Canadian Medical Protection Agency. There is also a paucity of research in this area, specifically how to balance progressive clinical independence for learning and ensuring patient safety (Yardley 2018).

5.7 The Culture of Medicine

This topic is interwoven with the roadblocks to TtP curricular development, but is addressed separately to ensure a richer discussion. The main themes that emerged with respect to the culture of medicine, and its impact on the TtP were the perception of staff physicians to be the ultimate knowledge holders and decision makers, the implied value of residents and taboo topics. This is an important discussion as it is the hidden curriculum from which learners derive their physician identities and become socialized into the field of medicine (Hafferty 1994, MacLeod 2011). The hidden curriculum is comprised of the ideological or subliminal messages of the formal and informal curriculum that are often transmitted through behaviour, and the structures and observed practices of an institution (Wear 2009). It is the hidden curriculum that shapes the beliefs, values, and related behaviors of a community of practice. (Hafferty 1994, Lingard 2013, MacLeod 2011, Wear 2009). The hidden curriculum is often at odds with the curriculum and espoused values of the formal educational program.

In this study, a theme of the perception of staff physicians being the ultimate knowledge holders and decision makers emerged. This was reflected in comments that some ROs were unwilling to accept views that deviated from their own. This is supported by the literature surrounding the culture of medicine which has broadly accepted that a hierarchy of power within the field of medicine exists (Hafferty 1994, Lingard 2013, MacLeod 2011). The hidden curriculum supports and reinforces the current hierarchies and helps establish what is considered normal (MacLeod 2011). Within this hierarchy learners are placed under significant pressure to demonstrate their competence to gain acceptance into the community of practice (MacLeod 2011). Through role modelling, they observe the role of the physician to be one of doubtlessness, objectivity and evidence, often without consideration of social context (MacLeod 2011, Taylor 2003). It also can signal an unspoken value of medical knowledge as something that is gained through clinical knowledge beyond what is read in textbooks (Lingard 2013, Taylor 2003).

Hafferty (1994) also suggested that the unspoken hierarchy seen in medicine is upheld by those professions that interact with medicine. This was also acknowledged in the results, as multiple stakeholder groups commented on how other health care professionals often excluded them from decision making by going directly to the staff for answers on the presumption that the resident would not be of help.

The exclusion of residents from participation in tumor board discussion also highlights this theme. A tumor board is a meeting of individuals from diverse healthcare specialities that care for patients with the same tumors (i.e.: pathologists, radiation oncologists, medical oncologists, surgical oncologists, radiologists, nursing, allied health). This practice can perpetuate the hierarchies of power that exist by normalizing the behavior of excluding residents. The silencing of residents can be construed as a method to navigate the power hierarchies and relegation of learners to observers instead of participants (Lingard 2013).

This blends with the second theme of the perceived value of residents. In this study it was reported that some learning opportunities are not made available as the staff physician needs to complete tasks too quickly to be able to involve residents. A similar finding was also discussed in a qualitative study of psychiatry medical students, residents and staff physicians that specifically examined the role of the hidden curriculum (Wear 2009). One of the themes that emerged was how the hidden curriculum affects the value of time. Both medical students and residents reported how some staff seemed to be more focused on completion of clinical tasks to the detriment of teaching and patient interaction. Our study supports these findings, as both the RO fellows and residents reported that the amount of teaching and autonomy they experienced varied by preceptor.

Two other areas that were brought up in this study were the use of senior residents to increase the number of patients seen and thus billed for, and the presence of unspoken topics that are not to be discussed (especially physician remuneration). While both of these were discussed in multiple focus groups within this study, the literature around these specifically is minimal. For the former, one suggestion is to no longer assign senior residents to staff physicians who may use them only to increase clinic sizes, without provision of learning opportunities. However this does not address the underlying issue of the culture of medicine. As for the latter, this study suggests that the topic of money is a taboo topic nationally. All groups suggested the implementation of formal teaching on this topic, including the use of national level curricula.

5.8 Limitations of the Study

The aim of this project is to examine the perceived preparedness for independent practice that the current residency training curriculum provides RO residents in Canada. Thus, the applicability to specialities other than RO, or in locales outside of Canada may be limited. Likewise, the information gathered would not be transferable to other transitions seen in medical practice, such as progression from medical student to resident. This study was conducted with a representative sample of the entirety of the stakeholder groups. Thus, the comments made may not be inclusive of the comments that would be available if the entire study population participated.

Given the logistical, financial, and time constraints of the study, the medium over which the focus groups were conducted was not uniform. Three groups received the questions in advance of the focus groups, while one did not (senior residents). Thus, there is a concern that the outlier group did not have as much time to consider the questions, and some opinions may not have been voiced. Also, two focus groups occurred in person, while two occurred via video-conference. Thus, some of the nuances of responses for the video conference groups may not have been appreciated. Likewise, there is literature that supports that use of tele-conferencing may impact on participation for those not at the primary site (MacLeod 2015).

One of the main findings of this study was the emergence of a perceived gap in competence within the Medical Expert domain, and specifically within the radiation therapy planning process. This was an unexpected result, best examined though a sociomateriality lens. However, since this was unexpected, and not realized until data analysis, this finding was not fully explored within the context of this study. Thus, some of the nuances and complex relationships within this finding are likely not adequately explored. Further exploration of how to address the issues uncovered is required.

Lastly, one has to consider that the analysis of qualitative research is coloured by the experiences of the primary investigator. In this case, the primary investigator is a new to practice RO, who could be considered to be completing a TtP. Thus, her own experiences may have impacted on how the data herein is presented. Efforts to mitigate this included use of a framework for data coding that was decided prior to the data analysis stage, and reviewed by her supervisors and an independent reader to check for bias.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

The achievement of a training program that completely mitigates the apprehension of TtP, and leads to expert level fulfilment of all core competencies is likely unachievable. One must also recognize that the TtP is a continuum that happens over an extended period of time. However, some of the perceived gaps in the current transition can be lessened through an evidence based TtP curriculum.

This study aimed to examine the perceived preparedness for independent practice that the current residency training programs have on RO residents and attempted to uncover the competencies perceived as lacking in new ROs to help inform the development of a TtP curriculum. Within this we found gaps in almost all CanMEDS domains, with the majority falling within the Leader and, unexpectedly the Medical Expert domains.

It was found that a socio-materiality lens provided a useful tool to examine the complexity of the perceived gap of limited exposure to the radiation planning process. Given RO is a medical speciality that is heavily reliant of technology this perspective was able to provide further insight into this finding. It also suggests, that as our healthcare system becomes more complex and reliant on technology (electronic medical records, social media, data sharing); we should also consider how this technology is influencing our workplace, and the impact on learning.

We stand in the unique position of participating in the national implementation of a competency based curricular framework (CBD) for post-graduate medical education. Thus, we have the opportunity to use the data gleaned herein, including the perceived

gaps, suggestions to fill those gaps in the TtP, and anticipated roadblocks to create new curricula to help future graduates transition more seamlessly to a specialist position. Since this is a national program, supported by the Royal College, we have the opportunity to work together as a national community to share experiences, collect further data and improve. I would also echo Yardley (2018), that this also provides an opportunity to advance our knowledge regarding the impact of TtP curriculum on outcomes beyond perceptions of utility.

The next research steps arising from this study are to use the results to design a questionnaire which will enable sampling of a much larger population of the stakeholder groups. Ultimately, the current results, and the future data from the questionnaire will inform the development and evaluation of a TtP curriculum that will be available to all Canadian RO residency training programs and meet the requirements of the CBD TtP phase of residency training.

References

- Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACFGM). (2010). Outcome project. Chicago: Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education.
- Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME). (2016). ACGME: common program requirements. Approved focused revision Sep 2013; effective July 2016.
- American Educational Research Association (AERA), American Psychological
 Association (APA) & National Council on Measurement in Education (NCME).
 (1999). Standards for educational and psychological testing. Washington, DC:
 American Education Research Association.
- Anderson T., Rourke L., Garrison D.R., & Archer W. (2001). Assessing teaching presence in a computer conferencing context. *JALN*; 5(2): 1-17.
- Artino Jr A.R., La Rochelle J.S., Dezee K.J., & Gehlback H. (2014). Developing questionnaires for educational research: AMEE guide No. 87. *Med Teach*; 36(6): 463-74.
- Australian Medical Association (AMA). Prevocational medical education and training.AMA Position Statement, 2011. Revised 2017. https://ama.com.au/system/tdf/documents/FINAL%20AMA%20PS%20Prevocation al%20medical%20education%20and%20training%202011%20Revised%202017.pd f?file=1&type=node&id=46156. Accessed July 16, 2018.
- Australian Medical Assessment Collaboration (AMAC). (2012). Assessment Framework. https://www.acer.org/files/AMAC_Framework_May_2012.pdf. Accessed July 16, 2018.
- Australian Medical Assessment Collaboration (AMAC) (2012). Assessment Framework. https://www.acer.org/files/AMAC_Framework_May_2012.pdf. Accessed May 21 2017.

Barbour R.S. (2005). Making sense of focus groups. Med Educ; 39:742-50.

Beckett M., Hulbert D., & Brown R. (2006). The new consultant survey. *Emerg Med J*; 23: 461-3.

- Blumenthal D.M., Bernard K., Bohnen J., & Bohmer R. (2012). Addressing the leadership gap in medicine: residents' need for systematic leadership development training. *Acad Med*; 87(4): 513-22.
- Bordage G., & Harris I. (2011). Making a difference in curriculum reform and decisionmaking processes. *Med Educ;*45: 87-94.

Britten, N. (1995). Qualitative interviews in medical research. BMJ;331: 251-3.

- Brouns J.W.M., Berkenbosch L., Ploemen-Suijker F.D., Heyligers I., & Busari J.O. (2010). Medical residents perception of the need for management education in the postgraduate curriculum: a preliminary study. *Int J Med Educ;* 1: 76-82.
- Brown J.M., Ryland I., Shaw N.J., & Graham D.R. (2009). Working as a newly appointed consultant: a study into the transition from specialist registrar. *Br J Hosp Med*; 70(7): 410-4.
- Burke Johnson R., & Onwuegbuzie A.J. (2004). Mixed methods research: a research paradigm whose time has come. *Educ Researcher*; 33(7): 14-26.
- Busari J.O., Berkenbosch L.,& Brouns J.W. (2011). Physicians as managers of health care delivery and the implications for postgraduate medical training: A literature review. *Teaching and Learning in Medicine*; 32(2): 186-96.
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), and Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC), Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, December 2014.
- Card S.E., Snell L., & O'Brien B. (2006). Are Canadian general internal medicine training program graduates well prepared for their future careers? *BMC Med Educ;* 6:56-64.
- Canadian Resident Matching Service (CaRMS). https://www.carms.ca/Accessed June 11, 2018.
- Canadian Institues of Health Research (CIHR). (2004). Knowledge translation strategy: 2004-2009: innovation in Action. CIHR, Ottawa, ON.
- Croke J.M., Vickers M.M., E C., Heng D.Y., Reaume M.N., Song X., Meng J., Asmis T., & Lochrin C. (2012). *Curr Oncol*; 19: e392-42.
- Creswell J.W. (2014) Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. 4th Ed. California; SAGE publications.
- Crosson F.J., Leu J., Roemer B.M., & Ross M.N. (2011). Gaps in residency training should be addressed to better prepare doctors for a twenty-first-century delivery system. *Health Affairs;* 30(100);2142-8.
- ^aCummings B. (2012). Module 4: Personal and professional accounting and taxation. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-28.
- ^bCummings B. (2012). Module 9: Principles of Negotiation. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-28.

- ^cCummings B. (2012). Module 13: Evaluating practice opportunities: specialists. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-16.
- Dahn H., Watts K., Best L.R., & Bowes D. (2018). Transition to practice: creation of a transitional rotation for radiation oncology residents. *Can Med Educ J.* [in press]
- Debenham B., Banerjee R., Fairchild A., Dundas G., Trotter T., & Yee D. (2012). 2009 Canadian radiation oncology resident survey. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*; 82(4): 1326-32.
- Dijkstra I.S., Pols J., Remmelts P., Bakker B., Mooij J.J., Borleffs J.C.C., & Brand P.L.P. (2013). What are the preparing them for? Development of an inventory of tasks for medical, surgical and supportive specialties. *Med Teach*; 35: e1068-77.
- Dijkstra I.S., Pols J., Remmelts P., & Brand P.L.P. (2015). Preparedness for practice: A systematic cross-specialty evaluation of the alignment between postgraduate medical education and independent practice, *Med Teach*; 37:2, 153-161.

DiCicco-Bloom B., & Crabtree B.F. (2006). The qualitative research interview. *Med Educ;* 40(4), 314-21.

European Society for Radiotherapy & Oncology (ESTRO). (2017). Sneak Peak on 2018 live courses. http://www.estro.org/binaries/content/assets/estro/school/1---2017course-docs/170307-estro-guide-2017_sneak-peak-2018.pdf. Accessed May 29, 2017.

Fabrigar L.R., Wegener D.T. 2012. Exploratory factor analysis. New York: Oxford University Press. p3.

- Fakhry S.M., Robinson L., Hendershot K., & Reines H.D. (2007). Surgical residents' knowledge of documentation and coding for professional services: an opportunity for a focused educational offering. *Am J Surg*; 194: 263-7.
- ^aFaloon T. (2012). Module 1: Gettign started as a professional. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-8.
- ^bFaloon T. (2012). Module 2: Financial planning. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-13.
- ^cFaloon T. (2012). Module 3: Personal and professional insurance. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-20.
- ^dFaloon T. (2012). Module 5: Legal Issues for physicians. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-10.
- ^eFaloon T. (2012). Module 6: medical records management. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-19.

- ^fFaloon T. (2012). Module 8: Physician remuneration options. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-26.
- ^gFaloon T. (2012). Module 10: Evaluating practice opportunities: family medicine. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-28.
- ^hFaloon T. (2012). Module 11: Negotiating a mutually beneficial locum contract. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-17.
- ⁱFaloon T. (2012). Module 12: Starting your practice on the right foot. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-24.
- ^jFaloon T. (2012). Module 14: Setting up your medical or clinical office. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-14.
- ^kFaloon T. (2012). Module 15: Staffing and human resources. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-23.
- Fenwick T. (2010). Re-thinking the "thing": sociomaterial approaches to understanding and researching learning in work. *J Workplace Learning*; 22(1/2): 104-116.
- Fenwick T. (2014). Sociomateriality in medical practice and learning: attuning to what matters. *Med Educ*; 48: 44-52.
- Fenwick T., & Dahlgren M.A. (2015). Towards socio-material approaches in simulationbased education: lessons from complexity theory. *Med Educ*; 49: 359-67.
- Frank J.R., Snell L., & Sherbino J., Eds. (2015). CanMEDS 2015 physician competency framework. Ottawa: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada.
- Frank J.R., Snell L.S., ten Cate O., Holmboe E.S., Carraccio C., Swing S.R., Harris P., Glasgow N.J., Campbell C., Dath D., Harden R.M., Iobst W., Long D.M., Mungroo R., Richardson D.L., Sherbino J., Silver I., Taber S., Talbot M., & Harris K.A. (2010). Competency-based medical education: theory to practice. *Med Educ*; 32(8): 638-45.
- Garrison R., Anderson T., Archer W. (2001). Critical thinking, cognitive presence and computer conferencing in distance education. *Am JDist Educ*;15:7–23.
- Gehlbach H., & Brinkworth M.E. (2011). Measure twice, cut down error: A process for enhancing the validity of survey scales. *Rev Gen Psychol*; 15:380–387.
- General Medical Council. About the foundation programme. London: General Medical Council, 2010.
- Gill J.B., & Schutt Jr R.C. (2007). Practice management education in orthopaedic surgical residencies. *J Bone Joint Surg*; 89A(1): 216-9.

- Goldszmidt M., & Faden L. (2016). Is medical education ready to embrace the sociomaterial? *Med Educ*; 50(2): 160-6.
- Grant J. (1999). The incapacitating effects of competence: A critique. *Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Practice;* 4(3):271–277.
- Griffin A., Abouharb T., Etherington C., & Bandura I. (2010). Transition to independent practice: a national enquiry into the educational support for newly qualified GPs. *Edu for Primary Care;* 21: 299-307.
- Hafferty F.W., & Franks R. (1994). The hidden curriculum, ethics teaching, and the structure of medical education. *Acad Med;* 69(100): 861-71.
- Hamad Al Bu Ali W., Hassan Balaha M., Kaliyadan F., Bahgat M.& Aboulmagd E. (2013). A framework for competency based medical curriculum in Saudi Arabia. *Mater Sociomed*; 25(3): 148-52.
- Harrison R., Anderson J., Laloe P.-A., Santillo M., Lawton R., & Wright J. (2014). Mentorship for newly appointed consultants: what makes it work? *Postgrad Med J*; 90:439-45.
- Hashimoto D.A., Bynum IV W.E., Lillemoe K.D., & Sachdeva A.K. (2016). See more, do more, teach more: surgical resident autonomy and the transition to independent practice. *Acad Med*;91: 757-60.
- Higgins R., Gallen D., & Whiteman S. (2005). Meeting the non-clinical education and training needs of new consultants. *Postgrad Med J*, 81; 519-23.
- Hopwood N., Rooney D., Boud D., & Kelly M. (2016). Simulation in higher education: a sociomaterial view. *Educ Philos and Theory*; 48(2): 165-78.
- Johnson R.B., Onwuegbuzie A.J., & Turner L.A. (2007). Toward a definition of mixed methods research. *J Mixed Method Res;* 1(2): 112-33.
- Jones K., Lebron R.A., Mangram A. & Dunn E. (2008). Practice management education during surgical residency. *Am J Surg*; 196: 878-82
- Kite S. (2006). Transition from SpR to consultant: a survey of training needs in palliative care. *Pall Med*; 20: 53.
- Kaufman D.M., & Mann K.V. (2014). Chapter 2: Teaching and learning in medical education: how theory can inform practice. In Understanding Medical Education: evidence, theory and practice. 2nd Ed. Wiley Blackwell; Malden MA. Pp: 7-29.
- Larsen D. (2012). Module 7: Electronic medical records. MD Financial Management Inc. Pp 1-13.
- Leung W. (2002). Competency based medical training: Review. *Br Med J*; 325(7366):693–695.
- Li S.T., Tancredi D.J., Schwartz A., Guillot A.P., Burke A.E., Trimm R.F., Guralnick S., Mahan J.D., & Gifford K.A. (2017). Competent for unsupervised practice: use of pediatric residency training milestones to assess readiness. *Acad Med*; 92(3): 385-93.
- Lingard L. (2013). Language matters: towards an understanding of silence and humour in medical education. *Med Educ*; 47: 40-48.
- Lister J.R., Friedman W.A., Murad G.J, & Lombard G.J. (2010). Evaluation of a transition to practice program for neurosurgery residents: creating a safe transition from resident to independent practitioner. *J Grad Med Edu;* 2(3); 366-72.
- Lynch D C., Pugno P., Beebe D.K., & Lin J.J. (2003). Family practice graduate preparedness in the six ACGME competency areas: prequel. *Fam Med*; 35(5); 324-9.
- MacLeod A. (2011). Caring, competence and professional identities in medical education. *Adv in Health Sci Educ*, 16: 375-94.
- MacLeod A., Kits O., Whelan E., Fournier C., Wilson K., Power G., Mann K., Tummons J., & Brown P.A. (2015). Sociomateriality: a theoretical framework for studying distributed medical education. *Acad Med*; 90: 1451-6.
- MacMillan T.E., Rawal S., Cram P., & Liu J. (2016). A journal club for peer mentorship: helping to navigate the transition to independent practice. *Perspect Med Educ;* 5: 312-5.
- Massey O.T. (2011). A proposed model for the analysis and interpretation of focus groups in evaluation research. *Evaluation and Program Planning*;34:21-8.
- Mattar S.G., Alseidi A.A., Jones D.B., Jeyaraja D.R., Swanstrom L.L., Aye R.W., Wexner S.D., Martinez J.M., Ross S.B., Awad M.M., Franklin M.E., Arregui M.E., Schirmer B.D., & Minter R.M. (2013). General surgery residency inadequately prepares trainees for fellowship: results of a survey of fellowship program directors. *Ann Surg*; 258: 440-9.
- McDonnell P.J., Kirwan T.J., Brinton G.S., Colnik K.C., Melendez R.F., Parke II D.W., Renucci A., Hasenyager Smith J., & Smith R.E. (2007). Perceptions of recent ophthalmology residency graduates regarding preparation for practice. *Ophthalmology*; 114: 387-91.
- McKenzie J.F., Wood M.L., Kotecki J.E., Clark J.K., & Brey R.A. (1999). Establishing content validity: using qualitative and quantitative steps. *Am J Health Behav;* 23(4); 311-8.

- McKinstry B., Macnicol M., Elliot K., & Macpherson S. (2005). The transition from learner to provider/teacher: the learning needs of new orthopaedic consultants. *BMC Med Educ*; 5: 17-20.
- Merriam, S.B. (1998). Qualitative research and case study applications in education. San Franscisco, Ca: Jossey-Bass.
- Morgan D.L., & Spanish M.T. (1984). Focus groups: a new tool for qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*; 7(3): 253-70.
- Morrow G., Illing J., Redfern N., Burford B., & Kergon C. (2009). Are specialist registrars fully prepared for the role of consultant? *Clin Teach*; 6:87-90.
- Morrow G., Burford B., Redfern N., Briel R., & Illing J. (2012). Does specialty training prepare doctors for senior roles? A questionnaire study of new UK consultants. *Postgrad Med J*; 88: 558-65.
- Nadler A., Ashamlla S., Escallon J., Ahmed N., & Wright F.C. (2015). Career plans and perceptions in readiness to practice of graduating general surgery residents in Canada. J Surg Edu; 72(2): 205-11.
- NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement & Academy of Medical Royal Colleges. (2010). Medical Leadership Competency Framework: Enhancing engagement in medical leadership. 3rd Ed. Coventry House; University of Warwick Campus, Coventry.
- Noble, H. & Smith J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing;* 18, 34-5.
- Odell D.D., Macke R.A., Tchantchaleishvili V., Loor G., Nelson J.S., LaPar D.J., LaZar J.F., Wei B., DeNino W.F., Berfield K., Stein W., Youssef S.J., & Nguyen T.C. (2015). Resident perception of technical skills education and preparation for independent practice. *Ann Thrac Surg*; 100: 2305-13.
- Orlikowski W.J. (2007). Sociomaterial practices: exploring technology at work. *Organizational Studies*; 28(9): 1435-48.
- Palaganas J.C., Maxworthy J.C., Epps C.A., & Mancini M.E. (2015). Chapter 2.4: Simulation-enhanced interprofessional education: a framework for development. In: Defining excellence in simulation programs. Society for Simulation in Healthcare. Wolters Kluwer, China. pp108-119.
- Patel M., Bhullar J.S., Subhas G., & Mittal V. (2015). Present status of autonomy in surgical residency a program director's perspective. *Am Surg*; 81(8): 786-90.

- Patel S., Jagsi R., Wilson J., Frank S., Thakkar V.V., & Hansen E.K. (2004). Results of the 2004 Association of Residents in Radiation Oncology (ARRO) survey. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*; 66(4): 1199-2003.
- Reenen van R., &Schelfhout-van Deventer V. (2009). Framework for the Dutch Specialist Training Programs. Kaderbesluit Centraal College Medische Specialismen (Dutch). Utrecth, the Netherlands: Koninklijke Nederlandsche Maatschappij tot bevordering der Geneeskunst.
- Rial J., & Scallan S. (2013). Practice-based small group learning (PBSGL) for CPD: a pilot with general practice trainees to support the transition to independent practice. *Educ Primary Care;* 24: 173-7.
- Richardson J.D. (2013). ACS transition to practice program offers residents additional opportunities to hone skills. *Am College Surg, Bulletin;* September 2013.
- ^a(Royal College) Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. (2015). CanMEDS 2015: Competence by Design competency continuum. http://canmeds.royalcollege.ca/en/milestones. Accessed March 1, 2017.
- ^b(Royal College) Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. (2015). Competency training requirements for the area of focused competence in brachytherapy. Version 1.0. http://www.royalcollege.ca/cs/groups/public/documents/document/mdaw/mdg4/~e disp/088007.html. Accessed May 22, 2017.
- ^c(Royal College) Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. About Milestones and EPAs. http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/cbd/milestones-entrustableprofessional-acts-epas-e. Accessed on March 1st, 2017.

^d(Royal College) Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. (2017). Objectives of Training in the Specialty of Radiation Oncology. Version 1.1. pages 1-14.

- Sachdeva A.K., Flynn T.C., Brigham T.P., Dacey Jr R.G., Napolitano LM., Bass B.L., Philibert I., Blair P.G., & Lupi L.K. (2014). Interventions to address challenges associated with the transition from residency training to independent surgical practice. *Surgery*; 155: 867-82.
- Shanafelt T.D., Bradley K.A., Wipf J.E., Back A.L. (2002). Burnout and self-reported patient care in an internal medicine residency program. *Ann Intern Med*; 136(5):358–367.
- Shiner A., & Howe A. (2013). Professional learning during the transition from trainee to newly qualified general practitioner. *Educ Primary Care;* 24; 346-54.
- Sim, J. (1998). Collecting and analysing qualitative data: issues raised by the focus group. *J Adv Nursing*;28(2):345-52.

- Stalmeijer, R.E., McNaughton, N. & Van Mook, W. (2014). Using focus groups in medical education research. *Med Teach*; 36(11), 923-39.
- Standing Committee on Postgraduate Medical and Dental Education (SCOPME). (1998). Supporting doctors and dentists at work: an enquiry into mentoring. London: SCOPME.
- Taylor J.S. (2003). Confronting "culture" in medicine's "culture of no culture." *Acad Med* 78; 555-9.
- Teunissen P.W., &Westerman M. (2011). Opportunity or threat: the ambiguity of the consequences of transitions in medical education. *Med Educ*; 45: 51-9.
- Turner S., Seel M., Trotter T., Giuliani M., Benstead K., Eriksen J.G., Poortmans P., Verfaillie C., Westerveld H., Cross S., Chan M., & Shaw T. (2017). Defining a leader role curriculum for radiation oncology: a global Delphi consensus study. *Radiat Oncol;* 123(2): 331-6.
- Wear D., & Skillicorn D.O. (2009). Hidden in plain sight: the formal, informal, and hidden curricula. *Acad Med*; 84(4): 451-8.
- Wenger E., & Wenger-Trayner B. (2015). Communities of practice a brief introduction. April 15, 2015. Accessed July 14, 2018. http://wenger-trayner.com/wpcontent/uploads/2015/04/07-Brief-introduction-to-communities-of-practice.pdf
- Westerman M., Teunissen P.W., van der Vleuten C.P.M., Scherpbier A.J.J.A., Siegert C.E.H., van der Lee N., & Scheele F. (2010). Understanding the transition from resident to attending physician: a transdisciplinary, qualitative study. *Acad Med*;85(12): 1914-9.
- ^aWesterman M., Teunissen P.W., Kokkema J.P.I., van der Vleuten C.P.M., Scherpbier A. J.J.A, Siegert C.E.H., & Scheele F. (2013). The transition to hospital consultant and the influence of preparedness, social support, and perception: a structural equation modelling approach. *Med Teach*; 35(4); 320-7.
- ^bWesterman M., Teunissen P.W., Jorgensen R.L., Fokkema J.P.I., Siegert C.E.H., Van der Vleuten C.P.M., Scherpbier A.J.J.A., Ringsted C., & Scheele F. (2013). The transition to hospital consultant: Denmark and the Netherlands compared on preparedness for practice, perceived intensity and contextual factors. *Med Teach*; 35(6); 481-9.
- Wichman C.L., Netzel P.J., & Menaker R. (2009). Preparing psychiatric residents for the "real world": a practice management curriculum. *Acad Psych*; 33: 131-4.
- Wiener-Ogilvie S., Bennison J., & Smith V. (2014). General practice training environment and its impact on preparedness. *Edu Primary Care*; 25: 8-17.

- Wilkie G., &Raffaelli D. (2005). In at the deep end: making the transition from SpR to consultant. *Adv Psych Treat*; 11: 107-14.
- Wright K.B. (2005). Researching internet-based populations: advantages and disadvantages of online survey research, online questionnaire authoring software packages, and web survey services. J Computer-Mediated Communication; 10(3).
- Yardley S., Westerman M., Bartlett M., Walton J.M., Smith J., &Peile E. (2018). The do's, don't and don't knows of supporting transition to more independent practice. *Perspect Med Educ*; 7:8-22.
- Yazan B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*; 20(2): 134-52.
- Yee D., Fairchild A., Keyes M., Butler J., & Dundas G. (2005). 2003 survey of Canadian radiation oncology residents. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*; 62(2): 526-34.
- Yoo S.K., Bian S.X., Lin E., Batth S.S., Ng L.W., Andrade J., Williams P.A., Pham A.H., Ragab O.M., Schechter N.R., Chang E.L., &Jennelle R.L.S. (2018). Development of a radiation oncology resident continuity clinic to improve clinical competency and patient compliance. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*; 100(3): 551-5.
- Younan, H. (2017). Simulation-based medical education to improve intrinsic motivation in medical students. *Advances in Medical Education and Practice*; 8: 31-32.

Appendix A: CanMEDS core competencies

Medical Expert

Practice medicine within their defined scope of practice and expertise

Perform a patient-centered clinical assessment and establish a management plan Plan and perform procedures and therapies for the purpose of assessment and/or management

Establish plans for ongoing care and, when appropriate, timely consultation

Actively contribute, as an individual and as a member of a team providing care, to the continuous improvement of health care quality and patient safety

Communicator

Establish professional therapeutic relationships with patients and their families

Elicit and synthesize accurate and relevant information, incorporating the perspectives of patients and their families

Share health care information and plans with patients and their families

Engage patients and their families in developing plans that reflect the patient's health care needs and goals

Document and share written and electronic information about the medical encounter to optimize clinical decision-making, patient safety, confidentiality, and privacy

Collaborator

Work effectively with physicians and other colleagues in the health care professions

Work with physicians and other colleagues in the health care professions to promote understanding, manage differences, and resolve conflicts Hand over the care of a patient to another health care professional to facilitate continuity of safe patient care

Leader

Contribute to the improvement of health care delivery in teams, organizations, and systems

Engage in the stewardship of health care resources

Demonstrate leadership in professional practice

Manage their practice and career

Health Advocate

Respond to an individual patient's health needs by advocating with the patient within and beyond the clinical environment

Respond to the needs of the communities or populations they serve by advocating with them for a system-level change in a socially accountable manner

Scholar

Engage in the continuous enhancement of their professional activities through ongoing learning

Teach students, residents, the public, and other health care professionals

Integrate best available evidence into practice

Contribute to the creation and dissemination of knowledge and practices applicable to health

Professional

Demonstrate a commitment to patients by applying best practices and adhering to high ethical standards

Demonstrate a commitment to society by recognizing and responding to societal

expectations in health care

Demonstrate a commitment to the profession by adhering to standards and

participating in physician-led regulation

Demonstrate a commitment to physician health and well-being to foster optimal patient care

Frank J. R., Snell L., & Sherbino J., editors. (2015). CanMEDS 2015 physician competency framework. Ottawa: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada.

Appendix B: ACGME: 6 core competencies

Patient Care and Procedural Skills

Residents must be able to provide patient care that is compassionate, appropriate, and effective for the treatment of health problems and the promotion of health.

Residents must be able to competently perform all medical, diagnostic, and surgical procedures considered essential for the area of practice.

Medical Knowledge

Residents must demonstrate knowledge of established and evolving biomedical, clinical, epidemiological and social-behavioral sciences, as well as the application of this knowledge to patient care.

Practice-based Learning and Improvement

Residents must demonstrate the ability to investigate and evaluate their care of patients, to appraise and assimilate scientific evidence, and to continuously improve patient care based on constant self-evaluation and life-long learning.

Interpersonal and Communication Skills

Residents must demonstrate interpersonal and communication skills that result in the effective exchange of information and collaboration with patients, their families, and health professionals.

Professionalism

Residents must demonstrate a commitment to carrying out professional responsibilities and an adherence to ethical principles.

Systems-based Practice

Residents must demonstrate an awareness of and responsiveness to the larger context and system of health care, as well as the ability to call effectively on other resources in the system to provide optimal health care.

ACGME. (2016). ACGME: common program requirements. Approved focused revision Sep 2013; effective July 2016.

Appendix C: Participant Information Sheet – Focus Groups

Transition to Practice in Radiation Oncology

You are invited to consider participating in this research study which is examining what skills are perceived as deficient in Radiation Oncology residents as they transition to independent practice. You have been selected as you are either a senior radiation oncology resident in the final two years of study, a Radiation Oncology fellow, a Radiation Oncologist within 3 years of starting practice, a Radiation Oncology department head, and a Radiation Oncology residency program director or Radiation Oncology residency program administrator.

This study is being conducted across Canada. The primary investigator will explain the details of the study and how the information gained will be used. Please read through the entirety of this document to better understand what participation involves. You can discuss it with your family, and friends prior to making a decision. You can also ask the primary investigator for further explanation or if you have questions. Participation is voluntary.

The primary investigator is Dr. Lara Best, a Radiation Oncologist associated with Dalhousie University in Halifax, Nova Scotia. This project is part of a Thesis for completion of a Masters of Education through Acadia University in Wolfville, Nova Scotia. No funding has been obtained for this study and there are no perceived conflicts of interest on the part of the researchers.

What is the main purpose of the study?

The transition from residency to a full specialist role is associated with a sense of achievement, but is also often fraught with raised stress levels and negative emotions. Most new graduates report a high feeling of competency in the clinical domains, but cite concern in other areas of practice management. These areas can be dissembled into a few larger themes. Initiation of a full staff position is usually accompanied by a geographical move leading to feelings of isolation, fewer perceived networking opportunities, less peer support and difficulty accessing meaningful long-term clinical relationships. Another common theme is a sense of being inadequately prepared for the non-clinical demands of being a staff specialist, including management skills, handling the new financial aspects of personal and clinical expenses, supervising learners and having a teaching role. Taken together, these stresses lead to a high level of burnout.

These concerns have been recognized by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (Royal College) who as part of the mandated the transition from time-based residency to Competence by Design (CBD), have included a Transition to Practice module as the last stage of residency. However there has been minimal guidance as to what should be included in this module, beyond higher-order CanMEDS roles. The goal of this project is to examine the perceived preparedness for independent practice that the current residency training curriculum provides Radiation Oncology residents. The data will help inform the development of a TtP curriculum to help fill this void, and fulfill the Royal College requirement for a TtP phase of residency training.

136

What if I don't want to take part in this study or want to withdraw later?

Participation in this study is voluntary. You can withdraw your consent at any point. Tell any member of the research team about your desire to stop and you may stop participating. This can occur at any point during the study.

What does participation in the study involve?

This portion of the study involves the use of focus groups. A focus group involves 6 – 10 participants discussing a topic, under the direction of a researcher. You are asked to participate in a focus group that will include others involved in the transition to practice for Radiation Oncology residents. These can include; senior radiation oncology residents in the final two years of study, Radiation Oncology fellows, Radiation Oncologists within 3 years of starting practice, Radiation Oncology department heads, and Radiation Oncology residency program directors or Radiation Oncology residency program administrators. You will be asked to discuss what effect the current residency training program has on Radiation Oncology residents on their transition to independent practice. To help answer this, you will also be asked to discuss a few other issues including:

- 1. Describe the current transition to practice for Radiation Oncology
- 2. What are the current gaps in the transition to practice in Radiation Oncology?
- 3. How could you address gaps in transition to practice, if you have identified gaps
- 4. What competencies, skills, knowledge attitudes do you think, if any, should be taught/focused on during a TtP curriculum?

5. How can a resident acquire these competencies?

The focus group will be audio recorded. The researcher will also take notes during the discussion. You will also get a follow-up phone call or e-mail/letter outlining what was discussed at the focus group. This is to ensure than any comments you made have been transcribed accurately by the research team.

If you decide to participate, you will be asked to sign the Study Consent form. By consenting, you do not waive any rights to legal recourse in the event of a research-related harm.

Are there any benefits associated with participating in the study?

Participation in the focus groups will allow your opinion to help shape our understanding of the issues and concerns around the transition to practice for Radiation Oncology residents. Your comments and suggestions may help the researchers decide what skills, knowledge and attitudes should be added to a transition to practice module during residency training. This could include what topics are included, how these skills/competencies are taught, and how much time should be spend on addressing each.

Are there any risks associated with participating in the study?

There is the theoretical concern that participation may harm professional relationships. In particular, whether discussion about competencies not adequately covered during residency by a senior resident may interfere with their ability to get a staff position. This issue will be discussed with the focus group prior to commencement. It will be reiterated to participants that all discussion is confidential and all data published will be anonymous so that individuals cannot be identified.

Will taking part in the study cost me anything, and will I be paid?

There is no cost involved with participation in the study, beyond the time required. It is expected that the focus group will take between 1 - 2 hours. You will not receive payment for taking part in this study.

How will my confidentiality be protected and what happens with the results?

All data about you collected for this study will be kept in an electronic file that is stored on an encrypted, and password protected server. The data will be stored for 10 years. The data will not be shared with anyone outside of the research group. However, employers may have access to information that is submitted through a workplace computer. We cannot guarantee total privacy, as your information may need to be released in confidence to the regulatory authorities and/or the Human Research Ethics Committee, with the understanding that the records will be used only in connection with carrying out our obligations relating to the study.

If you decide to withdraw from the study, data collected prior to that point may still be used as part of the study. A person can refuse to allow any more information to be collected about them if they withdraw from the study. If the information gathered from this study is published or presented at scientific meetings, all personal data will be removed so that you cannot be recognized.

You will maintain the right to access and request correction of information related to the study. You will receive a follow-up phone call or e-mail/letter outlining what was discussed at the focus group. This is to ensure than any comments you made have been transcribed and interpreted accurately by the research team, thus providing you a chance to make any necessary corrections.

What should I do if I want to discuss this study further before I decide?

If you have questions about the study, you can contact the study team. The primary investigator, Dr. Lara Best can be reached at 902-473-1474, Radiation Oncology Department, Dickson Building, 5820 University Ave, Halifax Nova Scotia, B3H4J2 or via email at Lara.Best@nshealth.ca.

Who should I contact if I have concerns about the conduct of this study?

This research has been approved by the Acadia University Research Ethics Board. For concerns about your rights as a participant while you are part of the study, or if you have a complaint about the manner in which the research is being conducted, it may be given to the researcher. Or, if an independent person is preferred, you can contact Dr. Stephen Maitzen, Research Ethics Board Chair at Acadia University, who can be contacted at: Research Ethics Board, 214 Horton Hall, Acadia University, Wolfville Nova Scotia, B4P2R6, email: smaitzen@acadiau.ca.

Appendix D: Study Consent Form

Transition to Practice in Radiation Oncology

Dr. Lara Best has discussed the above study with me.

I have:

- Read, understood and kept a copy of the Participant Information Sheet related to this study
- Had an opportunity to ask questions and have had them answered to my satisfaction
- Been informed of the possible risks and benefits of enrolling on this study
- Understood that the study is to examine what skills are perceived as deficient in Radiation Oncology residents as they transition to independent practice, and may or may not benefit me
- Been informed that my information will be stored in a manner to ensure confidentiality is maintained
- Given consent for publishing of results related to the study, provided my identity is kept confidential
- Understood that I can withdraw from the study at any point without penalty
- Agreed to participate in the study

PARTICIPANT'S NAME: _____

PARTICPANT'S SIGNATURE: _____

DATE: _____

I confirm that I have fully discussed the nature, purpose and reasonably foreseeable risks of participation in the above mentioned study. I confirm that he/she has read and kept a copy of the Participant Information Sheet and he/she freely agrees to participate in the study.

RESEARCHER'S NAME: Dr. Lara Best

RESEARCHER'S SIGNATURE: _____

DATE: _____

Appendix E: TtP Curricular Details

	Program directors /	New ROs	Fellows	PGY4/5
	RC CBD committee			
Content	Heterogeneous based on	• I	•we do one month	Practice Management
	resident wishes: 1	nominally	of rotation with	• So they've [staff] been
	• If they have a job to go	had a	only one staff as	giving us different
	to, we have let them go	rotation	a transition to	pointers. Like keeping
	on an elective to their	called	practice	track of the patients at
	new site so that they can	transition	•we were pretty	various stages of
	get a feel for it.	to	well prepped or I	treatment or diagnosis,
	• If they're going into a	practice	was pretty well	and really trying to
	fellowship then they	I had a	prepped by the	learn to follow up on
	continue on with training	fine	end of residency	investigations that we
	• at least one of the	experience	in terms of, you	order ourselves, and
	residents this year, that	. I just	know, what's	take ownership of the
	we felt that a research	didn't	your approach to	patient. But I would say
	block would have been	think it	QA-ing plans	it's very variable
	more beneficial to that	was all	and what to look	depending on the stall
	individual rather than to	different	for and now to	There's one staff who is
	have him do more clinical	then what	look lor II. And,	• There's one stall who is
	work. So his clinical	I had been	you know, who	for a period of time
	work was excellent but	doing for	there's sort of a	who will check her
	the research component	the	concern	natients' lab works for
	and completing the	previous	concern	every patient that's
	scholarly project	vear		there sign off on
	(Otherwise have formal	J		imaging reports and if
	policy and procedures to			they're flagged, talk to
	give signing authority to			other services if need
	residents, and then also			be. But for all intents
	having more graduated			and purposes, most
	responsibilities in terms			other staff do not
	of seeing patients and			actually let us take
	having staff on-call			significant
	during the day, and more			responsibility for
	responsibilities within			patients. They're still
	QA rounds and			the overarching
	multidisciplinary rounds,			authority.
	and etc			Resident Longitudinal
	• Others have used that			Clinic
	time to either fulfil their			• we have a longitudinal
	ABR requirements in			clinic from PGY 4.5 to
	terms of getting their			naliway through PGY 5
	[? 00:10:41] medicine			to see patients and
	stull done that they might			consult and follow
	not nave done before			them through most of
	• residents just kind of			the planning process
	whatever clinic they feel			and in follow-up for that
	that they need more			vear So we're
	experience in			supervised by a
	• a couple of our residents			responsible staff
	whatever clinic they feel that they need more experience in • a couple of our residents			and in follow-up for that year. So we're supervised by a responsible staff

have done research		physician. But the onus
blocks to complete their		is on us to triage
research work And		referrals identify
that's been successful		natients that we want to
• One did some elective		see and then follow
• One did some elective		them along So it gives
time in a disease site at		them along. So it gives
another centre,		a bit more independence
anticipating doing a		with regards to some of
fellowship back at our		the management and
centre in that disease site		learning about some of
• she's interested in		the administrative perils
teaching. So she did		and pitfalls that come
some She participated		with following people
in a resident physics		for that length of time
teaching course that was		Tumor board
going on with the junior		participation
residents		• In our centre like the
• we've just been winging		residents do present the
it from person to person		case [at tumor rounds]
depending on what their		Like the discussion part
repending on what then		it's more the staff
needs are		it's more the start.
• We have some graded		
responsibilities for senior		
residents in terms of their		
responsibilities for		
treatment planning –		
what they can and can't		
sign off. But that's not		
exclusive to transition to		
practice		
Formal		
curric/component: 2		
• implemented a senior		
residents clinic where		
they have minimal		
supervision for that		
• residents work they		
nick up 24 patients that		
they treat independently		
and they do all the patient		
review and follow-up		
and they do all the		
and they do an the		
plaining, and they can		
Sign the plan and send it		
for physics check. It s		
just the first treatment		
isn t delivered until the		
statt signs it		
• formal policy and		
procedures to give		
signing authority to		
residents, and then also		
having more graduated		
responsibilities in terms		
of seeing patients and		

Staff/faculty Whatever sort of	Staff • I notice it's staff
•Whatever sort of prep you got for practicing depended on what staff you were working with at the time of residency. So it was extremely variable	 I notice it's staff-dependent. So some of my staff feel really strongly about getting residents starting in PGY4 to start learning how to manage practices It's very staff dependent So my experience is the amount of autonomy you have really depends on the preceptor that you're working with. So I could potentially have more responsibility as an R2 than as an R4, depending on what staff I'm with and their level of comfort in allowing me to be more independent Resident I would say there's mainly self-directed. So you put your mindset Like in PGY5, you set your mind to act as a staff and to try to be as independent as possible you just try to drive yourself as if you are a staff. So you are preparing yourself by
	Staff/faculty •Whatever sort of prep you got for practicing depended on what staff you were working with at the time of residency. So it was extremely variable

Appendix F: Perceived gaps in TtP

	Program	New ROs	Fellows	PGY4/5
	directors			
Collaboration	• <u>discussion with</u> <u>the planner</u> , whatever discussions take place kind of in the process, that they're not involved with enough	 Our residency program, we did some kind of like conflict resolution kinds of sessions. But it was more patient-centred. And I feel comfortable with different patients. But as far as just staff dynamics, that can really drag somebody's day down if there's that kind of politics and stuff happening. And things you delegate that I'm supposed to do versus my say admin. Because as a resident, you did it all. And then you now have an admin who's there to help you. And you don't really know what they're supposed to do [balance between implementing change] And not ruffling too many feathers I'm just kind of walking in and like just kind of doing stuff. But I would be doing things, and not knowing that I've ruffled somebody's feathers one day or the next day putting people in different situations or making them uncomfortable, asking them to do things differently. And sometimes it's 	• Meaning that it's always easier for the physicist or for the primary or even for people who are seeing the patient like nurses during radiation to direct the patient to staff because they know that it's the staff who has the answers rather than the residents. So unwantedly, sometimes a resident gets excluded from the process of longitudinal care. And I think that's something that is very important	• So our program director tells the staff to then actually call us. But they don't sometimes know which rotation we're on. They don't always want to check the schedule because it's an extra step for them. And then it's easier for them to just call the staff. Because sometimes we'll have to call the staff anyway. So instead of calling junior residents, they know that it's just easier to bypass that step

Commun	 And how that 	as a staff, not only are	
-ication	needs to be sent	you having to get kind	
	to the family	of the consult on paper,	
	doctor. How do	and maybe talking to	
	I send that to	the physician on the	
	the family	phone, trying to get	
	doctor?	what information is	
	• How to sav no	there, and what kind of	
	to your chair	timely fashion can you	
	Radiation	see them	
	completion		
	notes: We		
	assume that the		
	diagnosis has to		
	be there, the		
	prescription.		
	But how		
	detailed? You		
	know, do we		
	put in what		
	[? 00:20:13]		
	energy, side		
	effects, all these		
	tnings?		
	Everytning s		
	assumed. And		
	standardized		
	way of putting		
	it down As		
	long as it's just		
	done. So that's		
	a problem		
	• I think part of		
	the challenge is		
	for example the		
	radiation, the		
	completion		
	notes that we		
	do, and		
	documentation		
	that we do.		
	Nobody is		
	actually talking		
	about what to		
	do		
	• I think part of		
	the challenge is,		
	for example, the		
	radiation, the		
	completion		
	notes that we		
	do, and		
	documentation		
	that we do.		

	Nobody is		
	actually talking		
	about what to		
	do		
	• XRT planning		
	notes.		
	Everything's		
	<u>Everytining s</u>		
	assumed. And		
	there's no		
	standardized		
	way of putting		
	it down. As		
	long as it's just		
	done. So that's		
	a problem		
	• about insurance		
	forms and how		
	to complete		
	them and when		
	them, and why		
	it's important		
	for the patient		
	and whatnot		
	 insurance forms 		
	are a real pain.		
	I'm still		
	struggling on		
	how to figure		
	out how to fill		
	them out		
	them out		
TT 1/1			
Health	•		
Ad			
Leader –	• I've observed		• What extra work
Admin	that our senior		the staff is doing
	residents don't		other than the
	always have an		clinical service I
	annregistion for		have no idea about
	is dealing with		that
	is ucaning with		ulat.
	the		
	administrative		
	aspects of		
	practice.		
	• other very		
	overwhelming		
	was all the		
	administration		
	and the		
	anu the		
T 1	рарегиотк		
Leader –	• Chairing		• M2: Like in our
Leader-	tumour site		centre, like the
ship	groups or		residents do present

roles	chairing departmental committees			the case. Like the discussion part, it's more the staff. R2: Exactly. They skip over you and go back to the staff, "Like what do you want to do?"
Leader – Billing & Pay	 billing, you know, they really have no exposure to that at all in our centre they don't know anything about how they get paid. And we haven't been very good at educating them on that how we're paid and the business management, and incorporation versus salaried, and is there a pension, and all that kind of stuff, that information is not really disclosed other very overwhelming was all the billing and the administration and the paperwork That different jurisdictions, different organizations, depending on how you're paid, incorporation may or may not be beneficial. And that information is 	 Except that as a resident, you don't know any of the logistical background and billing issues I got none of that with respect to billings and payments and incorporation and that. I think also like the financial aspect. No one teaches us and then we're supposed to all of a sudden be business savvy. And like the first year you have to do your taxes as a staff, like that is very overwhelming. You have no idea. And I always found that it was a very hush-hush thing where I trained. I trained at a centre that was fee-forservice. And it was like you don't know the rational. Like yes, we should get paid for what we do. But you need to know the decision-making so you don't just start doing things on autopilot. And then you start billing And I found when I started, no one One side of one of the sites I treated were great with telling me, "Okay, this is what we bill 	• But I think there's a procedural transition to practice as well, exactly as was brought up - how you're going to bill and what are all these nuances. And I think that's something that can be learned over a short period of time	 The billings But then on top of that, you have your billing. Because we don't know enough about it [billing] to know when we should start learning about it. So stuff like that that [career planning, financial planning workshop], you know, people don't really talk about.

really hard to	for this for this for	
get and to	this for this. This is	
get and to	have use do it " and it	
	now we do it, and it	
• how we're paid	made sense. And	
and the	then the other site, I	
business	had no idea. And like	
management,	I talked to some	
and	friends at other sites	
incorporation	that do things, and	
versus salaried.	I'm like, oh, that	
and is there a	doesn't sound right.	
pension and all	And then I talked to	
that kind of	other people and I'm	
stuff that	like okay that	
information is	sounds right Then	
not really	you kind of just pick	
disclosed	what you think is a	
uiscioscu	happy medium But	
	you don't know	
	money is a yerry	
	• money is a very	
	important timing once	
	you start becoming a	
	stall. And a lot of	
	people get really up	
	in arms about it	
	• I don't think we get	
	any of that financial	
	stuff	
	• Or if you're salaried	
	or But like do you	
	need to get RRSPs?	
	Do you have a	
	pension? Do you	
	have to all of a	
	sudden invest?	
	• certainly in the	
	provinces, there are	
	large variabilities	
	between centres in	
	terms of how	
	payments are	
	structured and	
	billings are	
	structured	
	• I always found that it	
	was a very hush-hush	
	thing where I trained	
	[discussion around	
	the financial aspects	
	of practice	
	management at a	
	management at a	
	for_service]	
	then lite way'r	
	• then like you're	
	almost afraid to ask	

Leader – Recogniz	• they go to senior staff a	anybody because like money is like really bad to talk about supposedly.		
e own limits	lot. Which is absolutely fine. But then it reflects back on their time management			
Leader – Time manage- ment	 especially in the first few months, they suffer quite a bit in terms of everything taking longer and their day taking longer, and all their activities taking longer they also are unaware of how much work they can handle Time management can become an issue on them 	• I can't work at the same capacity that staff physicians who have been doing this for 10 or 20 years can work at. Like just in terms of the volume that I can see and the time that it takes me, I'm not as efficient. And I found that that was really discouraging at least initially.		
Leader – Practice Manage- ment	 I think residents don't appreciate how there is already organization to the clinic and the nursing staff and the clerical staff when they're working with somebody – how that person's practice is Once it's established, it's sort of organized, things are in place, things happen without you really having to do 	 You start your independent practice. And then it's like, okay, here's your grid for when your patients are going to come. They're going to come every 15 minutes, and you're going to have a consult at 9:00, 10:00 and 11:00 with fellowships in between, and here you go, do it. There's no one that really meets with you it took quite some number of months to figure out how to maketo make sure I was doing that kind of right or in a way 	 as far as like the day-to-day sort of how to structure a practice, how to organize things, I am sort of getting teachable moments here and there. But not anything sort of overt or structured or anything like that. I'll have certain ideas as to how I think things should go, and the staff I'll be working with that day says 	 I think generally managing a practice. Like the time and organizational factor. Like I don't think we recognize how much Like just doing the clinical work is enough and occupying most of your day. Just hunting down, you know, results and calling your patients and doing this and that. Like how do you delegate your stuff? Like some staff are

		1	
much. And th	hen that worked for me in	"No, absolutely	describing what
when they ge	et terms of time	not. If you do	they are doing
into practice,	management and	that, you'll be	but not everyone
none of that	s making sure all those	seeing patients	• There's one staff
there. So eve	ry boxes were checked	until 3 in the	who is comfortable
single thing t	hat and whatnot	morning. You	going away for a
has to happen	n, • I also found one of	have to do it	period of time, who
every patient	the biggest gaps was	like this."	will check her
that has to ge	et expectations and	• I think part of it	patients' lab works
fit in	what is expected of	is also, okay,	for every patient
somewhere,	or you. You come in.	you've got a	that's there, sign
how often	Okay, you're going	well patient and	off on imaging
you're going	to to treat head and	now what do	reports, and if
see your	neck, and breast.	you want to do	they're flagged,
patients	Okay. How many	next? How are	talk to other
• don't know	patients are you	you going to	services if need be.
where the	supposed to see?	structure	But for all intents
orders go. So	How many new	follow-up?	and purposes, most
they tell a nu	rse patients are vou	How are vou	other staff do not
that. "I need	a supposed to see?	going to	actually let us take
CT scan." an	d How many follow-	schedule these	significant
then "Well	I ups are you supposed	follow-ups so	responsibility for
get the CT	to see? When are	that you don't	patients They're
scan " and th	en contours supposed to	get so	still the overarching
they don't kn	ow be done? When do	overburdened	authority
when how	to patients get SIM2 So	that you have	• what do you need
follow that u	n nationts have a	no room to see	• what do you need
do a referral	SIM Like do I	consults?	sink or swim in
• do a feferiar	have a SIM day or	Because your	sink of swim in
• now do I do a	a nave a Shiri day of	clinics are	your career practice
	intermittently getting	booked up for	
to ensure that	done? Am I	the next 6	
review the	supposed to come	months	
pathology?	down to the SIM and	Information and a Laboration	
How does that	at down to the Shvi and		
information	inark the whe?	management is	
come back to	• knowing like now	another thing	
me?	many days you re		
• <u>information</u>	supposed to be clinic,		
management	and like what are		
• I think	your responsibilities		
establishing	going to be, and what		
your own	is expected from you		
practice of he	in terms of how		
to not lose a	many patients you		
patient in	should be seeing per		
follow-up or	week or per month.		
not lose a	 not only a skill in 		
patient	terms of		
-	administration		
	[practice		
	management], which		
	is what a lot of these		
	skills we're talking		
	about are that are		
	gaps that we're		

		clinical skill that I		
		never really got		
		e what is my practice		
		• what is my practice		
		going to be, now can		
		1 slot them in? So not		
		necessarily only just		
		gaps in the		
		administrative side		
		but also there are		
		some like clinical		
		gaps that just as a		
		resident, you don't		
		getl didn't get		
		exposed to at least.		
		• I remember my first		
		weekend being on-		
		call and having to		
		treat a patient, and		
		being like how who's		
		turning on the		
		machine, how are we		
		getting physics, how		
		are we getting		
		therapy, who do I		
		whom am I calling? I		
		had no idea. So then		
		you're sitting there		
		feeling like an idiot		
		because vou're now		
		the staff		
		• Some of the logistic		
		stuff, not so much		
		because you didn't		
		want to waste		
		people's time		
Leader –	• information	• As a resident you	• And I am	• And there's a
Institu-	management	don't know any of	finding	difference Like
tional	And it can be	the logistical	differences in	when people come
Diff-	unique to each	background and	sort of how you	from other centres
erences	centre So what	what is required of	would structure	or staff are hired
•••••••	works during	you in terms of	a practice here	from other centres
	their training	documentation and	versus	and they bring their
	may not be the	so on And I got none	[elsewhere]	own experience in
	same way that	of that	Because some	from their own
	it's managed at	• no documentation of	• Decause solite	centre it's like
	another centre	like what's given to	to be	"Oh when we had
	• That different	NOU or at my	institutional	treatment nlanning
	inrisdictions	institution at least	where you	or like when we
	different	when you start of	know you have	had a plan to sign
	organizations	when you stall of what should be done	nursing support	everybody went to
	depending on	And like to make	or you have	the dosimetrist
	how you're	sure that you're	other people	together "I ike the
	now you re	hitting all of the right	where you can	resident with their
	incorporation	steps And so I find	sort of "Okay	staff And there
	may or may not	that has been the	can you please	wasn't as much of a
	may or may not	that has been the	cun you picase	

be beneficial	greatest challenge	check this for	time crunch at their
And that	all the other	me" so that	centre But our
information is	• all the other	vou're not	centre is like verv
really hard to	the things that you	you le not	like flag system
act and to	den't realize and such	naving to do	must be done by
get and to	don t realize are even	thing yourgolf	this time. And we
	happening as a	uning yoursen	regalized at down
• especially if	resident but your		to goth or with the
you go to a	staff are doing		designed with the
different centre,	without even really		dosimetrist with the
you re going to	telling you		resident, with the
have orientation	• what is the		staff together and
because you	institutional		ask those 17.45
don't know how	standard?		[00:17:45] Can I
they do things	• Then it's also like the		push this more
•	culture, I guess, of		here, can I push
	your institution. Like		that more here? It
	where I was, like no		depends on our
	one really wanted to		experiences
	treat after-hours.		
	• I returned to the		
	institution where I		
	did my residency		
	training, that thea		
	lot of information		
	that I feel like I		
	should have as an		
	attending physician		
	was not really given		
	to me because they		
	just assumed that I		
	knew how things		
	worked at the		
	institution		
	• Not so much actually		
	in the clinical work		
	but in the		
	expectations of what		
	it means to be an		
	attending at an		
	institution, and all of		
	the departmental		
	policies. I'm sure		
	they're written		
	somewhere but no		
	one even told me like		
	where to find them.		
	So that's been		
	challenging		
	• Not so much actually		
	in the clinical work		
	but in the		
	expectations of what		
	it means to be an		
	attending at an		
	institution, and all of		

		the departmental policies. I'm sure they're written somewhere but no one even told me like where to find them. So that's been challenging • a lot of differences between different centres. And so you'd go to a different centre, and you're like, "Oh, this is how we did it in centre A." And so it would be, "We don't have that ability. So here's how we do it here." And so you've got a little bit of a difference • [trying to teach about financial aspects]Which would probably vary depending on where you've trained too, right. Like so obviously every training program is going to have slight difference or different		
		province or different centres		
Leader – enacting change	•	 And I think for me, the biggest gap was trying to find a balance between hopefully enacting change in the new centre, like if I feel like I have something to add. I want to conform but also, you know, gradually bring in some ideas that maybe I picked up during fellowship it's like a bit of an art of like when to like start bringing in, "You know, when I 	•	

		did my fellowship, we did MR SIMs in these situations, and it actually worked out really nicely. And, you know, it's something we should consider in the future." And I do find it's a delicate art. And it's not something that of course is ever addressed in residency (collaboration??)		
Medical Expert – Ultimate Respons- ibility	 they find that the assessment of palliative simulation and making sort of immediate decisions at the simulator stressful being ultimately responsible for the decision the buck stops here when you're first year in practice, the buck stops with you making the decision and being responsible for the decision, not being backed up they are new at being absolutely responsible for everything, they tend to check and second- guess things I think the most overwhelming thing was to learn how to take charge of a 		• You don't necessarily get quite that same experience [making patient management decisions] in residency unless you have a staff who is very comfortable with letting you drive more, and you're sort of feeling competent enough to say, "No, no, I am sort of going to spearhead this."	

	patient from A to Z, knowing that it's your patient			
Medical Expert – Continuit y of Care	•	 I think that that's what often gets It's the continuity that often gets lost You know, it's what happens after you do the contours that you don't really get a lot of experience with as a resident because you're seeing so many new patients and doing contours all the time. And then because a lot of this is protocolized, it just goes on autopilot. 	• But when it comes to reviewing the plans and approving the plans and actually dealing with the side effects of the radiation which is being done, that longitudinal follow-up sometimes is not existing.	•
Medical Expert – XRT planning process	 gotten a lot of feedback about onboard imaging assessment being weak assessment of plans they're not involved with enough XRT planning notes: Everything's assumed. And there's no standardized way of putting it down. As long as it's just done. So that's a problem 	 the centre that I'm working at, is I'm really having to think about how do I want to simulate patients, how do I want them set up, how do I want them treated, what imaging do I want – all these other things. Whereas during training, it was already basically set up for me and I never had to think about those things. And it's actually quite difficult now to actually have to go through and think about each and every step. And not that I think I'm doing things wrong but I just don't have the experience thinking through those steps kind of not understanding the process what task should I put in the Aria treatment planning 	 So fellowship has helped with that feeling of independence and signing off on plans and that kind of stuff. I'm pretty comfortable QA-ing plans once I've got the different constraints here down pat because they are very different from what I'm used to. I would say that my main area that I thought after, even after Royal College, that I needed to focus on a little bit better was plan approval and plan evaluation. We barely did any of that in 	• I think the American residents are called far more frequently for image verification, for example. So I was talking to some of my American colleagues. It almost feels like, oh my goodness, you have all that training in residency? And then we'd have to transition to that as junior staff. Which is going to be intimidating. Who do you ask if you're the last authority there?

		system to make sure that this gets triaged to the right person?" • I find this is like 90% of my clinical responsibilities, is just like asking how to get things done	residency [plan approval and plan evaluation] • particularly for the programs that have a lot of fellows, then to the same token, it's easier always to say the fellow because they have a little bit of a higher authority when it comes to making decisions. So as a resident, sometimes I really felt that I'm not part of the whole process. And that really affects your comfort level, whether you are prepared to move into a full-blown consulting position	
Medical	•	• Like as a resident,	•	•
expert – triaging		you just see whatever your staff has booked		
cases		that day. And you		
		don't really think		
		about, well, when did that consult come in?		
		• as a staff, not only		
		are you having to get		
		kind of the consult		
		talking to the		
		physician on the		
		phone, trying to get what information is		
		there, and what kind		
		of timely fashion can		
		you see them It took a lot of time		
		initially to try to		
		figure out. Like		
		 because everything seemed urgent right away. And then you kind of start to realize, okay, what actually is, and what is a safe time to see them in? A gap in terms of like triaging patients themselves. Which I found was like a whole new clinical skill that I didn't have 		
---	--	--	---	---
Medical Expert – completi ng forms	•	 But knowing certain things about insurance forms and this and that, I would just find it would waste a lot of my time initially I don't understand how to order tests, I don't know what forms to fill out to get patients treated, I don't even know who to ask when I don't know the answer to a question. So that's certainly very frustrating 	•	•
Profess- ional	 <u>physician</u> <u>wellness piece</u> how do you go into your own practice and still have a good work-life balance? Who do you go to if you're running into trouble? Who do you talk to? We need to teach that better. 	 How do you get all that done in an 8 to 10 hour day, and get home, and not be still doing paperwork all night? How do you get the balance of your personal life and your professional life? I don't really know how to address that culture issue because that seems to be the challenge in every domain of professionalism everywhere 		
Scholar – Direct Observe	• observing residents or figuring out			

	how to interact			
Scholar - teaching	•			• The seniors residents don't really get to take that chance to be mentors or to do teaching. So maybe integrating more of that
Main of Cert	• we were working on professional development too. So we have, you know, MAINPORT and everything like that. When you become attending, you just kind of have to muddle through and figure out what does it really mean. I mean they are taking steps to address that in CBD. But currently when you become attending, you just have to kind of jump in and try to figure out what all these categories and MAINPORT and CME and everything like that.			
Scholar – contract negotiati on & career planning	 how to negotiate a contract or a working contract 	• When you're a resident, especially like in the current environment in the last few years, if there is a job available, like everyone is just like, "Of course I'll take that job. Like there's	•I think during residency, we don't necessarily acquire the skills for finding a job and navigating through the systems and	 And even the negotiation aspects of getting a job Like some staff, like [staff] asked me to sit down and showed me how to the billing stuff. But not everyone.

		no jobs. Iike I'm going to take whatever job you offer me, and I'm not going to negotiate anything or ask any questions or do anything." • knowing what questions to ask • I think that residents are going to need to be guided a bit more in knowing kind of what type ofthinking about what kind of practice they want to have	kind of trying to kind of understand where is our goal given the job situation in radiation oncology •But now the competition is such that you really need to train yourself in terms of both your clinical and research acumen, and also to be able to understand which centre necessarily would be a good fit for your future career	
ntation & promotio n	your teaching activities and whatnot [with respect to academic promotion] • Academic promotion: There's a lot of documentation that's required. And unfortunately sometimes you don't learn that until you're trying to submit it. And then going back and			
	acquiring that documentation is really hard.			
Other - mentorsh ip		• But the thing that does not go very well is the lack of mentorship or coaching or even someone telling you what the expectations	•And I guess that's [mentorship] the part that might be missing from some of the residency	

	are	programs.	
Other	• I think that there is	•	
	an issue with sort of		
	rigidity and not		
	thinking through all		
	of the policies		
	because these		
	policies have already		
	been created		

Appendix G: Suggestions to fill gaps in TtP

	Program	New ROs	Fellows	PGY4/5
	directors			
Collab-	•	• I find I'm asking like as		
oration		many questions as possible And like often		
		not to physicians. Like		
		I'll run to like a therapist and be like "By the		
		way, how should I do		
		this?		
		would have come in		
		justand said a		
		beginning – I understand		
		that in the next few		
		for things that are not		
		going to be the way you		
		like to do it. You know,		
		about like the problem.		
		• Consulting an outside		
		within your institution		
Commun-	•			
ication				
Health	•			
advoc.				
Leader –	• It would be	• like a continuity or a		• I think that's
Longitudin	simulate this	 they will do the new 		longitudinal
al Clinia	part of	patients but I'm still		clinic] been a
ai Clinic	where this is	 responsible longitudinal clinic, Like 		exercise. It was a
	kind of like a	even just thinking about		lot of extra work
	longitudinal	it from a lot of		but it was also a
	orwhere	like rapid access clinics.		in learning how to
	residents can	And I find like in		manage.
	how they	palliative situations, it's been really easy to		 [Resident longitudinal
	want to	implement that		clinic] Like

	 manage a practice and how they want to do their follow- up, and have more kind of responsibility that's in a longer time period in a protected environment and not necessarily when they're an attending. That they'll have the safety net of the residency program with a mentor or a supervisor 	 transition to practice is not going to be ideal for every single tumour site. Like maybe pediatrics or head and neck are not going to be like the most optimal sites to implement, you know, a transition to practice clinic if I'm your supervisor, I will sign off when those things take place. So they won't happen within a week. They are longitudinal. So being responsible for the patient journey, I guess is the way I'm meaning it. 		you're ultimately responsible for the treatment for the patient during the entire course of treatment. And administrative responsibilities as well. • I mean I like that idea of that longitudinal clinic
Leader –	• There are a lot of educational	• You know, business 101	• [Having a chance to pick	• I was thinking of like Post
business	sources related to	• But just knowing some of the differences and	the brain of new staff]	Graduate Medical Education sent all
manage-	business. The CMA is one	some of the terms [with respect to RRSPs	Where's the billing sheets?	the senior residents to a like
ment /	of them that	pension, investment etc]	What code do I	career planning,
Billing &	document that	• But maybe that could be something that CARO	use that in this	workshop. And it
pay	does have a lot of	could take the lead on. [financial training]	case?I don't think	was somewhat helpful to go. And
	discussion about taxes	• We do the resident	you need to spend a top of	they talked a lot about just like
	related to	Maybe an hour, an hour	time on this but	planning your
	physician, not	and a half of the resident refresher every year can	actually how to physically bill	you don't get paid
	just as a resident and	be, "Hey, you're a	and how to use	for the first few months when
	incorporation.	some things that you	you're	you're like
	• And there are several	need to think about when you actually start	beingyou're not gaming the	transitioning into practice
	accountants	making some money."	system but	• Even some of this
	employed by		efficient?	a specialty issue.
	the CMA that		Because if you	Some of this stuff
	and give talks		you know,	a refresher or
	like to		extra time	some sort of
	about that.		and that is a	 education [mentors could
	• And so		legitimate code, like just to	discuss] Financial

	making use of those resources as an educational content, and provide exposure to our residents.		know sort of where to look, what's sort of commonplace stuff that you're going to need, and sort of, you know, how that process works.	 management, investment And just open and honest discussions about things like salaries, benefits, and modes of reimbursement. Things that don't always come up on a day to day basis and a lot of people aren't comfortable talking about
Leader –	 So I think it's good to teach 	• As a fellow, when I first came in my first month,	 Just having a little bit of 	• So they've [staff] been giving us
practice	them from day one	the staff had gone away. So I was responsible for	insight as to what to expect	different pointers. Like keeping
manage-	almost (WRT billing.	running their clinics. So certainly that helps with	or how things are going to get	track of the patients at various
ment	billing, administration , taking charge, est a practice	 certainly that helps with the transition to practice with time management, organization, etc this is what you have to do. Like run a clinic. Like I'm going to be in the building, I'm going to be in my office. Here's my pager. Take the staff pager. Here's my email. You know, my inbox is going to be open. Probably nothing personal coming. But like this is what a staff life is like. And okay. And not sink or swim but do it. And I'm around. Like you have the supervisor. The person supervising has to be there and ready to be available. It can't just be like okay, go. taking that same approach but maybe like shorter clinics or maybe longer appointments to see the patients. Things like that to kind of build in the redundancy and the inefficiencies that 	 are going to get structured [by having a chance to pick the brain of new staff]. Or what sort of standard operating procedure in the centre you're at. So this way you don't sort of get to your first day of practice and go, okay, now what? I think it's not about teaching, it's just about self-learning that comes with the volume I think that's something that helps – just learning time management on your own what are the important things to 	 patients at various stages of treatment or diagnosis, and really trying to learn to follow up on investigations that we order ourselves, and take ownership of the patient. I think we're also fortunate to have a few staff that will have us manage their practice a bit moreor they'll put the onus on themselves to make sure that you're managing their practice more than them like mandatory half-days on this topic [practice management, career planning] like for each school rather than like leaving it up to theit should

	you're inevitably going	actually ask	be built into the
	to have as a new staff	and what are	curriculum.
		those things	• Even some of this
		that are not too,	stuff could be like
		too important	a specialty issue.
		in order to keep	Some of this stuff
		the flow going	could become like
		on? And as you	a refresher or
		were saying,	some sort of
		not end up	education
		staving in the	• [mentors could
		clinic until 2	discuss] like time
		am just	management give
		working on	vou an idea how
		these things	they are
		and dictations	monoging all the
		and all that So	analiaging all the
		I think that's	exua siuii.
		another skill	• And just open and
		that helps with	nonest
		vour efficiency	discussions about
		in clinic And	things like
		therefore you	salaries, benefits,
		an work assign	and modes of
		call work easier	reimbursement.
		as you consult.	Things that don't
			<u>always come up</u>
			on a day to day
			basis and a lot of
			people aren't
			comfortable
			talking about
			 So maybe just
			clear objectives
			for the staff, what
			the residents want
			to know. And
			timing-wise,
			maybe this should
			be after the exam
			 Like based on
			CBME, if we
			could split the
			curriculum. Like
			in PGY3, learning
			to, you know,
			managelike
			learn to go into
			treatment
			machines, or
			follow up in
			terms of treatment
			planning. And
			then in PGY4,
			doing more of
			that. PGY5,

Leader – leadership roles	•	• Attending, you know, tumour boards and presenting		 people are usually trying to down scale the amount of clinical work because of the exams. But at that time, learning to bill and like administration and managing the time factors of practice. So splitting it up rather than doing it all in the end of the 5th year skills needed for tumour boards, I think that's also a skill. Like a lot of the residents, like we just sit there and listen. We don't really know when to say something sometimes. And I think it's actually a skill to learn to use that as a staff rather than as a resident It's like establishing your role in the tumour boards environment, and having other specialties listen to you, and actually you being an active contributor
Medical	• the residents	• I think it would have	• I think sitting	Or having some
Expert –	have said that they learn a	been beneficial to me if I had had some more	with the physicist and	kind of built-in standard for plan
XRT	lot about the process they	experience thinking through those steps	trying to understand	evaluation to ensure that it's
nlanning	don't know	[process of treatment	exactly what	done more
Prenning	pick up 24	pranning during training	and what are all	assessed would be
process	patients that		these dose	beneficial [so
	independently		And we are	participate]

, and they do		moving into an	 So I think being
all the patient		era that we are	more attentive,
review and		doing different	and some of that
follow-up,		things,	is self-directed, to
and they do		including	following through
all the		SBRTs with	on the plans that
planning, and		multiple doses	we do [to get
they can sign		and	experience with
the plan and		fractionations	being able to
send it for		that vary from	review onc
physics check		one institution	treatment images
It's just the		to the other I	or sign off on
first treatment		think grasning	nlans and
isn't delivered		that content and	prescription]
until the staff		grasning those	• I think it has to be
signs it)		concents is	• I think it has to be really intentional
Signs ity		something that	with things like
		I thought	with things like
		nrobably I	pian evaluation,
		would have	imaging and stuff
		wanted to learn	like that
		hetter during	The unat
		residency	• I think if it is $f(x) = 1$
	•	It's really	[technical aspects
	•	really,	of radiation
		really flice fi	oncology –
		you nave a	dosimetry, image
		damm with a	verification] more
		down with a	towards the senior
		physicist and	years, it would be
		soft of pick	more efficient so
		their brain of	people understand
		why this and	what they are
		not this, why	doing
		this and not	• I think we need a
		this. Especially	little bit of
		as we re getting	didactic teaching
		more	in that we can't
		complicated in	just rely on all
		our plans, you	residents to have
		know, we're	all the necessary
		doing a lot	experiences just
		more SABK,	by chance by the
		we're doing a	time they
		lot more re-	graduate.
		treatments	[discussion
	•	I think as	around technical
		residents, we	aspects of
		always want to	radiation
		be complete	oncology - image
		and thorough	verification, plan
		and ask about	evaluation etc].
		all the details of	And right now I
		social history	don't know about
		and, I don't	your programs
		know, family	but we don't have
		history. And to	any like lectures

	be honest, some of that as a staff would kind of lose its relevance, I would like to say. So I think it's a skill to learn – what are the important things to actually ask and what are those things that are not too, too important	that touch on that kind of thing • I think if it is [technical aspects of radiation oncology – dosimetry, image verification] more towards the senior years, it would be more efficient so people understand what they are doing XRT planning process block
		• We have a resident who came from Belgium. And we knew from her that part of their rotation is to do a rotation with the CT scan. Just the whole day is dedicated to the CT scan. And any issues with anyand the treatment units as well. And any issues with the CT scan or the treatment unit, anything, she's the one who's responsible to take with her. But it's in her schedule. It's part of her training program. So it is nice. Like just like we have rotation in the inpatient and the clinical thing, I think it's more important to have rotation.

			-		
					Otherwise you are
					faced with it
					when you are a
					staff, as a junior
					staff, and you
					start to have those
					holes and
					wondering what
					should I do, what
					should I do?
					 So my suggestion
					is back to the
					Belgium
					experience, so it's
					nice to have a
					dosimetry thing,
					but it's more nice
					to be more
					involved within
					the technical
					issue. And what
					questions the
					dosimetrists are
					asking the staff or
					the radiation
					therapists are
					asking, what kind
					of things that is
					Like are we
					expecting the
					SSDs not 100. it's
					105? What should
					I do? Like those.
					vou know.
					clinical real live
					things I need to
					learn how to
					answer their
					auestion if they
					have any issues.
					So maybe this is
					an extra rotation
					to be done.
Medical	•	• you ultimately deciding	•	So I think that	• I've had someone
		what fractionation		skill of	that I was
Expert –		you're going to use.		managing	working with on a
-		what are your volumes		everything	peripheral
ultimate		going to look like, or		about a patient,	rotation who said
		field borders. And then		and having	to the staff, it was
patient		having a staff feel more		kind of a share	a smaller centre
		comfortable signing off		to play in a	so there were
respons-		on that type of maybe		clinic rather	only 3 radiation
		less complex plan would		than spending	oncologists, and
ibility		be a great opportunity to		half an hour as	she kind of said
		start something like that.		a luxury while	that the
		To integrate all these		the staff is	asked, "You're

	issues that we're	going through	going to call
	thinking are quite crucial	other cases	Tricia first.
	• you're going to make		You're going
	this decision to treat this		And give me a
	patient. Do it top to		call afterwards
	bottom.		and I'll come. But
	• it's going to have to be		she's going to be
	know how to treat an		the person that
	emergent natient how		will make the
	would you do that Vou		decisions And if
	know responding to		I disagree with
	triages and outside calls		them I'll let her
	a going down to see		know " after
	• going down to see		Like as we're
	to see treatment		doing it as
	opproving plans		opposed to me
	approving plans		kind of just
	• The non-rad one start at		trailing along and
	lot of potiont access		finding out after
	they have to be willing		it's happened I
	to call the resident net		found that really
	coll the staff and say		helpful. But
	"Hey staff come do this		that's kind of a
	hecause I know exactly		situation that was
	what you're going to say		pretty unique
	so it's going to say		r and a
	so it's going to go		
	I think againg new		
	 I tillink seeing new patient alinies and there 		
	that's your patients that		
	that s your patients that		
	you see and follow up.		
	• I think there should be		
	more of a focus on		
	finish whether it's all		
	the patients that you see		
	or you pick like one		
	this continuity of core		
	• unis continuity of care		
	from start to finish, you		
	fielding calls		
	responsible for		
	simulation responsible		
	for treatment ato ato		
	oto		
	Thu,		
	• I don't know what the		
	best way to impart that		
	coing for transition to		
	going for transition to		
	a lot about like a cap		
	a lot about like a gap being like how does that		
	process work? And		
	process work? And maybe it is just kind of		
	atting more experience		
	gening more experience		

		and being put in that position.		
		 designated one or two 		
		people that are like your		
		back-ups that you can		
		like review challenging		
		cases with or whatnot.		
		Like my husband's a		
		family med resident, and		
		in his clinics, he s in his		
		full clinic kind of		
		narallel with his		
		preceptor. And at the		
		end of the day, they		
		review any questions he		
		had. But he basically		
		manages them, he		
		prescribes what he needs		
		to prescribe, whatever. I		
		guess if there was a		
		really emergent, he		
		preceptor from the other		
		room		
		• So maybe you have kind		
		of like your supervisor.		
		But they still run their		
		own clinic. They're still		
		doing their own thing.		
		They're not kind of just		
		sitting there waiting for		
		you to call them at the		
		end of each patient to		
		review. But you do have		
		go to		
Medical	•	go to	• my staff are	•
			quite good at	-
Expert –			if they think	
-			at all that I've	
Continuity			seen this	
			patient before	
of patient			then they'll	
care			sort of make	
cale			sure that I get	
			 I've also 	
			started	
			keeping tabs	
			on the	
			patients that	
			I've seen. So	
			just through	
			fellowship,	

			I've sort of	
			gotten into	
			the habit of	
			okay this	
			Okay, tills	
			person's got a	
			scan coming	
			up, or I've got	
			to check on	
			this, of I want	
			to check on	
			their blood	
			work And	
			then I'll look	
			up the results,	
			and then sort	
			of email the	
			staff – FYI	
			this is what	
			tills is what	
			we got on the	
			report, this is	
			what's	
			showing up	
			this is what I	
			think we	
			snould do	
			next. And	
			they'll either	
			say great, or	
			they'll say no	
			we want to do	
			this, or	
			whatever the	
			case.	
			• I think it's not	
			about	
			too ahing it's	
			teaching, it's	
			just about	
			self-learning	
			that comes	
			with the	
			volume So I	
			unink that	
			goes back to	
			my previous	
			comment	
			about	
			Iongitudinal	
			care and	
			being able to	
			actually take	
			responsibility	
			as the resident	
Medical		• And also I mean you're		
meanui	-	triaging I did the same	-	-
Export		thing 12 1 and the same		
Expert –		uning, 1 a get consults.		
		And at the first centre I		

triaging		went to, it would be like	
		I would do gynae triage	
cases		for the month And at	
		first I was like, oh, this	
		patient has cervix	
		cancer. She needs to be	
		seen like tomorrow	
		And then realizing that	
		what surgent and what s	
		not. And I think II I had	
		practiced that as a	
		would have prepared me	
		• You have the same	
		clinics. You have to do	
		all the triaging. You	
		have to answer all the	
		calls like as if you were	
		a locum	
		• You have to do all the	
		triaging	
		 the triage issue I think is 	
		absolutely something	
		that could be addressed	
		in this transition to	
D C :		practice	
Profession	•		•
al			
ai			
Scholar –	• We started to		
	ask residents		
Document	to do the		
ation Pr	university		
ation &	iormat		
promotion	vitae to		
promotion	prepare		
	themselves		
	and add what		
	they do in		
	residency to		
	that. So they		
	are already		
	building their		
	files for		
	promotion		
	later		
	• One way to		
	teach it		
	file for		
	nromotion??]		
	notentially		
	could be		

	simply to have a list of			
	what is it that			
	they will need			
	to do in their			
Scholar –	practice	knowing how to discuss	I think apart	• We had a really
Senota	•	with perspective	from just being	helpful session
contract		employers, you know,	able to manage	that was offered
<i>.</i> .		what your wants and	a practice,	by our Post
negotia-		needs are, and try to	being able to	Graduate Medical
tion &		needs as well	a practice and	But it was offered
		• That could be in the	to settle on one	after I had already
career		same course as like	that technically	signed the
nlanning		negotiating your contract	fits your flavour is	contract. And
praiming		• starting to tillik, you know maybe in your	something that	here's some
		PGY5 year about the	probably can be	things that you
		type of practice you	focused on	can look at. But I
		envision for yourself and	during the	think having
		achieving it and	 Or even in 	information early
		knowing how to	terms of just	on.
		organize your	understanding	• So almost taking
		fellowship, if you're	what questions	a look at what do
		to align with that goal	If you're in an	to get a job. to
		to ungh with that gour	interview	plan ahead for
			setting, and	fellowship, plan
			you're trying to	ahead for the job
			this going to be	• I was thinking of like Post
			a good fit for	Graduate Medical
			me or not, like	Education sent all
			just knowing	the senior
			sort of what	residents to a like
			and what you	financial planning
			need to know	workshop. And it
				was somewhat
				helpful to go.
				- fixe manuatory half-days on this
				topic [practice
				management,
				career planning]
				school rather than
				like leaving it up
				to theit should
				be built into the
				curriculum.
				• Even some of this stuff could be like

				a specialty issue. Some of this stuff could become like a refresher or some sort of education
Scholar – Research	• a lot of them appreciate having a bit of time to finish their research	 how to write a grant, how to write a manuscript, how to apply for ethics – all of that 		
Scholar – feedback	•		• also a little bit of feedback from the staff too	
Scholar - teaching		• Because it's give and take between a staff and a trainee, I think. Like if a trainee is going to do contours for me then it's my responsibility to teach them about the plan. And so I think it's And it puts more onus on the learner to come to us. But you know, I think even if you do work in an academic centre, that doesn't necessarily mean that every person there should be a teacher		 I wonder if teaching skills would be something to try to focus on. Like I know a lot of it just kind of comes naturally and just with experience. But I think to some degree, it would be nice to see some graduated teaching responsibility. But formal training [on teaching] would be great. And we don't have to all go and do a masters in education but So I mean we have something from the university called Residents as Teachers. Which is a very not spectacularly rad/one specific but we have an opportunity to teach other residents in life skills, for example

Other –	• Some	• we kind of looked and	 Our university has a mandatory Residents as Teachers component now. So you're required to complete that or prove that you've done something equivalent. So like a masters in education or like a dedicated rotation in education in order to like basically get into like your more senior training levels now. So that's something that kind of helps with that. But I think some of the skill is like actually teaching as opposed to just learning about it So like a masters in education or like a dedicated rotation in education But I think to some degree, it would be nice to see some graduated teaching responsibility
Other –	• Some programs and	• we kind of looked and made a point of saying,	responsionity
On-	departments might have	okay, this is like the orientation package, this	
boarding	good	is what's missing. So I	
	packages that	in place and then also	
	kind of cover a lot of that	having a champion who is willing to take it on	
	although I	and help make it better.	
	imagine a lot	But necessarily what is better and what should	
	specific to an	be there, I think can be	
	institution.	debated	

And the principles may be similar but the details will differ a lot from place to place• wherever you're doing thing that aren't directly related to patient care could be done together with a mentor mentor assigned to them for the transition to practice phase that is tasked to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to haves so wery informal mentor is suit my responsibility not so mentor for the may to teach you to fitte practice, having a part of the discussion to practice phase that is tasked to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to haves, to them so you go to transition to practice phase that is tasked to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to discuss, to haves, to there optace them of the gractice, phase that is tasked to discuss, the nervor assigned to them for the transition into practice, having a part of the discussion.• R3: I'm not sure the mentorship haves sene note in that. Everyone is or maybe they need to cacach you and give you freedback to hely you transition successfully• I would assume the new ho's going to doliver that dira's normal and required • That you have somebody you can go to and discuss with. So that's what your taskes going to about patient discuss with. So that's were helpful what would you do for this gratient • I would hike to the mentorship is a very the one who's so if la on't have server free and recognize to have somebody you somedoid know to have somebody you somedoid kow to have somebody you somedoid kow to have to have somebody you some dould know to do all <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>					
 ship related to reducedy related to ship ship related to reduced of practice, naming good ship related to controship is huge So very informal mentorship is huge So very informal mentor is a very ou So very informal mentor is a very sou can I get you toyou when they transition into practice that that's normal and required to identify a mentor for thers econtors by you, can I get you toyou know, what would you do for this patient I do have very good or sond discuss all that that's normal and required That you have to have somebody you can go to and discuss all these issues, whatever they are, and not feel like somehow you should know wo do all Now, how do you should know, how do you should know to do all Now, how do you should know, how do you should know to do all Somehow you should know, how do you should know, how do you Somehow you should know, how do you do that sport thay somehody you for the somehow you should know to do all Somehow you should know, how do you Somehow you should know, how do you Somehow you should know, how do you Somehow you should know to do all Somehow you shoud know wou shoud know to do all Somehow you shou know t	Other –	And the principles may be similar but the details will differ a lot from place to place • some of those things that aren't directly	• wherever you're doing this transition to practice having good	• I would assume that mentorship	• R3: I'm not sure the mentorship have some role in
shippatient care could be done together with a mentor• So very informal mentoring but always theeling safe to can I run these contours by you, can I get you toyou do for this patient mentor assigned to them for the transition to practice phase that is tasked to discuss, you know, a lot of these thing shout icc.• No very informal mentor assigned to then as you go to do for this patient then as you go to practice phase that is tasked to discuss, you know, a lot of these thing shout incorporation, etc.• No very informal mentor to gain the fact staked to discuss, you know, a lot of these thing shout incorporation, 	Mentor-	related to	mentorship is huge	important part	that. Everyone is
our mentors a lot	ship	 related to patient care could be done together with a mentor maybe they need a specific mentor assigned to them for the transition to practice phase that is tasked to discuss, you know, a lot of these things about incorporation, etc. when they transition into practice, they need to identify a mentor for themselves in their practice, and recognize that that's normal and required That you have to have somebody you can go to and discuss all these issues, whatever they are, and not feel like somehow you should know how to do all 	 So very informal mentoring but always feeling safe to can I run these contours by you, can I get you toyou know, what would you do for this patient then as you go to transition to practice then it is still my responsibility not so much to teach you because you know but it's my responsibility to coach you and give you feedback to help you transition successfully Culture to ask questions (as new staff) I do have very good oversight of the colleagues that I can discuss with. So that's very helpful but always feeling safe to can I run these contours by you, can I get you toyou know, what would you do for this patient So having people that you feel comfortable going to about patient care issues, I find I was more willing to do that I'm asking people who have more experience, you know, how do you do things here 	 Meaning that from PGY 2, PGY 3, you start to kind of move in that direction with the help of the mentor to gain that clinical confidence that okay, I'm the one who is going to make the decision for this client, I'm the one who's going to deliver that and take responsibility. And I think that for me it wouldn't happen in only one short rotation, regardless of when that's going to happen I would like to really underline the importance of this mentorship thing. That would be very helpful moving into that spot that you are confident in your abilities as an independent decision-maker 	 that. Everyone is having a mentor, right. So maybe the mentor, it's part of the discussion. Because usually the discussion is how are you doing, I'm doing fine. M1: Is everything okay? R3: Everything okay? R3: Everything's okay. Okay, good. R2: Good-bye. So maybe the mentor needs to talk about the fellowship, how to choose a fellowship, and how to, I don't know, probe the market, how to decide about your fellowship, and things like that. the mentor should know you better as an individual, what your tastes are, what your preferences are, what your restrictions are. So if I can't leave the province then maybe the mentor has suggestions of other people in the province who can network. I think we rely on our mentors a lot

	this and be			for networking
	able to figure			because they have
	it out yourself			known the
	That it's			sustom right
	• I hat it s			system, right.
	normal to			• like time
	need some			management, give
	coaching.			you an idea how
	• I've also			they are
	heard from			managing all the
	the new hires			extra stuff.
	that they			• R1: Financial
	would like to			management,
	have a mentor			investment
	in their first 6			• I don't know if
	months when			this is too much
	they have			on the mentor
	ioined			unless they are
	• it's easier to			going to have a
	do it because			training program
	the			or something
	denartment			right Because as
	head can have			a mentor you
	frequent			a mentor, you
	interactions			vourself upless
	and asl about			yourself unless
	h and ask about			you are really
	now the			talented
	practice is			
	going			
Other –	going •	• Even though I had really	•	•
Other –	going •	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship.	•	•
Other – Peer	e going	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that	•	•
Other – Peer	e going	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going	•	•
Other – Peer Support	e going	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same	•	•
Other – Peer Support	e going	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped	•	•
Other – Peer Support	•	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were	•	•
Other – Peer Support	•	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more	•	•
Other – Peer Support	•	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency	•	•
Other – Peer Support	•	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency lavel and were really	•	•
Other – Peer Support	e going	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding	•	•
Other – Peer Support	e going	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding hoards for each other	•	•
Other – Peer Support	e going	• Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other.	•	•
Other – Peer Support	e Fouri d	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps 	•	•
Other – Peer Support Other –	• Even just	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to any here it the same if the same if the same is the same if the same is a support helps 	• I would love to,	More to figure
Other – Peer Support Other –	• Even just having a kind	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient are solved. 	• I would love to, and I've been	More to figure out what we're
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful	• Even just having a kind of list of, you	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort	More to figure out what we're going to do in life
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful	• Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially,	More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful hints and	• Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these are the top 20	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you wash your hands, and do 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a	More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful hints and	• Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these are the top 20 things that	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's no one 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a chance to pick	More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in order to survive
Other – Peer Support Support Other – helpful hints and tricks	• • • Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these are the top 20 things that you will have	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you wash your hands, and do that. But there's no one that really meets with 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a chance to pick the brain of like	More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in order to survive practice
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful hints and tricks	• • • Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these are the top 20 things that you will have to do in the	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you wash your hands, and do that. But there's no one that really meets with you to give you I guess 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a chance to pick the brain of like some new staff	More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in order to survive practice • what do you need
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful hints and tricks	• • Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these are the top 20 things that you will have to do in the first year of	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you wash your hands, and do that. But there's no one that really meets of 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a chance to pick the brain of like some new staff and say, okay,	More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in order to survive practice • what do you need to know
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful hints and tricks	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you wash your hands, and do that. But there's no one that really meets with you to give you I guess the hidden aspects of transition to practice 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a chance to pick the brain of like some new staff and say, okay, you know, what	 More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in order to survive practice what do you need to know The med oncs
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful hints and tricks	• • • Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these are the top 20 things that you will have to do in the first year of practice that you haven't	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you wash your hands, and do that. But there's no one that really meets with you to give you I guess the hidden aspects of transition to practice And I think experience 	• I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a chance to pick the brain of like some new staff and say, okay, you know, what did you do,	 More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in order to survive practice what do you need to know The med oncs have business
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful hints and tricks	• • Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these are the top 20 things that you will have to do in the first year of practice that you haven't been doing so	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you wash your hands, and do that. But there's no one that really meets with you to give you I guess the hidden aspects of transition to practice And I think experience thinking about why 	• • I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a chance to pick the brain of like some new staff and say, okay, you know, what did you do, what did you	 More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in order to survive practice what do you need to know The med oncs have business cards which
Other – Peer Support Other – helpful hints and tricks	• Even just having a kind of list of, you know, these are the top 20 things that you will have to do in the first year of practice that you haven't been doing so far in	 Even though I had really supportive mentorship, having these people that were actually going through it at the same time as me really helped. We all kind of were working a little bit more at the same efficiency level and were really more sort of sounding boards for each other. peer support helps They meet with you to say here's the patient safety, here's radiation safety, here's how you wash your hands, and do that. But there's no one that really meets with you to give you I guess the hidden aspects of transition to practice And I think experience thinking about why practices are the way 	• • I would love to, and I've been doing this sort of unofficially, but have a chance to pick the brain of like some new staff and say, okay, you know, what did you do, what did you like, what did	 More to figure out what we're going to do in life and like what we need to know in order to survive practice what do you need to know The med oncs have business cards which facilitates them

			4 1 1	1
	then how do	simply saying these are	And just have	ownership. Like
	we familiarize	the practices, do them,	them say here s	they II give the
	you with	will provide a lot more	what works,	patient the card,
	some of those	training to trainees when	nere s what	and then they re
	things	they end up working in	doesn't work,	the point of
	• I would think	other centres, which the	here's what	contact when that
	that there	majority of trainees will	works for me.	patient has
	would be a list	end up working in	You know, in	questions or
	of not	centres different than	terms of how to	needs a form
	necessarily	where they trained.	structure	completed. Which
	skill sets but	 some kind of new 	practices, you	I know sometimes
	things that	designation or	know, how to	is a hassle but I
	would be	something to let	do billings,	think overall like
	considered the	everybody know that	how on earth	really teaches
	ideal practice.	you're in a new class and	that looks, and	them how to be
	And it's kind	you have a new role, and	how that sort of	independent and
	of like a	not just like a PGY5	impacts pay.	stuff
	checklist that	resident. Like there's a	Because it's	
	some trainee	designation that	going to be	
	or resident	everybody will be	different And	
	could take to	alerted that you have a	granted, it's	
	the new	new role in the cancer	different	
	centre. There	centre, and you should	depending on	
	might be	be taken more as a staff	what province	
	different	at that time	you're in. And	
	policies and		it's going to be	
	procedures of		different across	
	the way the		the board. But	
	workflow is		just having a	
	but there		little bit of	
	would be kind		insight as to	
	of a core		what to expect	
	element of		or how things	
	what is		are going to get	
	required, both		structured. Or	
	medical and		what sort of	
	legally. And		standard	
	then also to		operating	
	help with the		procedure in	
	transition to		the centre	
	their tenure		you're at. So	
	role		this way you	
			don't sort of get	
			to your first day	
			of practice and	
			go, okay, now	
			what? Where's	
			the billing	
			sheets? What	
			code do I put	
			in? Do I use	
			that in this	
			case?	
Other –	•	• it's going to have to be		Refresher course
		hands-on. Like real		
		workplace-based		

teaching		learning	• Even some of this
teaching		• I think it almost needs to	• Liven some of this
stratagias		• I think it almost needs to	
strategies		be like you re doing a	a specialty issue.
		locum	Some of this stuff
		•	could become like
			a refresher or
			some sort of
			education
			Simulation
			• That [simulation]
			would also be a
			good way to teach
			people to
			troubleshoot
			things like the
			COD and a
			SSD or the
			imaging not
			matching.
			• We have a
			multidisciplinary
			simulation. We
			just did it once.
			But it had the
			radiation therapy
			students and the
			medical physics
			ineuteal physics
			residents in it too.
			So that was also a
			way to foster
			collaboration.
			 sim lab for
			radiation
			oncology where
			emergent cases
			might be thrown
			at you and then
			you have to
			you have to
			it in a contain
			it in a certain
			way. If it was
			possible to make
			that a component
			of your education
			instead of just
			individual centres
			doing it, I think it
			would be really
			helpful.
Other –	•	• if you're more interested	• Tailoring some of
	-	in academia versus	the transition to
tailor to		macaucinia, versus	ne transition to what
		loodorship waraya hasi-	practice to what
ragidant		reauersmp, versus dasic	we might need if
resident		science, like in your	we re going on to
		TTP, that wouldyou	a fellowship in a

needs		 know, the needs and wants, your aspirations for your future, that should be stuff you're getting experience in maybe there could be some that are like pick one of three. So like you have to do either education or research or administration. You have to have some experience and some level of competency in one ofin at least one of those three. So you know, someone who's super not academic doesn't need to be writing a CIHR grant 	specific site. Perhaps it's spending time in that site. Perhaps it's spending time in another site that you know you have knowledge gaps in that you will end up needing to treat in the future. Or if you have a special interest in one aspect of administration or something like that, it's nice to have the option to pursue some of those things that kind of get clouded over in training when you're just bogged down with trying to survive and pass an exam
Other – Outside	•	• I also took 6 months of my residency and did radiation oncology	•
electives		overseas. And so I saw how a whole different healthcare system	
		worked. So that kind of helped I guess maybe just exposure earlier	
		• my centre where I came from is actually not so huge. But there is quite a	
		variety of practice. And I always thought that was	
		one of the strengths of our program, even	
		regarded as a strength in	
		people like homogeneity of practice But it was	
		always sold as one of the	
		proud features of our	
		attendings think very differently about	

different things. And I	
found that it really	
forced us to think	
through some of those	
questions that you're	
dealing with And it's	
iunt a different amalagia	
Just a uniterent emphasis.	
But I do think that it	
really is a very big part	
of this transition to	
practice, and a very	
important point to make	
• a good opportunity to	
send your very senior	
residents who are in this	
transition to those	
satellite centres. Because	
probably they're trained	
to get their core	
experiences in their first	
few years to prepare for	
their exam But then in	
the satellite centres it	
the statistic because of a	
central une relieve and	
general practice, and	
physicianslog tend to be	
much more independent	
than they are in large	
academic centres	
• a 2, 3 month block for	
them to really get that	
kind of as longitudinal	
as you can within that	
timeframe. To see what	
it's like to work in a	
different centre	
a lot of provinces are	
• a lot of provinces are becoming a hit more	
becoming a out more	
centralized in that way,	
and they do have more	
and more kind of	
satellite centres affiliated	
with the main training	
centres. And so that	
could be an opportunity	
to integrate them in that	
transition to practice	
year	

Appendix H: Emergent Data

	Program directors	New ROs	Fellows	PGY4/5
Road-	• And in terms of	• I guess the other level		• I think part of it
	carving out the	of potential challenge		is that some of
blocks for	clinic specifically	or things that maybe		the more
	for a senior	need to be thought of		technical
TtP –	resident, the	is like medical legally,		radiation things
logistical	challenges of	what that sort of year		like being able to
logistical	logistics – nursing	truly still a resident? In		treatment images
&	stuff like that _	which case it's going		or sign off on
a	has been a	to be hard to have buy-		plans and
software,	problem as well	in from your staff.		prescriptions, a
	• It's probably	• I can imagine if I had a		lot of those things
medico-	not long enough	resident underneath		we don't have the
	and not enough	who was in transition		privileges to do
legal	patients (24	to practice but I'm		on the software.
	patient clinic)	medically legally		So I think there's
	•	responsible, I'm going		a tendency for us
		to be much more		to just ignore that
		had something more		nutting the
		akin to if they truly		contours on And
		were a staff on their		sometimes the
		own. And so kind of		staff will go
		addressing what that		through and clear
		looks like is something		their list without
		on		us necessarily
		• So medical legally,		being involved in
		there will be a few less		that process
		issues because you		• I think part of
		will be certified		that is the system
		• I don't know because		and part of that
		as it was before, we		1S, you know, it's
		were only certified		but you have to
		the training program		have a system in
		even if you passed the		which it is set up
		exams So unless that		to support that.
		changes		• I think there's
				some challenges
				in terms of
				starting a clinic
				like that [resident
				longitudinal
				clinic] – time
				factors, staffing,
				statt support
				• They don't
				always want to

				check the schedule because it's an extra step for them. And then it's easier for
				them to just call the staff.
Road- blocks for TtP – Staff buy- in or knowledge	• although we think it is clear that there should be more graduated responsibility and looking after the practice in a more independent way, it's not entirely clear that all the faculty knows that as well. So it doesn't You know, sometimes it is very good and sometimes it's not.	 You need champions within your local centre. And there are champions within every local centre, and there's going to be champion therapists, championphysicists. But if you have someone who's not going to play then I would just say okay, you're not going to get senior The transition to practice And I think because it's going to have unique competencies and it's going to be a unique situation, especially for the first couple of years, it's going to be to certain people How are you going to get buy-in from the rad onc staff, and how are you going to get buy-in from the non-rad onc staff? It's one thing for the Royal College or for whoever it is that's designing this program to say this is a requirement of the program. But the people who are actually on the ground doing the training, the rad onc staff, have to be willing to, 	 I think the other part is this sort of assumption that residents are not supposed to transition into a practice right after residency in Canada. And most of the residents have to do some sort of fellowship anyhow. So I think the programs are kind of capitalizing on that. Saying that, well, as a fellow they would learn how to transition into practice. I think because there has been this new kind of tradition of people doing multiple fellowships So I think there is a lot of assumption that, oh, well, we'll figure this out later because you're going to do a fellowship and it's going to be somewhere 	 for them. And then it's easier for them to just call the staff. That's a really important, the time factor that's been raised. There are some staff who have said I don't want my list to go over 4 or 5. So you have your own educational responsibilities, academic half- day, for example. And if 2 or 3 cases come back- to-back, by the time you come back, those cases have already been triaged or set up. And the staff said, "I'm sorry, our responsibilities are to, you know, get the list clear as fast as possible." I find it interesting that so much of what they think that is important to us is learning how to take ownership of the patient and treatment planning, and assess, and evaluation, and look at off-line imaging. But the amount of time dedicated in terms of
		just as we discussed before, they have to be willing to let the	else. So you know, you'll figure it out as	residency to that is actually quite different from

trainees practice the	you go	what they would
way they want to		like us to do
practice, and they have		• So our program
to be willing to accept		director tells the
the differences, if it's		staff to then
different from the way		actually call us.
that they want to		But they don't
practice, within		sometimes know
guidelines of course		which rotation
• But they [attending		we're on. They
physicians] have to be		don't always
willing to accept		want to check the
differences		schedule because
• They [non-Radiation		it's an extra step
Oncologist health		for them. And
professionals] have to		then it's easier for
be willing to take a		them to just call
little bit of extra time		the staff. Because
and potentially listen		sometimes we'll
to a slightly divergent		have to call the
opinion from the		staff anyway. So
transition to practice		instead of calling
resident, if this is		junior residents,
something that we are		they know that
actually going to push		it's just easier to
to be a large part of the		bypass that step.
senior resident		• The resident
experience		has to be the one
• I'm not saving that it		to hunt down that
can't happen but I		plan, to really
think it's going to be		remember which
difficult.		process that the
• the question of how do		patient is in at
we get buy-in from		that step. And I
everybody who needs		think sometimes
go buy in, not just the		the staff really
rad one staff and not		expect us to do
just the Royal College		that while still
committee. I think that		recognizing that
needs to be a big focus		sometimes it's
of how to do that		hard
• the buy-in is super		 I just think the
huge		expectations will
• what are the carrots or		have to be very
the sticks that you use		clear in order for
if there is a program or		us to make best
some subset of a		use of this time.
program that's against		Like the staff will
that idea?		have to be very
• there are some rigid		clear on what is
radiation oncologists		expected of the
that want to do the		residents during
plan their way, are not		that time., and the
willing to accept other		residents as well,
perfectly acceptable		to make sure that
1		they're making

	way of doing things	the most of it.
	• I actually think that the	
	more of the pushback	
	may be from the non-	
	rad onc staff – from	
	therapy staff and sort	
	of the allied staff	
	And I think that there	
	needs to be a buy-in	
	from those who are	
	implementing the	
	program to sayto	
	prevent the, "Oh,	
	that's not how we do	
	it. I'm just going to	
	call the staff and go	
	over your head," type	
	of phenomenon.	
	That's more what I'm	
	imaging might happen.	
	• The non-rad one staff	
	at the centre who	
	control a lot of patient	
	access, they have to be	
	willing to call the	
	resident, not call the	
	staff and say, "Hey,	
	staff, come do this	
	because I know	
	exactly what you're	
	going to say so it's	
	going to go faster."	
	• faculty development is	
	going to be huge, and	
	continuing medical	
	education	
	Staff perceptions of	
	senior residents	
	• But will the main centre	
	be willing to part with	
	their senior residents	
	who are able to	
	docarry a higher	
	burden of the clinical	
	practice?	
	• I think that that attitude	
	exists. I don't know to	
	the degree that it exists	
	but I think that that	
	attitude probably exist	
	(using senior residents	
	to increase patient load)	
	• Yes it would require a	
	1 co, it it out a require a	

		culture change And as	
		I'm saving I don't think	
		these are issues that	
		can't be overcome Liust	
		think that they are issues	
		that need to be	
		addressed (using senior	
		regidents to increase	
		residents to increase	
		patient load)	
		• And I think though we	
		have to realize that like	
		the point of having a	
		training program is not	
		to have extra staff to do	
		your work	
		• So this whole concept of	
		I'm going to book in	
		extra new patients	
		because I have a trainee.	
		Like that's the culture	
		• Just because you're an	
		academic and you do a	
		lot of research doesn't	
		necessarily buy you the	
		right to have trainees to	
		do vour work	
Road-	• some bank their	<u>y</u>	• I think moving
	vacation and they		thelike the
blocks for	essentially take		exams moving to
	that whole last		the end of R4
TtP –	month off to go		that will help a
	move to wherever		lot with that
historical /	they're moving		Because that will
	for their		take that
exam	fellowshin		distraction away
caum	• historically what		and honefully
timing	• historically what		allow time for us
timig	some residents		to focus a little
	will take their		hit more
	will take theil		especially guided
	exam And so		by you know
	they're prostically		some kind of
	absent after the		very specific
	austill allel life		curriculum
	when they pass it		• I know right now
	A nother shellongs		- I KHOW HIght HOW,
	is the cost of		tondon ov at lagat
	IS the sort of		in my control to
	we ve gone fully		in my centre, to
	electronic in		check out a little
	terms of our		out after the $\mathbf{D}_{\text{result}} = \mathbf{C}_{\text{result}} \mathbf{U}_{\text{result}}$
	treatment		Koyal College.
	planning and		And the months
	approvals. And		preceding the
	it's been a		Koyal College
	challenge to get		are Like the

	our systems to			Royal College is
	accept senior			the big
	residents to have a			distraction
	signature.			because people
	Essentially it's all			are just focused
	or none. So if they			on that, and
	signed off, it's			they're tending to
	signed off. You			pick staff to work
	can't have an			with who may
	attending sign off			not have as
	again. So that			clinically a neavy
	concerns from			have more time
	staff			to study
	• I think moving the			to study
	exam earlier is			
	actually naturally			
	going to help			
	some of this.			
	Because a lot of			
	these content and			
	topics, if you try			
	to teach it, the			
	residents are very			
	fixated on just			
	learning the			
	the test And if			
	the test. And h			
	test out of the way			
	a bit earlier I			
	think we'll be			
	able to address			
	more of the things			
	you need to			
	practice.			
	• moving the exam			
	earlier so that they			
	can experience			
	that [longitudinal			
	• doing the even			
	• doing the exam			
	that 6 months			
	with a match			
	would be an			
	excellent idea.			
	And it would help			
	the centres when			
	you get new hires			
Roadblock	• My preference	• I did a fellowship. I	• I think the	•
h.*	would be to have	think that was part of	other part is	
nistoric	a lot of that	my transition to practice	this sort of	
view of	of the residency	• As a fellow, when I first	assumption that residents	
1010 01	of the residency	came in my mst month,		

fellows	program that has	the staff had gone away.	are not	
	been	So I was responsible for	supposed to	
	traditionally part	running their clinics. So	transition into	
	of the fellowship	certainly that helps with	a practice right	
	• I think the	the transition to practice	after residency	
	primary benefit	with time management,	in Canada.	
	of the transition	organization, etc	And most of	
	to practice is for	• in Canada, the majority	the residents	
	those that don't	of graduating residents	have to do	
	go on to	are now doing	some sort of	
	fellowship, that	fellowships. Not all of	fellowship	
	they can go	course but many. And	anyhow. So I	
	straight into	as a resident, I kind of	think the	
	practice and be	knew that going in. So I	programs are	
	effective	kind of relied on that	kind of	
	• I think there's	fellowship experience to	capitalizing on	
	some	help in the transition.	that. Saying	
	opportunity	• As a PGY5, you do get	that, well, as a	
	there that	greater responsibility	fellow they	
	someone before	but you are still very	would learn	
	they are in	much supervised. As a	how to	
	independent	fellow, you do get more	transition into	
	practice, and still	independence	practice.	
	in a supervised	• I guess as a locum,	• I think because	
	role as a fellow,	there's maybethere's	there has been	
	can gain some	not obviously sort of	this new kind	
	experience. And	supervision but I think	of tradition of	
	there certainly	there is somea little	people doing	
	will be	bit more understanding	multiple	
	fellowships in	of you kind of being	fellowships	
	radiation	thrown into this new	So I think	
	oncology in the	pool	there is a lot of	
	future.		assumption	
			that, oh, well,	
			we'll figure	
			this out later	
			because you're	
			going to do a	
			fellowship and	
			it's going to be	
			somewhere	
			else. So you	
			know, you'll	
			figure it out as	
Time	. 12.1	. т.:і., т.:і., 4. м.:и :	you go	Timin .
1 me	• 1 a say a	• Like I like that it's going	• II It's clinical	• 1 iming-wise,
allocated	minimum OI 0	to be after the exam in	transition to	maybe this
anocateu	inontins, I think	a salei Kinu ol	practice, that	should be alter
to T+P9	IS LIKE IOF	trainee is not feeling the	happen over	Ine exam
	some of them, 1	name is not leeling the	time Se I	billing]
	Even at the high	Where every time	don't thin 1- that	UIIIIIg] So olmoot to live
	Even at the high	they're answering a	uon t unink unat	So almost taking
	think 6 months	uney is answering a question they feel like	and DGV 5 is a	a look at what do
	Really it takes	they're answering it for	and time for	to get a job to
	you that long to	their exam They're	people to	io get a job, to
	you that long to	then exam. They le	people to	plan alleau lor

minimum. Even up to a year.If the exams	I remember the day after I wrote my exam, I felt like I could actually have an opinion. Whereas before that, I	consultant. And I think that's	you need to know to actually sink or
• If the exams	have an opinion. Whereas before that, I	that s	swim in your
 potentially were in the fall after, you know, core is really complete, then you have, you know, roughly 9 months that you could focus on transition to practice. I would say somewhere between 6 and 12 months. 6 would be the absolute minimum 6 months would be really good. I also feel that in a system where the resident is familiar, a minimum of 6 months is reasonable, and certainly more should it be a minimum of 6 months ,and what about if somebody is doing very well, can they leave earlier? I suppose we would have 	felt like I was structuring everything according to this template. I mean because these people are in their senior years. They will have written their exams. So there's already this like bar of competency set I think the earlier, the better, as long as it makes sense. So if you can get a Royal College pass early, like in 4 th year and that kind of thing, and give all the 5 th year to have some component of transition to practice, instead of just the last 3 months or something like that. I think the longer time, the more you can develop yourself as a resident to actually gain skills that you're looking to get Maybe to start, like as a PGY2 or 3, you pick one patient per clinicper new patient clinic that you see, and that's your patient forever. And then	 something that needs to happen over time. And moving the transition to practice right at the end of residency after you've passed the Royal College, I think is going to be a great move in general. Then you can sort of focus on practical – okay, this is how I'm going to structure my practice. Instead of oh my gosh, I have to memorize every single detail of Emami 	swim in your career practice, and some of the billing stuff might be But after the exam. So stuff like that that [career planning, financial planning workshop], you know, people don't really talk about. And so some of that I found really helpful [Post Graduate Medical Education seminar]. We went at the beginning of PGY5. And I was kind of like some of this would have been useful last year. But some of it would be more useful later on in training.
can they leave earlier? I suppose we would have certain amount of	clinic that you see, and that's your patient forever. And then maybe as a senior		
funding, right. So the expectation would be let's say if the exams are in the fall, that we	more and more		
funding until end of June, right. So it would be whatever – 6, 7, 8 months. But			

	And that would be the funding and the kind of expectation. But if somebody is meeting all EPAs and doing well, and wishes to leave sooner because they've accomplished it all, then they could, right? So if they find a job then obviously the university saves money, or whoever is paying. So from that perspective, that person could transition, and somebody else could finish it and then go into a fellowship because of whatever they want to achieve. So it probably would work out			
Comments on CBD / TtP	 I certainly think with CBD, it's brought this out to discussion, having its own stage. And to have the weight of the Royal College supporting that as part of the residency program in all, not just radiation oncology but all specialties, I think it was identified as an issue. And so I think that that is being addressed as we move forward I'd say the opportunity came about 2 years ago with the Royal 	 I'm wondering if maybe for transition to practice, it would not be here's my assessment for x competency but like here's mylike looking at like integrating them all, like your knowledge, skills, and integrating them as the various competencies into a patient, and making it like an integrated whole task. Like okay, this is Mr. Smith. And you know, from the time he gets referred to the institution, to the time I see him in follow-up, I'm responsible for all of those steps It's so true that a residency program, part of their responsibilitya large 	• one thing that I think that may help the whole transition to practice is that the Royal College exam moving earlier. And I find that you get a lot of confidence when people pass it, and staff have a lot more faith in you.	• I know some schools have like this transition to practice block or like two blocks dedicated to that. Which seems interesting. And somehow maybe that should be worked into the curriculum

	College exam	part of their		
	heing sooner	responsibility is to		
	within the	prepare us for		
	calendar year x3	independent practice		
	euronaur yeur As	right That is like the		
		entire purpose of a		
		residency training		
		program And so I do		
		think that that is		
		essential		
		• For Competency of		
		Design to work it kind		
		of has to right? I mean		
		because we have this		
		terrible awful growing		
		period where the culture		
		hasn't changed vet And		
		vet Competency by		
		Design is here, and		
		we're like this is going		
		to be terrible. [check		
		50:22] But eventually		
		it has to change,		
		otherwise this		
		Competency by Design		
		is going to fail		
TtP and	•	• They meet with you to	•	•
		say here's the patient		
the hidden		safety, here's radiation		
		safety, here's how you		
curric		wash your hands, and do		
		that. But there's no one		
		that really meets with		
		you to give you I guess		
		the hidden aspects of		
		transition to practice		
		• Some of the logistic		
		stuff, not so much		
		because you didn't want		
		to waste people's time.		
		Like you could always		
		feel comfortable raising		
		a patient issue or a		
		contour		
		• I don't really know how		
		to address that culture		
		issue because that seems		
		over domain of		
		professionalism		
		averywhere		
		• Labyona found that it		
		• I always lound that it		
		thing where I trained		
		uning where I trained.		
		digniggion around the		

		 financial aspects of practice management at a center that was fee- for-service] then like you're almost afraid to ask anybody because like money is like really bad to talk about supposedly. I think also like the financial aspect. No one teaches us and then we're supposed to all of a sudden be business savvy. And like the first year you have to do your 		
		taxes as a staff, like that		
		is very overwhelming.		
		You have no idea. And I always found that it was		
		a very hush-hush thing		
		where I trained. I		
		trained at a centre that		
NT (* 1		was fee-for-service.		
National	•	• So if we all have	•	•
collabor-		I think working at the		
		national So whether		
ation		it's within the Royal		
		College subcommittee		
		on rad one but also		
		CARO is a great avenue		
		this kind of stuff		
		ASTRO, and I know		
		ASTRO is much bigger,		
		but if you look up their		
		agenda or itinerary		
		every year, they have		
		Like a lot of other stuff		
		Like how to write a		
		grant		
		• I think leveraging		
		CARO nationally		
		because I think going		
		CBD CARO their		
		education committee		
		within CARO will have		
		a bigger role. Because if		
		we are now having		
		standardized EPA		
